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Chairman’s Statement

IEHES

CHINA’S WIND AND SOLAR INDUSTRY CONTINUES
TO GROW RAPIDLY

China’s electricity demand continues to rise. According to the
China Electricity Council, in 2023, electricity consumption in China
increased 6.7% as the lifting of the country’s zero-Covid policy
resulted in a resumption of economic activity and increased demand.
The economy is expected to continue strengthening in 2024, with
demand for electricity expected to rise an additional 6.0%.

China’s wind and solar industry continues to grow rapidly —even faster
than the government’s original plans. China’s goal was to have 1,200
GW of combined wind and solar capacity by 2030. According to the
China Electricity Council, China’s capacity may reach 1,300 GW by
the end of this year—six years early. Of the 1,300 GW, 530GW will
be from wind and 780 GW will be from solar. If this is realized, the
total capacity for wind and solar will be higher than that for coal and
could account for 40% of the country’s total installed capacity, higher
than the 37% estimated for coal fired-power.

WIND CONDITIONS IMPROVED IN 2023

For 2023, wind resources improved significantly compared to 2022.
Wind resources improved at all windfarms except for Mudanjiang.
Wind speeds on average reached 5.92 m/s, a 3.1% increase
compared to 2022. As reflected in the graph, the wind conditions
were excellent in January, April, November and December. The
electricity dispatched in January was more than double the previous
year’s dispatch.
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Chairman’s Statement

FTERES
CRE's Electricity Dispatched (GWH) by Year
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for some of its wind farms. In 2023, curtailment increased to 9%
compared to 6% in 2022. Curtailment at Lunaobao was particularly
high as a number of new windfarms were completed in the area,
with the curtailment rate increasing to 38.8%. But still, despite the
curtailment, total power dispatch for 2023 increased 5% to 1,423.8
GWH. For 2024, it is expected that the government will continue to
expand its high-speed transmission lines, resulting in a reduction in
curtailment. Also, the government is looking to use energy storage
technologies to reduce curtailment.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERESE

CRE WINDFARMS ARE GENERATING STRONG
CASHFLOW

Because of the increase in curtailment, turnover for its majority
controlled/owned windfarms declined 8% to HK$181.3 million from
the previous year's HK$197.2 million. As a result, gross profit for the
period decreased 19% to HK$52.1 million (2022: HK$64.7 million).

This decline in profit from the Group’s majority owned wind farms was
more than offset by improved wind resources and earnings for the
Group’s associate company wind farms. Net profit from the associates
increased 5% to HK$57.1 million as compared to last year's HK$54.5
million. The Group also benefited from a reduction in the Group’s
loss from the depreciation of Renminbi. For 2023, the more moderate
depreciation in the RMB resulted in a much lower net exchange loss
of HK$5.0 million compared to HK$24.8 million in 2022.

Overall, CRE recorded an increase in net profit before impairment
of 93% to HK$57.4 million compared to HK$31.1 million in 2022.
Cashflow was particularly strong. Cashflow from operating and
investing activities, which includes the dividends from the Group’s
associate windfarms, increased by HK$79.9 milion to HK$289.5
million.

However, the Group recorded a non-cash impairment of HK$30.6
million for its Mudanjiang Windfarms and the Lunaobao wind farm.
With that impairment, earnings decreased 25% to HK$23.3 million or
earnings per share of HK0.93 cents. For the same period in 2022,
net profit after tax attributable to the equity holders of the Group was
HK$31.1 million or earnings per share of HK1.24 cents.

CRE BALANCE SHEET IS STRONG

CRE has been cautious on expansion. Adding to our caution is
that in recent years, the government has adopted the trial market
trading scheme in which tariffs under this scheme are lower than
the official tariffs. Given our caution on expansion, the Group’s
capital expenditures have dropped. Accounts receivables have also
declined 3.7% to HK$289.6 million. Therefore, unlike other SOE power
companies, CRE’s cash flow and balance sheet have strengthened.
The Group’s net debt equity ratio declined to 7% compared to 20%
in 2022. The Group is therefore well positioned to take advantage of
any opportunities that may arise.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERESE
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2023, China Renewable Energy
Investment Limited (“CRE” or the “Company”, and with its subsidiaries,
collectively, the “Group”) recorded HK$181.3 million in turnover. Wind
conditions returned to normal but an increase in curtailment in 2023
led to a 8% decrease in revenue as compared to last year's HK$197.2
million. Gross profit for the period also decreased 19% to HK$52.1
million (2022: HK$64.7 million).

For the Group’s associate company wind farms, wind resources
were better during 2023. As a result, net profit from the associates
increased 5% to HK$57.1 million as compared to last year's HK$54.5
million.

The Group was impacted by the depreciation of Renminbi during
2023, resulting in a net exchange loss of HK$5.0 million. However,
the net exchange loss was much lower than the HK$24.8 million loss
in 2022. With the improved profit contribution from the associates
combined with the lower net exchange loss, the net profit after tax
before impairment increased 93% to HK$57.4 million. Cashflow was
particularly strong. Cashflow from operating and investing activities,
which includes the dividends from the Group’s associate windfarms,
increased by HK$79.9 million to HK$289.5 million.

However, including the impairment of HK$30.6 million for the
Mudanjiang and Muling wind farm and the Lunaobao wind farm, the
net profit after tax attributable to the equity holders of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023 decreased 25% to HK$23.3
million or earnings per share of HK0.93 cents. For the same period
in 2022, net profit after tax attributable to the equity holders of the
Group was HK$31.1 million or earnings per share of HK1.24 cents.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total bank borrowings was
HK$287.8 million as compared to HK$440.9 million in 2022. The
difference was mainly due to the repayment of principal for existing
project loans and corporate bank loan facilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEBENWRRDN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources (continued)

The bank borrowings include project loans and corporate bank loan
facilities. Project loans were interest-bearing RMB bank loans used
to finance the Group’s wind farm projects in the People’s Republic
of China (“China”), with interest rates based on the People’s Bank of
China rates or Loan Prime Rate. The corporate bank loan facilities
were interest-bearing HKD bank loans, with interest rates based on
the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate. The maturity dates for the
Group’s outstanding bank borrowings were as follows: HK$43.3
million is repayable within one year, HK$143.5 million repayable within
two to five years and HK$101.0 million repayable after five years.

As at 31 December 2023, bank deposits and cash of the Group
was HK$164.3 million as compared to HK$232.4 million in 2022,
The difference was mainly related to the combined effect of dividend
received from associates, repayment of principal for existing project
loans and corporate bank loan facilities, and payment of 2022 final
dividend.

The Group did not use any financial instruments for financial hedging
purposes during the period under review.

Details of Charges in Group Assets

The Group’s subsidiaries have charged their assets including wind
power equipment, related right-of-use assets and trade receivables,
with a carrying value of approximately RMB720.4 million (equivalent
to HK$789.4 million) as security for the bank borrowings as at 31
December 2023. Such assets, with a carrying value of approximately
RMB749.2 million (equivalent to HK$845.1 million), were charged as
at 31 December 2022.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s net gearing ratio, defined as
the total borrowings plus the amount due to a shareholder, less bank
deposits and cash, divided by total equity, was 7% as compared to
20% as at 31 December 2022.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group did not have any contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2023 (2022: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEBENWRRDN

BUSINESS REVIEW

China’s economy improved as it rebounded from nearly three years
of stringent “zero Covid” pandemic control measures. GDP rose
5.2%. With an improved economy, total power consumption in China
increased 6.7% as compared to 2022, reaching 9,224,000 Giga-
Watt-hours (“GWh”) in 2023. Reflecting the government’s goal to
increase renewable energy, China’s wind and solar power generation
capacity increased even more strongly, rising 27.5% and 38.7%
respectively to an aggregate total of 464 Giga-Watt (“GW”) and 589
GW respectively. Total wind power output was 1,050,000 GWh, an
increase of around 38.5% compared to 2022, accounting for 9% of
total power generation across the country. Total solar power output
was 610,000 GWh, an increase of around 41.2% compared to 2022,
accounting for 3% of total power generation across the country.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group now has eight wind farms and
one distributed solar project under operation. Total gross power
generating capacity is 738 MW and net power generating capacity
is 427MW.

The wind conditions in the areas that the company operates in
Gansu, Hebei, Henan and Inner Mongolia provinces improved in
2023. However, curtailment increased as high-speed transmission
lines were not able to accommodate the increase in the number of
newly built windfarms. Curtailment was particularly large at Lunaobao.
Total power dispatch of the company’s wind farms in 2023 reached
1,423.8 GWh or 1,940 utilization hours, an increase of 5% compared
to 1,360.9 GWh or 1,854 utilization hours in 2022.

Mudanjiang and Muling Wind Farms

Mudanjiang and Muling wind farms, located in Heilongjiang province,
have a total of 59.5 MW of wind power capacity. The wind farms
started commercial operation in the fourth quarter of 2007. The Group
holds majority stakes of 86% and 86.7% respectively. During 2023,
wind resources were slightly lower than last year and curtailment
was higher. Mudanjiang and Muling wind farms dispatched power
of approximately 53.4 GWh, which was equivalent to 897 utilization
hours, lower than last year’'s power dispatch of 67.5 GWh (equivalent
to 1,134 utilization hours).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEBENWRRDN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Siziwang Qi Phase | & Il Wind Farms

Siziwang Qi Phase | & Il wind farms have a total of 99 MW of wind
power capacity and are wholly-owned by the Group. They are located
16 kilometres north of Wulanhua under Siziwang Qi of Western Inner
Mongolia. Commercial operation of Phase | and Il started in January
2011 and January 2015 respectively. The wind farms are the first two
phases of a strategic 1,000 MW wind farm base for the Group. During
2023, wind resources were better than last year, but the curtailment
also increased. Siziwang Qi Phase | and Il wind farms dispatched
power of approximately 210.3 GWh, which was equivalent to 2,124
utilization hours, higher than last year’s power dispatch of 188.7 GWh
(equivalent to 1,906 utilization hours).

Danjinghe Wind Farm

The Group has a 40% effective equity interest in the 200 MW
Danjinghe wind farm located in Hebei. The majority and controlling
shareholder is the wind power division of China Energy Conservation
and Environmental Protection Group (“CECEP”), which holds 60%.
The entire wind farm commenced commercial operation in September
2010. As this project was obtained through the national tendering
process, the wind farm enjoyed minimal curtailment. During 2023,
wind resources were better than last year. Danjinghe project
dispatched power of approximately 403.7 GWh, which was equivalent
to 2,018 utilization hours, higher than last year’s power dispatch of
371.3 GWh (equivalent to 1,856 utilization hours).

Changma Wind Farm

Changma wind farm, located in Gansu province, is a joint venture
with CECEP. The Group has a 40% effective interest in the project
company. The 201 MW wind farm started commercial operation
in November 2010. As this project was also obtained through
the national tendering process, the wind farm enjoyed minimal
curtailment. During 2023, wind resources were better than last year.
Changma project dispatched power of approximately 466.7 GWh,
which was equivalent to 2,322 utilization hours, higher than last year’s
power dispatch of 412.3 GWh (equivalent to 2,051 utilization hours).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEBENWRRDN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Lunaobao Wind Farm

Lunaobao wind farm is a joint venture with CECEP and is adjacent
to the Danjinghe wind farm. The Group has a 30% effective equity
interest. The wind farm capacity is 100.5 MW and started commercial
operation in February 2011. Unlike Danjinghe, Lunaobao was not
obtained through the national tendering process, hence it does not
enjoy low curtailment. During 2023, wind resources were stable,
but curtailment was worse than last year. As a result, Lunaobao
dispatched power of approximately 154.0 GWh, which was equivalent
to 1,532 utilization hours, lower than last year's power dispatch of
183.5 GWh (equivalent to 1,826 utilization hours).

Songxian Wind Farm

Songxian wind farm, located in Songxian of Luoyang city in Henan
province, has a total of 74 MW wind power capacity and is wholly-
owned by the Group. The first 36 MW wind power capacity
commenced commercial operation in February 2019, and the entire
74 MW started full operation from May 2020. During 2023, wind
resources were slightly better than last year, but the curtailment
substantially increased. Songxian dispatched power of approximately
135.8 GWh, which was equivalent to 1,836 utilization hours, slightly
lower than last year's power dispatch of 137.6 GWh (equivalent to
1,860 utilization hours).

Nanxun Distributed Solar Project

Nanxun distributed solar project is located in Nanxun district of
Huzhou city in Zhejiang province, and is the Group’s first wholly-
owned distributed rooftop solar project. The 4 Mega-Watt-peak
(“MWp”) distributed solar project was installed over 60,000 square
meters of rooftops on Nanxun International Building Materials City,
a commercial complex owned by CRE’s parent company, HKC
(Holdings) Limited. Power generated is sold to Nanxun International
Building Materials City and any excess power is sold to the local grid
company. The project commenced commercial operation in March
2018. The power dispatched in 2023 was approximately 4.6 GWh,
which was equivalent to 1,154 utilization hours. The performance was
slightly lower than last year’s power dispatch of 4.7 GWh (equivalent
to 1,167 utilization hours).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEBENWRRDN

BUSINESS MODEL & RISK MANAGEMENT

CRE’s main business is acting as an investor-operator in China’s
renewable energy sector, in which we secure, develop, construct
and operate power stations in order to provide reliable electricity to
customers. As one of the main external investors in China’s renewable
energy sector, the Group is well positioned to contribute to the
government’s plan for a low-carbon economy.

Our Group strategy “Grow ® Advance ® Sustain” guides our operations
and development going forward. All investment opportunities are
thoroughly evaluated by the Executive Committee and the Board
based on a combination of project economic, environmental and
social benefits. We plan to continue to develop renewable energy
projects and look for growth investment opportunities. In CRE, every
kilo-Watt-hour (“kWh”) energy output counts. We therefore strive to
innovate and advance in all aspects of our business and operations to
continuously enhance our profitability with an ultimate goal to create
sustainable value and to increase return for shareholders.

Risk management is the responsibility of everyone within the Group;
risk is inherent in our business and the market in which it operates.
Rather than being a standalone process, risk management is
integrated into our daily business process, from project level day-to-
day operation to corporate level strategy development and investment
decisions.

Through a bottom-up approach, we identify and review existing and
emerging risks semi-annually. Identified risks are then monitored
and discussed at the Group level. The risk management process is
overseen by the Executive Committee and the Board as an element
of our strong corporate governance. Within CRE, all risks factors
are classified under 6 different categories, (i) Policy and Regulations,
(i) Legal and Compliance, (iiij Safety, Health and Environmental, (iv)
Financial, (v) Operational and (vi) Reputational; and are evaluated
through assessing their consequences and likelihood. With a
continuous and proactive approach to risk management, the Group
is committed to identifying material risks and then to managing these
so that they can be understood, minimised, mitigated or avoided.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEBENWRRDN

OUTLOOK

With the lifting of China’s zero-Covid policy, the economy has begun
to recover, with GDP rising 5.2%. With the resumption of economic
activity, electricity demand rose even more, rising 6.7%. However, at
the end of last year, the government became increasingly worried as a
number of problems appeared: a property crisis; lower exports given
some companies were moving their operations outside of China in
response to geopolitical concerns; high local government debt; and
a depressed stock market which dampened consumer sentiment.

Because of the slowdown, the government has responded by
encouraging banks to lend to property developers to assist them in
completing the construction of presold properties; loosening home
buying curbs; cutting the five-year loan prime rate, a key rate for
mortgages; promoting various measures to support the stock market
such as creating a national team to purchase securities; providing
monetary stimulus; cutting bank reserve requirements; and targeting
more resources towards high growth, “high quality” industries,
such as clean energy, electric vehicles, artificial intelligence,
semiconductors, advanced manufacturing, etc..

Given these new policies, the government is expecting GDP to grow at
least 5% in 2024. According to the China Electricity Council, demand
for electricity is expected to rise an additional 6.0%. Wind and solar
are one the high growth industries that the government is promoting.
Originally, China’s goal was to have 1,200 GW of combined wind
and solar capacity by 2030. That target will be easily met. Capacity
may reach 1,300 GW by the end of this year—six years early. Of the
1,300 GW, 530GW will be from wind and 780 GW will be from solar.
By the end of 2024, the expected total capacity for wind and solar
higher than that for coal and could account for 40% of the country
total installed capacity, higher than the 37% estimated for coal fired-
power.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEBENWRRDN

OUTLOOK (continued)

However, with the increase in the number of wind farms, and the
fact that there is still a reliance by the grid on coal fired plants
given renewable power is more unstable, there was an increase
in curtailment in 2023. We have also been cautious because the
government has adopted the trial trading scheme, which effectively
results in lower tariffs for the electricity sold under this arrangement.
Therefore, although the cost of turbines has dropped substantially,
the lower tariffs from the trading scheme and higher curtailment rates
have reduced overall returns. As a result, the Group has been more
cautious on expanding than SOE’s that are less focused on returns.
The Group will continue to monitor the market and the curtailment
situation. We do anticipate that over the next several years, the
curtailment rate will be reduced as new high speed transmission lines
are built.

We are actively looking at upgrading our older wind farms. The
National Energy Agency is encouraging upgrades and issued a
policy in June 2023 called the Administrative Measures for Wind
Farm Upgrade and Retirement. This policy encourages wind farms
older than 15 years with a capacity of less than 1.5MW/unit to be
upgraded. The on-grid tariff for upgraded wind farms will be the same
as before the upgrading for a certain amount of designated hours as
stated in the current trial trading scheme. Moreover, given the unit
construction cost for wind farms has declined about 29% from 2017
to 2023, upgrading old windfarms becomes attractive.

With a net gearing ratio of only 7%, the Group has one of the
strongest balance sheets in the industry. Whereas other SOE
developers have weaker balance sheets and face the stress of
weaker cash flows given curtailment, lower tariffs, and high accounts
receivables, CRE’s cash flow is strong and the Group is well
positioned to take advantage of opportunities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEBENWRRDN

OUTLOOK (continued)

Employees

As at the end of December 20283, the Group’s operations in Hong
Kong and Mainland China employed a total of 94 employees. Our
core requirement is to ensure that we attract, retain and deploy
employees with the capabilities needed to secure, develop, construct
and operate our assets. In 2023, we have strengthened our resources
and capabilities through a combination of external recruitment
and internal transfers of staff. These have enabled us to enhance
performance through common standards and processes in safety,
project management and asset management. The Group has also
appointed technical consultants on contract terms when deemed
necessary for the development of new projects and for operation of
existing projects. All employees are remunerated according to the
nature of their jobs, their individual performances, the Group’s overall
performance, and the prevailing marketing conditions.

Environmental, Social and Governance Issues

As one of the earliest investors in China’s renewable energy sector
since 2006, the Group has been heavily involved in environmental
protection and support for the low carbon development of China. CRE
strives to continuously improve and evolve in the renewable energy
sector to adapt to the changing expectations of our stakeholders
while balancing the needs of our shareholders, environment and the
communities we operate in.

The Group has 738 MW of operating wind farms and a distributed
solar project in Gansu, Hebei, Heilongjiang, Henan, Inner Mongolia
and Zhejiang provinces. Most of our projects are located in remote
northern regions. They greatly benefit the economic development of
the local areas through investment, by reducing local pollution and
carbon emissions, and by contributing to the local community through
the hiring of local staff who are given fair market-based remuneration
packages. In 2023, CRE’s operating assets complied with all local
environmental related regulatory requirements. With a total electricity
generation of 1,428.4 GWh, we have reduced approximately 463,000
tons of coal consumption and 1,106,000 tons of carbon emission.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEBENWRRDN

OUTLOOK (continued)

Environmental, Social and Governance Issues (continued)
We place importance on creating positive relationships with
stakeholders through understanding and addressing their
expectations. As one of the main foreign investors in China’s
renewable energy industry, we continue to maintain close contacts
with our stakeholders, including but not limited to the Government
(e.g. the NDRC and NEA at both national and provincial level), local
authorities (e.g. environmental and land bureau) and State Grid
Corporation through various meetings to facilitate their understanding
of our business, operations and development direction.

The Group will continue to support the goal to decrease carbon
emissions by investing in various renewable energy projects. At the
same time, we will explore other means to further contribute to the
communities we operate in as the Group grows larger and more
profitable.
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Directors and Senior Management
EEREREERE

MR. OElI KANG, ERIC

(Executive Director, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, aged 53, has been appointed as Executive
Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since
10 April 2008. He also holds several directorships in other members
of the Group and the chairman of the Executive Committee of the
Company. Mr. OEl was appointed as a member of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company on 20
March 2019. He was educated in the USA and obtained a Bachelor’s
Degree in Economics (with a minor in Electrical Engineering), and a
Master’s Degree in Business Administration. Earlier in his career, he
worked with Peregrine Securities Ltd. and PCCW Limited in Hong
Kong, the LG Group in Seoul and McKinsey & Co. in Los Angeles,
USA. Mr. OEl re-designated as a director of HKC (Holdings) Limited
(*HKC”), the controlling shareholder of the Company, in June 2021
upon the privatization of HKC. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of HKC. Mr. OEl is also the director and the shareholder
of Claudio Holdings Limited, the controlling shareholder of HKC.

MR. WONG JAKE LEONG, SAMMY

(Executive Director)

Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy, aged 63, has been appointed as
Executive Director of the Company since 1 January 2014. He has
been instrumental in raising funds for the Group. Mr. WONG is the
Investor Relations Director of the Group, and is currently serving as
a member of the Executive Committee of the Company. He is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Since 2007, Mr. WONG
has joined HKC, and re-designated as a director of HKC in June 2021
upon the privatization of HKC. He also serves as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the HKC Group.

Mr. WONG received a Bachelor’'s degree in the geophysical sciences
from the University of Chicago and an MBA from the Yale School
of Management. Before Yale, he worked as a petroleum geologist
at Sohio Petroleum. After Yale, Mr. WONG became an investment
banker at Kidder, Peabody in New York, where he was involved in
project finance. He moved to Hong Kong with Bear Stearns, and was
involved in a variety of corporate finance activities, including some
of the first H share IPOs out of China. Mr. WONG then worked in
equity research at Societe Generale where he was in charge of the
research efforts in Shanghai; and later as vice President and head of
China Research at Credit Suisse in Hong Kong. Before joining HKC,
Mr. WONG served as a Chief Financial Officer for DVN (Holdings)
Limited (now known as “Frontier Services Group Limited”), where he
was involved in fund raising and introducing strategic investors to the
company.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERGREEE

MR. LEE SHIU YEE, DANIEL

(Executive Director)

Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel, aged 58, has been appointed as Executive
Director and a member of the Executive Committee of the Company
since 1 June 2020. He is the Project Director of Property Department
of HKC since December 2010 and has been appointed as Executive
Director of HKC since January 2014. Mr. LEE re-designated as a
director of HKC in June 2021 upon the privatization of HKC. Mr. LEE
also holds several directorships in other members of the Group and
serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the HKC Group. He
has over thirty years of project management experience in property
developments in Hong Kong and China. Before joining the HKC
Group, Mr. LEE was the General Manager (Property Projects) of the
Property Department of CITIC Pacific Limited.

Mr. LEE holds a Professional Diploma in Quantity Surveying (Hong
Kong Polytechnic), a Bachelor of Laws (LLB) degree with honours
(City University, Hong Kong) and an MSc degree in Construction
Management (Reading University, UK). He is a Registered Professional
Surveyor, a member of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors
and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.

MR. CHENG YUK WO

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo, aged 63, has been appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since 1 January 2022. He
is also a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. CHENG holds
a Master of Science Degree in Economics, Accounting and Finance
and a Bachelor of Arts (Hons.) Degree in Accounting. He is a fellow
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of Ontario. His career includes more than
30 years’ accounting and corporate advisory services expertise in
several listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. CHENG is the proprietor
of a certified public accountancy practice in Hong Kong.

Mr. CHENG is currently an independent non-executive director of
CSI Properties Limited, Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited,
CPMC Holdings Limited, Top Spring International Holdings Limited,
Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited, Miricor Enterprises Holdings
Limited, Somerley Capital Holdings Limited and Kidsland International
Holdings Limited, all being Hong Kong listed companies, and Chong
Hing Bank Limited and C.P. Pokphand Co. Ltd. (both companies
delisted from the Main Board of the Stock Exchange). Mr. CHENG was
an independent non-executive director of Goldbond Group Holdings
Limited, and DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited
(both companies are listed on the Stock Exchange). Mr. CHENG was
also an independent non-executive director of HKC (Holdings) Limited
(delisted from the Main Board of the Stock Exchange), the controlling
shareholder of the Company.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERGREEE

MR. TIAN YUCHUAN

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. TIAN Yuchuan, aged 59, has been appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since 23 April 2013. He
is also a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. TIAN holds a
Bachelor of Arts Degree from Beijing Foreign Studies University. He
also obtained an executive education program certificate from Cheung
Kong Graduate School of Management in 2009 and completed a
program in leadership and public policy at University of Oxford in
2012. Mr. TIAN has over 38 years of experience in multinational
business, corporate management, international equity investment and
corporate finance. Mr. TIAN was appointed as an independent director
of KBM Oil Co., Ltd., a joint venture oil company owned by CITIC
Resources Holdings Limited (stock code: 1205), with effect from 1
February 2023. Mr. TIAN was the President of SITE Centers Capital
Management LLC. Previously, Mr. TIAN was the executive director
and chief executive officer of CITIC Dameng Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1091) (now known as “South Manganese Investment Limited”),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He also
held senior positions in several subsidiaries of CITIC Group between
1986 and 2004. Mr. TIAN was employed as the Senior Vice President,
Corporate Strategy and Development and served as a director of
some subsidiaries of HKC between April 2006 to March 2008.

MR. ZHANG SONGYI

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. ZHANG Songyi, aged 68, has been appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since 1 January 2016. He is
also a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company. He obtained a Juris Doctor
degree from Yale University in 1985. Mr. ZHANG currently serves in
senior management and advisory capacities in several companies,
including acting as the chairman of Mandra Capital. He was a director
of Athenex, Inc., a company listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market, a
director of SINA Corporation, a company listed on the NASDAQ Stock
Market until March 2021 and an independent non-executive director
of China Longyuan Power Group Corporation Limited, the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr.
ZHANG was previously an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company from April 2008 to April 2013.
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CEEAEE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited (the “Company”, and
with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”) is committed to good
corporate governance principles and practices and its board of
directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) recognises that it is essential
to safeguard the interests of its shareholders (the “Shareholders”),
customers, suppliers, employees, regulators, business partners,
environmental groups and any other stakeholders (collectively
the “Stakeholders”) and uphold accountability, transparency and
responsibility of the Company. The Group has applied the principles
of good corporate governance by considering and safeguards the
interests of the Stakeholders in its business strategy to enable
shareholders to make evaluation on the Group’s corporate governance
standards.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with the code
provisions and certain recommended best practices set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”), contained in Appendix
C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
during the year ended 31 December 2023, except for the deviation
under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as explained below with
considered reason for such deviation.

According to the Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer (“CEQ”) should be separate and
performed by different individuals. Under the current organisation
structure of the Company, the functions of CEO are performed by
the Chairman of the Company, Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, with support
from the other Executive Directors. The Board considers that this
structure will not impair the balance of power and authority between
the Board and the management of the Company, and has been
effective in discharging its responsibilities satisfactorily and facilitating
the Company’s operation and business development. The Board will
review the structure from time to time to ensure it continues to meet
the principle and will consider segregation of the roles of chairman
and CEO if and when appropriate.
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TEERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES (continuea)
Save as disclosed above, the principles as set out in the CG Code
have been applied in our corporate governance structure throughout
the year. The Board has taken actions and measures to make sure
that the Company is in all aspects in strict compliance with the Listing
Rules and the CG Code. During the year, the Board has reviewed
the following corporate governance fucntions:

(@ to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
board;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

CORPORATE STRATEGY, BUSINESS MODEL AND
CULTURE

The Group has the mission to excel in renewable energy sector whilst
maintaining long-term profitability and assets growth with adoption
of flexible business model and strategy and prudential risk and
governance management framework. The Board have played and
will continue to play a proactive role in the Group’s development of
business model to preserve the culture of the Group in the Group’s
business strategic drive for business development and and the
Group’s setting of strategic goals, priorities and initiatives undertaken
to motivate staff to achieve business and financial targets. During the
board meetings held by the Company during the year 2023, latest
renewable business development were discussed and followed up on
the operational status. Details of the Group’s business performance
and financial review for the year 2023 are set out in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” section of this annual report.
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CORPORATE STRATEGY, BUSINESS MODEL AND
CULTURE (continueq)

Below is the summary of the alignment of the purposes, values and
strategy with the Group’s culture and the steps taken on implement
the desired culture.

Core Values, Purposes Actions to align with the Group’s
and Strategy culture

Creating Sustainable Value We create sustainability through
environmental protection endeavours
and collaboration with the society by
engaging renewable energy sector.

Integrity We uphold honestly, high ethical
standards and integrity in all our actions
and business practices.

People-oriented We balance the needs of shareholders,
employees, customers, government,
society and environment to create
sustainable value.

The Board considers that the Group’s culture and the purpose, values
and strategy of the Group are aligned.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this annual report comprised:

Executive Directors

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel (resigned on 15 November 2023)
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy

Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo

Mr. TIAN Yuchuan

Mr. ZHANG Songyi
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Company has at all time maintained a balanced board with strong
independent element. The Board currently comprises six Directors
with three Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors. Each Director possesses expertise and experience and
provides checks and balances for safeguarding the interests of the
Group and the Shareholders as a whole. In addition, the Company
had maintained three Independent Non-executive Directors which
formed at least one-third of the full Board. Biographical details of
the Directors and their relationships, where applicable, are set out in
pages 18 to 20 of this Annual Report.

No relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship(s), if any), is between the Board members and
in particular, between the Board members and the Chairman of the
Board and the Chief Executive.

The Board targeted to appoint one female director to achieve gender
diversity at the 2024 annual general meeting of the Company.

All Independent Non-executive Directors were appointed with no
specific term, but are subject to the rotation requirement in the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association).

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three Independent
Non-executive Directors with at least one Independent Non-
executive Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors was
assessed in accordance with the applicable Listing Rules. Each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors has provided to the
Company an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of them
are independent.

The Independent Non-executive Directors have been identified in all
corporate communications that disclose the name of directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Independent Views and Input
The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal in

good

corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The Board

has established mechanisms to ensure independent views and

input

from any Director of the Company are conveyed to the Board

for enhancing an objective and effective decision making. The
governance framework and the following mechanisms are reviewed
annually by the Board to ensure their effectiveness:

Three out of the six Directors are Independent Non-Executive
Directors, which meets the requirements of the Listing Rules
that the Board must have at least three Independent Non-
Executive Directors and must appoint Independent Non-
Executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee will assess
the independence, qualification and time commitment of a
candidate who is nominated to be a new Independent Non-
Executive Director before appointment and also the continued
independence of existing Independent Non-Executive Directors
and their time commitments annually. On an annual basis, all
Independent Non-Executive Directors are required to confirm in
writing their compliance of independence requirements pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and to disclose the number
and nature of offices held by them in public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments.

External independent professional advice is available as and
when required by individual Directors.

All Directors are encouraged to express freely their independent
views and constructive challenges during the Board/Board
Committee meetings.

No equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements will be granted to Independent Non-Executive
Directors.

A Director (including Independent Non-Executive Director) who
has a material interest in a contract, arrangement or other
proposal shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any
Board resolution approving the same.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Independent Views and Input (continued)

7. The Chairman of the Board meets with Independent Non-
Executive Directors annually without the presence of the
Executive Directors.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
During the year, the Chairman and the CEO of the Company is Mr.
OEl Kang, Eric.

According to the Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and CEO should be separate and performed by different
individuals. Under the current organisation structure of the Company,
the functions of CEO are performed by the Chairman of the Company,
Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, with support from the other Executive Directors.
The Board considers that this structure will not impair the balance of
power and authority between the Board and the management of the
Company, and has been effective in discharging its responsibilities
satisfactorily and facilitating the Company’s operation and business
development. The Board will review the structure from time to time to
ensure it continues to meet the principle and will consider segregation
of the roles of chairman and CEO if and when appropriate.

Responsibilities of Directors

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Group and is collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Group by directing and supervising the Group’s affairs and
formulating business strategies with a view to maximising its financial
performance and Shareholders’ value.

The Board has delegated various responsibilities and powers to
the Board committees to assist it in efficiently implementing those
functions specified in written terms of reference.

Decisions relating to the long-term objectives and viability of the
Company, and any acquisitions or disposal of transactions and
investments of any kind with value exceeding the authority of
the Executive Committee set out in its terms of reference or the
threshold for discloseable transactions for the Company as defined
in the Listing Rules from time to time are reserved for the Board;
whereas decisions on matters set out in the terms of reference of
the Executive Committee and those not specifically reserved for the
Board are delegated to the Executive Committee and management,
as applicable.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Responsibilities of Directors (continued)

A Director is required to abstain from deliberations and decisions of
the Board on matters where he is the interested party, and he does
not exercise any influence over the Board in respect of the matter.
In the event a corporate proposal is required to be approved by
shareholders, interested Directors are required to abstain from voting
on their shares held in the Company on the shareholders’ resolutions
pertaining to the corporate proposal, and will further undertake to
ensure that persons connected to them similarly abstain from voting
on the relevant shareholders’ resolutions.

Directors are provided with sufficient resources to seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the Company’s
expense and are encouraged to consult with the Company’s senior
management independently. The management provides monthly
management accounts of the Group to the Directors to apprise them
of the Group’s latest performance and financial position.

Directors are requested to disclose to the Company at the time of
his appointment and in a timely manner for any change, the number
and nature of offices held in public companies or organisations and
other significant commitments. Such changes will be updated and
published in the annual and interim reports as appropriate.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify the Group’s Directors for their liabilities arising out of
corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual
basis.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Nomination, Appointment and Re-election of Directors

All new appointment of Directors and nomination of Directors
proposed for re-election at the annual general meeting are first
considered by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee
will assess the candidate or incumbent on criteria such as integrity,
experience, skill and ability to commit time and effort to carry out
the duties and responsibilities. Having due regard for the benefits
of diversity of the Board, the Nomination Committee will then be
put recommendations to the Board for decision. Details of the role
and function as well as a summary of the work performed by the
Nomination Committee are set out under the heading of “Nomination
Committee” below.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the nearest to but
not less than one-third of the Directors shall retire from office by
rotation but are eligible for re-election by Shareholders at the annual
general meeting provided that every Director is subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. New appointments to the
Board are also subject to re-election by Shareholders at the next
following annual general meeting (in the case of an addition to the
Board) or at the next following general meeting (in the case of filing
a casual vacancy).

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees

The Directors meet from time to time to discuss and exchange ideas
on the affairs of the Company. The Board has set up various Board
Committees, among others, the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Executive
Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the Group’s affairs.
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee are available on both
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has met four
times. The Audit Committee meets at twice times. The Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee meet at once time
respectively.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees (continued)
During the year, the following meetings of the Board, the Audit
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee were held and the attendance of the individual Directors

Committee,

at these meetings is set out in the table below:

B84
EETENREETERESTER(H)

REAMBOTZUTEZTEEH  FXREE

€e% REZECERINFMEE

=

=

BHH

MENEFHFERZFERNLBEHEN TR

Number of meetings attended/
Number of meetings eligible to attend

HESHRYA SCEREESHEYE
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee
Name of Directors BEEHR EEE ERZE® ¥HMZzage REEZE®
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. OFl Kang, Eric EEE 4/4  2/2 Note i) 11 11
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel RERTE 44 2[2 Mote Hi) NA NER  NA NEHR
(resigned on 15 November 2023) (RZFZ=F+—H
+HAFFE)
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy BHEREE 44 2/2 Motz NA TER  NA TER
Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel TEREE 4/4  2/2 Note ML) N/A NER  NATER
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTEE
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo EE AT E 4/4 2/2 11 11
Mr. TIAN Yuchuan EE 4/4 2/2 11 1/1
Mr. ZHANG Songyi RMEEREE 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1

Note:

The Executive Directors attended the relevant meetings as invitees.

M WMTEFERLETHEBES -

FEBLERERREERAT | —T-=F4RK

29



Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees (continued)
Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all regular board
meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and
include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting. For committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda and
accompanying board papers are dispatched to the Directors or
committee members at least three days before the meetings to ensure
that they have sufficient time to review the papers and be adequately
prepared for the meetings. When Directors or committee members
are unable to attend a meeting, they are advised of the matters to
be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known
to the Chairman and CEO prior to the meeting.

Minutes of the board meetings and committee meetings are recorded
in sufficient detail on the matters considered by the Board and the
committees and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised
by the Directors. Draft minutes of each board meeting and committee
meeting are sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable
time after the date of the meeting. All Directors have access to the
Company Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring that the board
procedures are complied with and advising the Board on compliance
matters.

The Chairman and CEO acknowledged the significance of promoting
a culture of openness and debate among the Board members. To
facilitate the effective contribution of Independent Non-executive
Directors, the Chairman and CEO held a meeting with Independent
Non-executive Directors without the other Executive Directors present
in November 2023.
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TEERRE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference. The Remuneration Committee, chaired
by an Independent Non-executive Director, comprises four members
namely Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo, Mr. TIAN Yuchuan and Mr. ZHANG
Songyi, who are Independent Non-executive Directors and Mr. OEl
Kang, Eric, who is the Chairman and CEO.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy
and structure for Directors and senior management, and reviewing
their remuneration packages. In arriving at its recommendations, the
Remuneration Committee will consult with the Chairman and CEO
whenever it thinks fit and take into consideration factors such as
the remuneration paid by comparable companies, skill, knowledge,
time commitment and responsibilities of Directors. The Remuneration
Committee has the responsibility, powers and discretion to determine,
with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual
Executive Directors and senior management. The Remuneration
Committee held one meeting during the year, and the attendance
details of each member are set out on page 29.

During the year under review, the work performed by the
Remuneration Committee included (i) to review the remuneration
policy and structure of Directors including those retired and re-elected
at the 2023 annual general meeting of the Company; and (i) approve
the year-end bonus and salary increment of the Executive Directors.
No Director was involved in deciding his own remuneration. Details
of the Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration for the year
are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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TEERRE

REMUNERATION POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Policy of the Group is established and implemented
to encourage employee behaviour that supports the Group’s risk
tolerance, risk management framework and long-term financial
soundness. It is in line with the objectives, business strategies and
long-term goals of the Group and structured in a way that will not
encourage excessive risk-taking by employees but allows the Group
to attract and retain employees with relevant skills, knowledge and
expertise to discharge their specific functions.

The basis of determining the remuneration payable to the Directors
is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on page 31 of this
annual report. Details of Directors’ remuneration in the Group are set
out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference. The Nomination Committee, chaired by an
Independent Non-executive Director, comprises four members namely
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo, Mr. TIAN Yuchuan and Mr. ZHANG Songyi, who
are Independent Non-executive Directors and Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, who
is the Chairman and CEO.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board at least annually, identifying
suitable candidates for directorship, assessing the independence of
Independent Non-executive Directors, and making recommendations
to the Board on any proposed changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy. The Nomination Committee held
one meeting during the year, and the attendance details of each
member are set out on page 29.

During the year under review, the work performed by the Nomination
Committee includes the following:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board;
° reviewing the structure of board committees;
° assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive

Directors and sufficient number of independent directors to
maintain a balanced board;
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TEERRE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)
° making recommendation to the Board relating to the re-
appointment of the retiring Directors; and

° reviewing the progress report from the management in relation
to the Board Diversity Policy.

The Company had provided the Nomination Committee sufficient
resources to perform its duties. Where necessary, the Nomination
Committee could seek independent professional advice, at the
Company’s expense, to perform its responsibilities.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) on 8 July 2013. Below is the summary of the Board Diversity
Policy:

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board, and sees increasing diversity at Board level as
an essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage. All
appointments of the members of the Board are made on merit, in the
context of the skills and experience the Board as a whole requires
to be effective. In designing the Board composition, the Company
is committed to equality of opportunity in all aspects and does not
discriminate on the grounds, including but not limited to, gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge, length of service and any other factors
that the Board may consider relevant and applicable from time to
time.

The Nomination Committee discussed and agreed the measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and recommended
them to the Board for adoption. During the year, the Nomination
Committee reviewed the existing composition of the Board and
received and accepted the progress report from the management
in relation to identified business skills and experience required and
their ranking and the action plan for recruiting new Board member.
[t also monitored the review of the Company’s recruitment process
to reinforce its commitment to the principle of equal opportunity.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Board Diversity Policy and considered that the Board Diversity Policy
has been properly implemented during the year under review and is
effective.
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TEERRE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Board Diversity Policy (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company maintained
an effective Board comprising members of different professional
background and industry experience. The Board considers that the
gender diversity in respect of the Board taking into account the
business model and specific needs of the Company is satisfactory.
The Company’s Board Diversity Policy was consistently implemented.
As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of six
male Directors. The Company has adopted to develop a pipeline of
potential successors to the board to achieve gender diversity. The
Company has taken the necessary steps to achieve gender board
diversity by appointing one female director at the 2024 annual general
meeting of the Company.

The Group has also taken, and continues to take, steps to promote
diversity at all levels of its workforce. Opportunities for employment,
training and career development are equally opened to all eligible
employees without discrimination. Currently, the male to female
ratio in the workforce of the Group including Senior Management is
approximately 8:2. The Board considers that the gender diversity in
workforce is currently achieved.

Nomination Policy
The Board adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) on
14 June 2019. Below is the summary of the Nomination Policy:

The Nomination Committee assists the Board in making selection
and recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors,
and succession planning for Directors. The Nomination Policy set out
the procedures, process and criteria for the Nomination Committee
in making any such recommendations.
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TEERRE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Nomination Policy (continued)

Principle and Guidelines

When making recommendations regarding the appointment of
any proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any
existing member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee
shall consider a variety of factors including without limitation the
following in assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate:

1.

Vi.

Vii.

The Board Diversity Policy.
Reputation for integrity.

Accomplishment and experience that are relevant to the
operations of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and
attention to the Company’s affairs.

The ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Company’s success.

Compliance with the criteria of independence as
prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Main Board Listing
Rules for the appointment of an independent non-
executive director.

Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the
Committee or the Board from time to time.

The appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or
re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the Board shall be
made in accordance with the Articles of Association and other
applicable rules and regulations.
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]E

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Nomination Policy (continued)

2. Nomination Procedures

Procedures for Appointment of New Director

If the Board recognizes the need to appoint a new
Director, the following procedures should be adopted:

21

2.2
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The Nomination Committee identifies candidates in
accordance with the selection criteria set out in the
Nomination Policy.

The Nomination Committee evaluates the
candidates and recommends to the Board the
appointment of the appropriate candidate for
directorship.

The Board decides the appointment based upon the
recommendation of the Nomination Committee.

The key terms and conditions of the appointment
should be approved by the Remuneration
Committee.

Procedures for Re-election of Director at General
Meeting

The Nomination Committee reviews the overall
contribution to the Company of the retiring Director.

The Nomination Committee also reviews and
determines whether the retiring Director continues to
meet the selection criteria set out in the Nomination
Policy.

The Nomination Committee shall recommend to
the Board which shall then make recommendation
to the Shareholders in respect of the proposed re-
election of Director at the general meeting.
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TEERRE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)
Nomination Policy (continued)

2.

Nomination Procedures (continued)
2.3 Procedures for Nomination by Shareholders
i. The Procedure for Election of Directors for
Shareholders’ nomination of any proposed
candidate for election as a Director is available on
the Company’s website.

ii. The Nomination Committee shall evaluate such
candidate based on the selection criteria set out
in the Nomination Policy and to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship and
where appropriate, the Nomination Committee shall
recommend to the Board which shall then make
recommendation to the Shareholders in respect of
the proposed election of Director at the general
meeting.

The Company Secretary shall ensure all disclosure
obligations under the Listing Rules regarding the
appointment or re-election of Directors are duly complied.

Review of the Policy

The Board will from time to time review the Nomination
Policy and monitor its implementation to ensure its continued
effectiveness and compliance with regulatory requirements and
good corporate governance practice. The Board reserves the
right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/
or modify the Nomination Policy.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms
of reference which have been updated from time to time to align with
the code provisions set out in the CG Code. The Audit Committee,
chaired by an Independent Non-executive Director, comprises three
members namely Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo, Mr. TIAN Yuchuan and
Mr. ZHANG Songyi, all of whom are Independent Non-executive
Directors.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to, inter
alia, review and supervise the Group’s financial reporting process,
internal control and risk management procedures, as well as oversee
the adequacy of the accounting and financial reporting resources.
While recognised corporate governance is the collective responsibility
of all Directors, the Board has delegated the corporate governance
functions to the members of Audit Committee who are in an objective
and independent position to oversee the corporate governance
compliance.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held two meetings
together with senior management and external auditor and two
private meetings with the external auditor without the management’s
presence. The attendance details of each member are set out on
page 29. The major work performed by the Audit Committee during
the year included reviewing interim and annual financial statements,
internal audit reports on the internal control and risk management
matters, the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance as well as reviewing and recommending re-appointment
of external auditor.

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy for employees to
raise concerns, in confidence, with the designated executive who is
accountable to the Audit Committee about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, unlawful activities, or activities violating the Group’s
Code of Conduct and Business Ethics or otherwise amounting to
serious improper conduct and to ensure protection from possible
retaliation against any of our employees who has reported concerns
in good faith.
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TEERES

AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

Anti-corruption Policy

The Board adopted an anti-corruption policy (the “Anti-corruption
Policy”) on 18 March 2022. Below is the summary of the Anti-
corruption Policy:

Purpose

The Company is committed to upholding high standards of business
integrity, honesty and transparency in all its business dealings. The
Company strictly prohibits any form of corruption, and is committed
to the prevention, deterrence, detection and investigation of all forms
of corruption. The Anti-corruption Policy applies to the Group, and
to all directors, officers and employees of the Group (which for
these purposes includes temporary or contract staff) (collectively
the “Employees”), as well as its Third Party Representatives
(include amongst others, advisers, agents, introducers and finders,
consultants and political lobbyists).

Prohibition and Forms of Corruption
Employees are strictly prohibited (whether acting in their own capacity
or on behalf of the Group) from:

(@)  offering, promising, giving or authorising, directly or indirectly,
any bribe or kickback to or for the benefit of any person
(whether in private or public office) in order to obtain any
improper business or other improper advantage for the Group;

(b)  soliciting, accepting or receiving (whether for the benefit of
the Group, their own benefit or that of their family, friends,
associates or acquaintances) any bribe or kickback from any
person (whether in private or public office) in return for providing
any improper business or other improper advantage in relation
to the business of the Group;

(c) otherwise using illegal or improper means (including bribes,
favours, blackmail, financial payments, inducements, secret
commissions or other rewards) to influence the actions of
others; or

(d) acting as an intermediary for a third party in the solicitation,
acceptance, payment or offer of a bribe or kickback.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

Prohibition and Forms of Corruption (continued)

To minimise the risk of Third Party Representatives engaging in
an inappropriate conduct, relevant departments/Group companies
should:

(@

(d)

always act with due care and diligence in selecting Third Party
Representatives and in monitoring their activities;

ensure that Third Party Representatives are aware of and
respect the Anti-Corruption Policy;

ensure that all fees and expenses paid to Third Party
Representatives represent appropriate and justifiable
remuneration, which is commercially reasonable under the
circumstances, for legitimate services rendered by the Third
Party Representative; and

keep accurate financial records of all payments.

Business Courtesies

Business gifts and hospitality (“Business Courtesies”) are customary
courtesies designed to build goodwill among business partners.
Business Courtesies must comply with the following principles:

(@)

(b)

40

they must be reasonable and not excessive;

they must be of modest value, both in isolation and when
considered in the context of other gifts and hospitality offered;

they must be appropriate and consistent with reasonable
business practice;

they must be provided with the intent only to build or maintain
a business relationship or offer normal courtesy, rather than to
influence the recipient’s objectivity in making a specific business
decision;

they should never be offered in return for financial or personal
gain or favour; and

they must be permissible under all applicable laws, rules and
regulations. When dealing with a public official, the official’s
country will often have laws imposing limits on the level of
hospitality and gifts which can be accepted, and those laws
must be strictly adhered to. When dealing with the private
sector, gifts or hospitality should not exceed any limits imposed
by the recipient’s organisation.

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited | Annual Report 2023

BEREEG#®)
BIEESRESEXE)
SE=ZIREXEFAIETANARKE &K

5 28

& BRI, SEARE:

(@

(d)

SRV $ 43 E et LT
“CRIBBENEANDY

BMRE=ZFTRKRTHIEERETH
%

BRAFE=ZAREINNEER KA
THEBEZAFRREEEGERBHE
EMEERH - RERBERTER
¥rBe8E X

PRI7 P A 5 R ) B i B A AR 8

B%EeE
BHEEnEFF(ABER)IAERER
HeREYRFBAEMRENEERE - &
BRERER/ATRA:

@)

(b)

AEEMTBE:

BESAET (EmEFLEELGEY
KRFRER

VEBEENARENRHEED:

NSSN
&

BB BERRRTEYAETELH
FARFEFEE - MIERFERT
EEFLABRERERFMNTEHIL:

THRRBEREENEANDKBEM
R R

VARBMABRER BB RGN AT
AFF - FEBNEEERE - BEME
MBI R EE A AR A &S5
BYWNEEELRS - BARRKEST
aHERE - HENERFIERE - 29
SREIERBBRTEMEMABRE
HY AE AT BR 1) o



Corporate Governance Report

TEERES

AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

Procurement of Goods and Services by the Group and
Other Business Partners

The Group is committed to dealing with its customers and suppliers
in a fair, honest and professional manner, while seeking best value for
the business. Potential suppliers are treated on an equal basis and
no unmerited favouritism is to be shown in the procurement of goods
and services. The Group conducts its procurement practices in a fair
and transparent manner and Employees must act with due care and
diligence when evaluating prospective contractors and suppliers.

The Group will not deal with contractors and suppliers and other
potential business partners known to be paying bribes and/or
engaging in corrupt activity. Appropriate levels of diligence are to be
conducted by adequately skilled persons in the selection and renewal
of new and existing contractors and suppliers and other business
partners (such as a joint venture partner) commensurate with the
bribery risk associated with a particular relationship.

Reporting of Corruption and Suspicious Activity

If an Employee becomes aware of any actual or suspected breach
of this Policy, he/she must report such incidents in accordance
with the Whistleblowing Guideline which provides a mechanism for
Employees and those who deal with the Group to raise concerns
on any suspected impropriety, misconduct or malpractice through
confidential reporting channels.

Employees are actively encouraged to report any concerns
regarding corruption. The Internal Audit & Risk Management team
and the Company Secretary team are responsible to ensure that
such complaints are logged, investigated and appropriate action is
taken. All reports of suspected corruption are to be investigated
and appropriate sanctions employed. Complaints are to be treated
confidentially to the extent possible, and Employees raising legitimate
concerns in good faith are to be protected; retaliation of any kind
against any Employee for making good faith reports about actual or
suspected violation of the Anti-corruption Policy is not permitted.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

Whistle-blowing Policy

The Board adopted a whistle-blowing policy (the “Whistle-blowing
Policy”) on 26 September 2012. Below is the summary of the Whistle-
blowing Policy:

Purpose

In order to enable the employees of the Group to raise concerns, in
confidence, with the senior management about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, unlawful activities, or activities violating
the Group’s Code of Conduct and Business Ethics or otherwise
amounting to serious improper conduct (“Malpractice or Misconduct”),
the Group has set up the guidelines on reporting such concerns.
The aims of this guideline are to provide channels for our employees
to raise concerns and to ensure protection for our employees from
possible retaliation against any of our employees who has reported
concerns in good faith.

Duty to Report

[t is an employee’s duty to report if he or she believes in good faith
that certain Malpractice or Misconduct has taken place or is in
progress. The concern should be raised as soon as possible with the
Head of Internal Audit Department (the “Designated Executive”).

Once the report is received, the Designated Executive will make initial
enquiries to determine whether an investigation is appropriate. An
investigation may include internal reviews, reviews by the external
auditors or lawyers or some other external body depending on the
nature of the concern.

The Audit Committee is the primary corporate body governing
matters relating to Group’s business conduct and ethics and
reports on concerns therewith. Accountable to the Audit Committee,
the Designated Executive shall report immediately to the Audit
Committee once an allegation on Malpractice or Misconduct is
received. The Audit Committee shall be responsible for making
decision on investigation strategies, tactics and action plans. The
Designated Executive shall carry out the action plans and report to
the Audit Committee on status of investigation, follow-up actions and
conclusions of any investigation.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

Anonymous Reports

All reports will be treated in confidence. Every effort will be made
to protect the complainant’s identity with appropriate assurance of
confidentiality. However, under certain circumstances, to assist with
the investigation the individual’s identity may become known or needs
to be revealed.

The Group encourages employees to identify themselves or leave
their mode of contact in their report of concerns for the reason that
follow-up enquiries and investigation may not be possible unless the
source of the information is identified.

The Whistle-blowing Policy is intended to encourage and enable
employees to raise concerns about Malpractice or Misconduct. The
Group will not retaliate and will not allow any of its employees to
retaliate against any other employee who has reported any concern.
No employee who, in good faith, reports a concern shall be subject
to retaliation or adverse employment consequences. Any allegation
of retaliation should be reported immediately to the office of the
Designated Executive, and the Group will take swift response to it,
including investigation and, once confirmed, immediate disciplinary
action against any violators.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Executive Committee with the key
initiatives to manage the Group’s business activities, and oversee
the operating performance and financial position of the Group and
all strategic business units. The Executive Committee comprises all
Executive Directors and chaired by Mr. OEl Kang, Eric.

During the year under review, the Executive Committee met regularly
to review the performance of various business units of the Group,
coordinate overall resources, made financial and operation decisions
delegated by the Board, review and develop investment strategy and
policies of the Company and make relevant recommendations to the
Board.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES, DELEGATION AND
BOARD PROCESSES

The management, consisting of the Executive Directors and
executives of the Company, is delegated with responsibilities for
implementing the strategy and direction as adopted by the Board from
time to time, and conducting the day-to-day operations of the Group.
Executive Directors and executives meet regularly to review the
performance of the businesses of various business units of the Group
as a whole, coordinate overall resources and make financial and
operation decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as to their
powers of management including circumstances where management
should report back, and will review the delegation arrangements on
a periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs
of the Group.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiries, the Company has obtained confirmation from all Directors
that they have complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company has also adopted a code for dealing in the Company’s
securities by relevant employees, who are likely to be in possession
of unpublished inside information in relation to the securities of the
Group, on no less exacting terms than the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 which
give a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the
Group and of the Group’s results and cash flows. In preparing the
financial statements, the Directors have adopted generally accepted
accounting standards in Hong Kong and suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently, made judgements and estimates that
are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial statements
on a going concern basis.

The statement of the Company’s auditor about their reporting

responsibilities on the financial statements of the Company is set out
in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 89 to 96.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION AND AUDITOR
RELATED MATTERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the fees in respect
of audit and non-audit services provided to the Group by the
auditor amounted to approximately HK$670,000 and HK$120,000
respectively. The non-audit services consist of interim results review.
These non-audit services are engaged only as they are more effective
or economical than those available from other service providers and
will not constitute adverse impact on the independence of the external
auditor. The nature and ratio of annual fees to external auditor for non-
audit services and for audit services in 2023 have been scrutinised
by the Audit Committee.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2023, all Directors have participated
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. The training programmes included
seminars and courses, reviewed the updated laws, rules and
regulations and materials on topics relevant to the director’s duties
and responsibilities. The Company is responsible for arranging and
funding suitable training for its Directors. Accordingly, the Company
has put in place a training and development programme for the
Directors including: (i) a comprehensive induction programme on the
laws and regulations affecting directors and the Company, business
operations, knowledge and current development of the banking and
finance industry and the role, responsibilities and potential liabilities of
directors for newly appointed Directors; and (i) an on-going training
and professional development programme for the Directors.

A summary of training received by Directors during the year ended 31
December 2023 according to the records provided by the Directors
is as follows:
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Training on corporate governance, regulatory
development and other relevant topics

Name of Directors EEng hEER EERRRHEMMARTEZE

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. OEI Kang, Eric Ml &AE v

Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel REREE N/AT 8
(resigned on 15 November 2023) (R=F==F1—H1HHFT)

Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy BEEREE 4

Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel FEREE v

Independent Non-executive Directors BIFXHTES

Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo BHMrE 4

Mr. TIAN Yuchuan BE)I%kE v

Mr. ZHANG Songyi wIEE LA 4

The Company continuously updates Directors on the latest
developments in the statutory and regulatory regime and the business
environment to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. In
addition, the Directors are regularly encouraged to enroll in a wide
range of professional development courses and seminars regarding
the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements to enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT (continued)

The Directors have confirmed and provided to the Company their
records of training received during the year. All Directors of the
Company namely Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy,
Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel, Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo, Mr. TIAN Yuchuan
and Mr. ZHANG Songyi complied with Code Provision C.1.4 of the
CG Code during the year.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness, while
management is charged with the responsibility to design, implement
and monitor the risk management and internal control systems to
manage risks and compliance.

Risk Management Model
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REEEERX

The Board/Audit Committee E£€ B EEE

Senior Management SR EE &

4 4

$

(Own and Manage Risks) (Oversee Risks)

(Independent Assurance)

(BLRER)

Internal Audit

MERERT

(REREERK) (EEERELBR)
Financial Control B 7§ 2542
Internal
Management Control
Controls M Risk Management &k & 12
e Measures
= REERZE

Compliance AR EE

As the first line of defense, operational management is responsible
for maintaining effective internal controls and for executing risk and
control procedures on day-to-day operation. Management of Head
Office establishes various risk management and compliance functions
to provide direction on the importance of risk management and
monitor the first line of defense controls. The Internal Audit and Risk
Management (“IARM”) Department reviews and provides independent
assurance on the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems of the Group.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL BREBERAIERZZE)
(continued)

Internal Control Framework R EPEEHE LR 18

The Group has in place an integrated internal control framework that 7K % B 2 & 7 8 COSO (Committee of

is consistent with the COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organisations ~ Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway

of the Treadway Commission) framework as illustrated below: Commission)iE2E — B Z 43 & N EPES 1 28 4 -
HRMAT:

Control Environment

EERER

° Set the right tone of the Group influencing control consciousness and risk awareness of the staff.
BUASEBEEHENERENR  URCEENETFEANLERRBH -

° Factors include integrity, ethical values, competence, delegation of authority and responsibility.
WMEBART  BREE BIeh BERERECTHEZSEE -

° Foundation for all other components of internal control.

ERMAREMAMEZEARBONER -

Risk Assessment

LB 3T 1
° Identification, evaluation and analysis of the key risks underlying the achievement of the Group’s objectives,

including the risks relating to the changing regulatory and operating environment; conducted regularly, forming
the basis for determining control activities.

EHBER FAEERONMEERASEEREANTIZAR(BEAFEEREEREZE (AR - XA
ERHE R F M ER -

Control Activities

EEEEE

° Policies and procedures for ensuring management directives are carried out and necessary actions are taken
to address the risks that may hinder the achievement of the Group’s objectives.
FITREREF BREEEZCETSUABTURRRVETHEES G E2AEEENAE2RR -

° Control activities include authorisations, approvals, verifications, performance reviews, segregation of duties,
asset security, access control, documentation and records.

EREPERRE  Fi ZE S%ed BEID  BERE - FERES  XMHFERLESF -

Information and Communication
ERRBERE
° Pertinent information is identified, captured and provided to the right person in a timely manner.

ERHER - ERRAEEATREAEER -

° Channels of communication across the Group and with external parties are established.
BUASEBEEAPICENAREINRALTZ BREE -

° Channels of communication exist for people to report suspected malpractices or improprieties relating to the
Group.
RBRPREREFEHRAANEREFHXTETRARLBARE -

Monitoring

° Combination of ongoing and separate evaluations of control system’s performance.
S RAE R TR B R E R o

° Management and supervisory activities.
EBRERTIE-

° Internal audit activities.

WNEREZ TIE -
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Control Environment

The actions of management and its demonstrated commitment to
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices within
the Group are transparent to all. The Group strives to conduct all
business affairs based on good business ethics and accountability.
We have in place a formal Code of Conduct & Business Ethics that is
communicated to all staff members. We aim to build risk awareness
and control responsibility into our culture and regard them as the
foundation of our risk management and internal control systems.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
monitor the Group’s ability to achieve its business objectives; and
can provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

We maintain an effective internal audit function, the IARM Department,
whose main features include:

(i) independence from operational management;

(i) fully empowered auditors with access to all data and every
operation of the Group;

(i)  adequate resources and well qualified and capable staff;

(iv)  risk-based auditing, concentrating on areas with significant risks
or where significant changes have been made.

Risk Management

Management has an ongoing process to identify and evaluate the
significant risks facing the Group and to prioritise resources to
manage those that arise. Mitigation strategies and plans with respect
to each key risk identified are developed and implemented with
regular review and update, which include establishing or enhancing
internal controls.

Heads of the departments, projects and business units regularly
review and analyse the key risks associated with achieving the
objectives of their particular departments, activities and businesses
to provide reasonable assurance that internal controls are both
embedded and effective within their areas of accountability.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Control Processes

The Board maintains sound and effective risk management and
internal control systems through the following:

(i) The Board reviews the Group’s strategic plans and objectives
on an annual basis.

(i) An organisational structure with defined lines of responsibility
and delegation of authority is devised.

(i)  Systems and procedures are in place to identify and evaluate
risks on an ongoing basis. Senior executives review the risk
assessment process and monitor the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

(iv)  Appropriate policies and key control activities are maintained
with regular review on their effectiveness.

(v)  Financial performance is analysed against budget with variances
being accounted for and appropriate actions taken to rectify
deficiencies.

(vij  Senior executives ensure compliance with relevant laws,
regulations, standards and ordinances, including Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, the Listing Rules and the
Companies Ordinance, under their responsibility.

(vi)  The IARM Department reports directly to the Audit Committee
and the CEO, and carries out independent reviews on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems in accordance with its annual audit
plan approved by the Audit Committee. Key audit findings and
implementation progress of internal control recommendations
are regularly reported to the Board through the Audit
Committee. Head of the IARM Department also serves as
the contact person under the Whistleblowing Guideline of the
Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Effectiveness

The Executive Directors of the Company conduct reviews of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems, and submit to the Audit Committee a certification of
compliance for effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability
of financial reporting, and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations bi-annually. The scope of this review covers the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions, as well as those relating to the
Group’s environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) performance
and reporting.

The Audit Committee regularly reviews the audit findings and
implementation progress of internal control recommendations,
and opinion of the IARM Department on the performance of risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. External
auditor also reports on any control issues identified in the course of
their audit work.

Taking the above into consideration, the Audit Committee reviews the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems at least once each year and reports to the Board on such
reviews.

The Board has, through the Audit Committee, reviewed and
considered the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
effective and adequate for the year ended 31 December 2023. No
significant areas of concern that might affect the operational, financial,
compliance, and ESG controls and risk management function of the
Group were identified.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Inside Information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company:

(i)

(i

(il)

is aware of the obligations under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, the applicable Listing Rules and other statutory
regulations with regard to the timely and proper disclosure of
inside information, announcements and financial disclosures
and authorises their publication as required.

has adopted and implemented its Inside Information Disclosure
Policy.

has in place a Code for Securities Dealing for governing the
securities transactions of those employees who, because of
their positions, are likely to have access to confidential or inside
information.

identifies and authorises members of the Group’s senior
management to act as the Company’s spokespersons and
respond to external enquiries.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and CEO on
Board or committee matters. He is an employee of the Company.
All Directors have direct access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary for the ongoing discharge of their duties and
responsibilities. For the financial year ended 31 December 2023, the
Company Secretary took more than 15 hours of relevant professional
training organised by the Stock Exchange and various professional
bodies.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS OF THE COMPANY
On 1 January 2022, the Listing Rules were amended by, among
others, adopting a uniform set of 14 core standards for shareholder
protections for issuers regardless of their place of incorporation set
out in Appendix 3 (which has been renumbered as Appendix Al
with effect from 31 December 2023) to the Listing Rules. Before
the annual general meeting on 15 June 2023, the Board proposed
to make certain amendments to the Articles of Association for the
purpose of, among others, (i) conforming to the said core standards
for shareholder protections; and (i) incorporating certain other
housekeeping changes. Accordingly, the Board proposes to adopt the
Second Amended and Restated Articles of Association in substitution
for, and to the exclusion of, the Articles of Association. On 15 June
2023, a special resolution was passed at the annual general meeting
to approve the proposed amendments and the adoption of the
Second Amended and Restated Articles of Association.

The Company has published its updated and consolidated version
of Memorandum and Articles of Association at the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Board adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on 14
June 2019. Below is the summary of the Dividend Policy:

The Dividend Policy aims to set out the principles and guidelines
that the Company intends to apply in relation to the declaration of
dividends and to allow Shareholders to participate in the Company’s
profits whilst retaining adequate reserves for the future growth of the
Group.

The Board shall consider the following factors before proposing and
declaring dividends:

i. the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

ii. retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

iii. the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity
and the relevant financial covenants;

iv.  the Group’s expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;
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DIVIDEND POLICY (continued)

V. general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group; and

vi.  any other factors that the Board deem relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the laws of Cayman lIslands, the
Articles of Association and any other applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and
reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy. There can be no assurance that
dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.

SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY
The Board adopted a shareholder communication policy (the
“Shareholders Communication Policy”) on 18 March 2022. Below is
the summary of the Shareholders Communication Policy:

The Shareholders Communication Policy aims to set out the principles
of the Company in relation to the shareholders’ communications,
with the objective of ensuring timely, transparent and accurate
communications between the shareholders and the Company.

Shareholders Meeting

The annual general meetings and other general meetings of the
Company are the primary communication forum between the
Company and the Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to
participate in general meetings physically or to appoint proxies to
attend and vote at such meetings for and on their behalf if they are
unable to attend.

Notices of the general meetings, related circulars and forms of proxy
are provided within a prescribed time prior to the general meetings
on HKEx’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website
(www.cre987.com) and by post to the Shareholders.

Board members, in particular, the chairman of the Board and the
relevant committees members and external auditor will attend the
general meetings physically or via zoom or via any other means of
electronic communication to answer the Shareholders’ questions.
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SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY
(continued)

Shareholders Meeting (continued)

The chairman of the general meetings will propose to vote the
resolutions (except resolutions which relate purely to procedural or
administrative matters) by poll in accordance with the Articles of
Association. Scrutineer will be appointed for the vote-taking at the
general meetings and the voting results will be published on the
HKEx’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website
(www.cre987.com) subsequent to the close of the general meetings.

Corporate Communication

Corporate Communications, as defined in the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities at the Main Board on the HKEX, includes (i) the
directors’ report and the annual accounts together with a copy of the
auditor’s report; (ii) the interim report; (iii) a notice of meeting; (iv) a
listing document; (v) a circular; and (vi) a proxy form.

Shareholders can elect to receive the Corporate Communications in
the printed form or through electronic means and in the language(s)
selected (either English or Chinese or both). Shareholders who have
elected to receive the Corporate Communications by electronic
means have the right to obtain printed copies of the Corporate
Communications free of charge.

Shareholders are encouraged to provide their up-to-date contact
details to the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong in order
to facilitate timely and effective communications.

Company’s Website

The Company’s website (www.cre987.com) provides the Shareholders
with corporate information on the Company and its subsidiaries. It
also provides information on corporate governance of the Group and
the compositions and functions of the board of directors and the
board committees of the Company.

In addition to the “Investor Relations” section in which Corporate
Communications of the Company are posted as soon as practicable

following their release on the HKEx’s website (www.hkexnews.hk).

Information on the Company’s website is updated on a regular basis.
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SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY
(continued)

Communication with the Company

Shareholders may raise questions, request for publicly available
information and provide comments and suggestions to the directors
and management of the Company. Such questions, requests,
comments and suggestions can be addressed to the Company by
post to 9/F, Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road, Tsimshatsui
East, Kowloon, Hong Kong or via telephone at (852) 2731 0000 or
via email at info@cre987.com.

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, by post to 17M Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong or via
telephone at (852) 2862 8555 or via online at www.computershare.
com/hk/en/online_feedback.

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent such information is publicly available.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy including
steps taken at the general meetings, the handling of queries received
(if any) and the multiple channels of communication and engagement
in place, and considered that the Shareholders’ Communication Policy
has been properly implemented during the year under review and is
effective.
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GENERAL MEETING

The last annual general meeting of the Company was held on 15
June 2023 (the “2023 AGM”). The Chairman and CEO chaired the
2023 AGM. The external auditor attended the 2023 AGM to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor
independence.

Non-executive directors’ attendance at general meetings is important.
An independent non-executive director is often the chairman or a
member of board committees and as such, the individual should
be accountable to shareholders by being available to respond to
questions and enquiries in relation to their work. Without attending
general meetings, the director will not be able to develop a balanced
understanding of the views of shareholders.

The attendance record of the individual Directors at the 2023 AGM
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is set out in the table below: BRE AT
2023 AGM
Attended
HE-—ZE—-=
Name of Directors EEng BRREFAE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. OEl Kang, Eric =M AE 4
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel RERFE
(resigned on 15 November 2023) (RZFZ=F+—H+HHEFHTE) 4
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy EER A 4
Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel FEREE v
Independent Non-executive Directors BUEHITES
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo B &7 K0 5 A v
Mr. TIAN Yuchuan HEEE v
Mr. ZHANG Songyi RMEE A v
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting and put forward
proposals at general meetings

Shareholders can put forward their proposals at an
extraordinary general meeting. Procedures for the Shareholders
to convene an extraordinary general meeting is provided for
under Article 58 of the Articles of Association.

Under Article 58 of the Articles of Association, any member(s)
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company shall have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition (“Requisitionists”).
The written request must state the resolution, preferably
accompanied by a statement of not more than one thousand
words with respect to the matter referred to in the proposed
resolution for the Company’s reference and consideration,
signed by the all Requisitionists concerned.

The written request must be deposited at the head office of the
Company at 9/F,, Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road,
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong, for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer agent in Hong Kong (the “Branch Share
Registrars”). Upon the Branch Share Registrars’ confirmation
that the request is proper and in order, the Company will
convene an extraordinary general meeting within two months
after the deposit of such requisition, and will serve sufficient
notice in accordance with the statutory and regulatory
requirements to all members of the Company.

Procedures for election of directors of the Company
The procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person
for election as a Director are available and accessible on the
Company’s website at www.cre987.com.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board believes regular and timely communication with
Shareholders forms part of the Group’s effort to help our Shareholders
understand our business better. Copies of the annual reports and
interim reports of the Company are distributed to the Shareholders
in accordance with statutory and regulatory requirements and also
to interested parties recorded in the Company’s mailing lists. The
publications of the Company, including financial reports, circulars
and announcements, are also available on the Company’s website at
www.cre987.com.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with the Shareholders. At the general
meeting, each substantially separate issue is considered by a
separate resolution, including election of individual Directors, and
the poll procedures are clearly explained. The Chairman and CEO,
other members of the Board, the Chairmen of the relevant Board
Committees and the external auditor of the Company attended the
annual general meeting to interface with, and answer questions from
the Shareholders.

Shareholders can send their enquiry to the Board by the following
ways:

Post : 9/F., Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road,
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong

E-mail: info@cre987.com

Fax: (852) 2731 0069
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIS HERERRE

REPORTING GUIDELINES

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited (the “Company” or
“CRE”, and with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”) is pleased to
present its annual Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“ESG Report”) with disclosure reference made to the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”)
as contained in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The ESG Report covers the financial
year ended 31 December 2023.

This ESG Report describes the Group’s environmental, social and
governance management approach, strategy, priorities and objectives.
It explains how the Group complies with the mandatory disclosure
requirements and the “comply or explain” provisions of the ESG
Reporting Guide. This ESG Report covers the Group’s governance
on the Environmental and Social aspect. The corporate governance
aspect is addressed in more details in the Corporate Governance
Report.

As one of the earliest investors in China’s renewable energy sector
since 2006, the Group has been heavily involved in environmental
protection and support for the low carbon development of China. CRE
strives to continuously improve and evolve in the renewable energy
sector to adapt to the changing expectations of our stakeholders
while balancing the needs of our shareholders, environment and the
communities we operate in. The Board has reviewed and approved
the ESG strategy and reporting for the financial year ended 31
December 2023.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

This report is solely prepared by the Company. The Board and
senior management, to their best knowledge, have monitored and
guarantee the completeness, reliability, authenticity and objectivity of
the information included in this report, and update the ESG disclosure
practice based on the changing standards and the Company’s
business operation. We also hope to strengthen our communication
with the stakeholders and increase the transparency of the Company
through the publication of this report, to achieve economic, social
and environmentally sustainable development.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES (continued)
We have applied the following reporting principles in preparing the
ESG report:

1. Materiality: in identifying and assessing the environmental,
social and governance issues that have a material impact on
the ESG report, we have performed substantial assessments
and researches by ways of, among others, communicating with
relevant stakeholders and viewing historical documents and
information, and, in line with the Group’s mission and vision
as well as the core items of the ESG report. The Board has
determined the relevant ESG issues as disclosed in the ESG
Report which are sufficiently important to investors and other
stakeholders that they should be reported.

2. Quantitative: We have established the management system
in terms of social responsibility and environmental protection
based on our own business characteristics so as to enhance the
Company’s ESG policies and management system. We actively
strengthen our ESG performance by consistently reviewing and
improving our management systems. We endeavor to promote
the culture of environmental protection and social responsibility
so as to facilitate the incorporation of the ESG concept into the
business operation and promote the sustainable development
of the Company. The key performance indicators (“KPIs”) are
measurable in accordance with the actual numerical figures
or forward-looking statements. The quantitative information
contained in this ESG Report is accompanied by a narrative
statement and ESG impacts.

3. Balance: Our ESG report provides an objective and unbiased
picture of our business performance. The report avoids
selections, omissions or presentation formats that might
inappropriately influence a decision of or judgment by the report
reader.

4, Consistency: Our ESG Report has applied and will continue
using consistent methodologies to allow for meaningful
comparisons of ESG information and data over time. There is
no change to the methods or KPIs used affecting a meaningful
comparison in our ESG Report.
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REPORTING SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

The reporting scope is aligned with the accounting consolidation
basis, that is, only the consolidated affiliated entities are included in
the report. Unless otherwise stated, the reporting scope of this report
covers the Group’s wind farm projects located at Mudanjiang, Muling,
Siziwang Qi Phase | & Phase Il, Songxian and distributed solar project
located at Nanxun, all are located at the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC").

Unless otherwise stated, the reporting period of this report is from
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023, which is tantamount to the
reporting period covered in the Annual Report 2023.

REPORTING BOUNDARY

Following the updated reporting requirements of the Stock Exchange,
the Group has carefully evaluated its business entities and operations
based on the principle of materiality, and considered its core business
and main revenue sources. The scope of this ESG Report includes
the Group’s offices in Hong Kong and windfarms at Mudanjiang,
Muling, Siziwang Qi Phase | & Phase Il, Songxian and distributed solar
project at Nanxun. The Group’s operations in PRC are accountable for
majority of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 December
2023.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

ESG matters and reporting are overseen by the Board. The Board
periodically conducts ESG assessment by identifying potential
impacts, risks, and opportunities posed to the operation, reviews
senior management and functional departments’ competence in
executing ESG responsibilities.

The Group has the relevant departments to collect information,
fill in and report data through, among others, questionnaires and
researches. The Board has identified, reviewed and assessed the ESG
management approach and strategy, including the process used to
evaluate, priorities and manage material ESG-related issues, including
the ESG risks to the renewable energy business of the Group. The
Board has examined and assessed our performance in various
aspects within the ESG scope such as environmental, employment
and other social aspects. The Board has reviewed the progress made
against ESG-related goals and targets by benchmarking against the
ESG data within the industry and segmenting objectives and ensure
the effectiveness of the ESG risk control.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In view of the relevance and validity of the ESG Report with the
Group’s environmental and social performance, the Group has
conducted a materiality assessment to identify ESG issues that are
material to the business of the Group and its stakeholders. The
Group has assessed the principal operation of the renewable energy
business, which include wind power projects and distributed solar
project, to identify the material ESG factors in reference with the
stakeholder engagement. The material ESG issues as identified by
the Group include:

EEMM
ERNAREEANEENREREERRNA
FAIERANRE  AEEDETERMFTEMN
HAHAEEEHRENGERNEBER
MIRE  HEe@hERHEE AEECEFEA
BEEREBNIZLENN - BER S
BHEEAERDMAKGEER  U2EHN A
FhE2EBTEZMNRR HElkERHE
R ARBRMINERRE HERERE
BRI

The ESG Reporting Guide Material Issues

BB ERERBEES EEEE

Environment

BB

Al. Emission Emissions Control

Al BER PE BT

A2. Use of Resources Energy Management

A2. BIR{E R seRE IR

A3. The Environment and Natural Resources The Environment and Natural Resources
A3. RIE R RAEIR RERRAAER

A4. Climate Change Climate Change

Ad. EIRE 1L AR

Social

HE

B1. Employment Employment Practice

Bi. E1& 1% % 15 hte

B2. Health and Safety Occupational Health and Safety
B2. EHZZ BEEERELTE

B3. Development and Training Employees’ Continuous Development
B3. & &iET REZHBER

B4. Labour Standards Labour Standards

B4. & T %8| 4 T %R

B5. Supply Chain Management Supply Chain Management

B5. & 3 & 18 e e

B6. Product Responsibility Product Quality

B6. EmEE EmEE

B7. Anti-corruption Anti-corruption

B7. R&E S RE[

B8. Community Investment Corporate Social Responsibility
B8. @I E TrEMEEE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2023, the Group confirmed
that it has established appropriate management systems for ESG
issues and confirmed that the disclosed contents comply with the
requirements of the ESG Reporting Guide.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Creating value for our stakeholders has always been the core
mission of the Group. The Group pays attention to the demands and
expectations of its stakeholders, including our customers, investors,
suppliers, employees and communities, in the course of developing
business. The Group values the trust and support from stakeholders
as they are critical to the Group’s sustainable development. The Group
strives to maintain open and smooth communication channels for
both internal and external stakeholders. Through regular and effective
communications, stakeholders can better understand the Group’s
input and achievements. Meanwhile, the Group can also access
stakeholders’ opinions and integrate their opinions into the Group’s
management policies or strategic planning to continuously improve
our business operations.

In view of the renewable energy business of the Group, below is the
summary of the Group’s stakeholder communication mechanism:

Stakeholders Expectations and Requirements

NEBFHESHE
RMNBEFNENEEBEBERAEENZ
OfEm - ARBEERREBBERET  BHITE
F-&&E HER RENLRENDF
MENTRNYPL - AKBEGRNBFHNE
METNE  BAREFHAKENAFE
BREWEE - AKERNRAEEINEF
BN ERFFARRIRGENERRE - BB
EHEMNER NEHNHEATUNEFHT
EAKEORATAR - R NEEHA
NEBRMSERNENERL  IHEEFNER
MAREENEEBRIRAEARE - AT E
BERFINEHES -

ERANEBORAIBERRES  UTRAE
BRSO ESBREINHEE:

Key Communication Channels

MaEFeE HMEMER TEBBERE
Shareholders ° Return on investment Annual and extraordinary general meetings,
fi% &= & & @ 5] financial reports, announcements and
o Dividend payment circulars, company website, email
A% 2k 2% communication via info@cre987.com,
° Shareholders’ protection investor relations enquiry
M& SR AR BE BEBFRAEEREFNAE  HHER
. Transparency and communication HE-ANERBH-AEHU - BRER
FERAERER info@cre987.com * & E R EH
o Corporate governance and compliance
PEERESGH
Employees ° Remuneration and benefits Competitive salaries and staff benefits,
=] B X A& remuneration administrative measures,
° Long-term career development training and development, seminars,
REBERR employee activities, employees’ counselling,

o Job satisfaction and motivation

TEREERSN

° Occupational health & safety
BEREREATE

o Equal opportunities and diversity
FTE#ERZTE

health & safety management system and
regular performance appraisal, intranet
EBRFINTMRETIRMN  FHERRE
i FAIMER - Ae EEEY - EER
B RREZIEERBRALRTEHEUNE
%~ A B4
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (continued) MEFHhESHEE)

Stakeholders Expectations and Requirements Key Communication Channels
MEFmE HEMER FEBBERE

Customers Customer experience Customer satisfaction survey, email
=P HPEER communication via info@cre987.com,

Suppliers and
Contractors

HERS LA E

Government and
Regulators

Bk EE#E

Community

o

Product quality and reliability
EmEE NATEME
Feedbacks and complaints handling

f 88 F 4 A g 1

Supplier appointment

HEBEME

Performance of contract with ethics and
integrity

NERMHAENHTAEBTER

Stable business relationship
RENEBBAER

Fair operating practices and competition
NI EEBO LA THEF

Compliance with national policies, laws and
regulations

BFEREE  EBERER

Urban development

T R

Tax payment in full and on time

2B B BT R

Enhancement of community environment
HEMBIRIR

Environmental protection

RIBRE

Offer of employment opportunities

REREES
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customer complaint channel and project’s
community activity

Eﬁ?ﬁi?féﬁﬂﬁ B oA E OB
PI=R
&5 8

Procurement and tendering process,
supplier monitoring and assessment, site
visit, timely payment schedule, fulfilment
of obligations under any contract and
supplier’'s conference

RELRBEER HEBEZERFMGE - E
WER BRMNREREEX  BITEMNaRE
THEKELMEERSE

Information reporting, filings & notices,
government project, legal advisor
BRWBE - BEIEA - BTEE - EZ2E
A

Company website, community investment
plan, green energy operations, ESG report
NEPEY tEREFE - GERRES
RIE - HegkEemSE
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INFORMATION AND FEEDBACK

Shareholders, investors and the public can access the latest business
information on the website of the Group (http:/www.cre987.com). The
Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our ESG approach and
performance. Please provide us with your suggestions or share your
views with the Group by the following ways:

Post: 9/F., Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road,
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong

E-mail: info@cre987.com

Fax: (852) 2722 1323

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

Emissions

The Group has 738 MW of operating wind farms and a
distributed solar project in Gansu, Hebei, Heilongjiang,
Henan, Inner Mongolia and Zhejiang provinces. Most of our
projects are located in remote northern regions. They greatly
benefit the economic development of the local areas through
investment, by reducing local pollution and carbon emissions,
and by contributing to the local community through the hiring
of local staff who are given fair market-based remuneration
packages. In 2023, CRE’s operating assets complied with all
local environmental related regulatory requirements. With a
total electricity generation of 1,428.4 GWh, we have reduced
approximately 463,000 tons of coal consumption and 1,106,000
tons of carbon emission.

ERRRER

BR BREEREERARTRBAEER
i (http://www.cre987.com) E BR R T £ 15 &
e AEBEBOOF R FHERRMAIRE -
MtEkERAERRBIEHRE - FBBU
THAMBRMEREHNEZNEAERS =
g0k E e

B2 BB NBRARY H R E755% /4
ERL—HAE
Bt info@cre987.com
EE (852) 2722 1323
A. BIE
BE

AEBEHE I - BET ™
AR E NN IEEEA 738K E S
BESER—ESMHAKRGEEE - K
DEEHMRBERAILEE - REIE
BEMNREMSCELER - BRRDE
58 R BER - WIRBAFH TS
SHERZMET  BEEMEE - B
—E-=F - PEBARERNEEEE
HEZHWMBRERBEEGKD - &
PIEY 4823 F & 51,4284 H R - Hix
SH A = A e 2> £9463,000F -+ i HE AR
= 8 41,106,000 °
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

Emissions (continued)

We place importance on creating positive relationships with
stakeholders through understanding and addressing their
expectations. As one of the main foreign investors in China’s
renewable energy industry, we continue to maintain close
contacts with our stakeholders, including but not limited to
the Government (e.g. the NDRC and NEA at both national and
provincial level), local authorities (e.g. environmental and land
bureau) and State Grid Corporation through various meetings
to facilitate their understanding of our business, operations and
development direction.

The Group will continue to support the goal to decrease carbon
emissions by investing in various renewable energy projects. At
the same time, we will explore other means to further contribute
to the communities we operate in as the Group grows larger
and more profitable.

Under the KPIs A1 to A1.6 of the ESG Reporting Guide,
the Company is required to disclose the data on emissions,
direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas
emissions, total hazardous waste, total non-hazardous waste
and description of emission target(s) set and handle hazardous
and non-hazardous waste and a description of reduction
target(s) set.

As the principal activity of the Company is renewable energy
business (including wind power and distributed solar energy
business), the Company viewed that the KPIs A1.1 to A1.6 of the
ESG Reporting Guide are not material to the principal activities
of the Company and have not disclosed in this report.

Use of Resources

The Group aims at reducing the environmental impact of its
operations by identifying and adopting measures to improve
energy and resource efficiency. The Group is committed to
incorporating the concepts of resources conservation and
environmental protection into its business operations, and to
effectively utilising resources, reducing wastage, and controlling
wastes generation in its business and production processes
to achieve resource optimisation, to promote environmental
protection, and to reduce operating costs. The Group does
not generate any hazardous waste and water consumption is
minimal.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

Use of Resources (continued)

The Group actively implements the concept of energy-saving
and maintain efficient use of resources. To achieve this target,
the Group has also formulated rules and regulations to achieve
electricity conservation and efficient use of electricity among a
range of lighting, machinery and equipment, and air-conditioning
equipment. The Group applies the following energy saving
measures in the workplace:

° Lights and electrical appliances in living area or workplace
must be turned off when not in use.

° Staff is reminded to switch off lights and air-conditioning
in the meeting room and the computer at the workstation
when it is not in use.

° The room temperature is maintained at 25° C to save
energy.

° Video and telephone conferencing instead of face-to-face
meetings are arranged where possible.

° The Group encourages employees to reduce the use
of paper by assessing the necessity of printing, by
encouraging duplex printing where appropriate, and by
reusing the blank side of single-side printed paper.

Under the KPIs A2.1 to A2.4 of the ESG Reporting Guide, as
only a minimum amount of electricity and water were used for
renewable energy business, KPIs A2.1 (energy consumption
in total and intensity), A2.2 water consumption in total and
intensity), A2.3 (description of energy use efficiency initiatives
and results achieved) and A2.4 (description of whether there
is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency initiatives and results achieved) are immaterial to
the Group’s operation. For the Group’s wind power projects
in 2023, the energy consumption and water consumption of
wind power projects at Heilongjiang was 258,669KWh (2022:
229,656KWh) in total and 240 tonnes (2022: 240 tonnes) in total
respectively. The energy consumption of wind power project
at Siziwang Qi was 336,647.21KWh (2022: 360,203.16KWh)
in total. The energy consumption and water consumption
of wind power project at Songxian was 13,222KWh (2022:
16,678.9KWh) in total and 90m?® (2022: 91m?) in total
respectively.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

Use of Resources (continued)

Further, as no packaging material was used in the Group’s
operation, KPI A2.5 (total packaging material used for finished
products) is not applicable to the Group.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group pursues best practices with the environment and
focuses on the impact of its operations on the environment and
natural resources. The Group has also integrated the concept
of environmental protection into its internal management and
daily operation activities and is committed to achieving the goal
of environmental sustainability.

The main resources used by the Group in its daily operations
are energy consumption and water consumption, which have
been described in the section headed “Use of Resources” of
aspect A2. Apart from that, the Group will not use other natural
resources in large quantities.

The Group’s environmental impact and the use of natural
resources have always been highly valued and it hopes to
identify and mitigate the impact by considering sustainable
development in all of its affairs. The Group assesses the
potential environmental impacts to understand the footprint
identification and measurement management at the frontline
level. The energy generation facilities of the Group use the
natural resources of wind and solar in this power generation.
The Group conducts emergency planning and exercises
to reduce the risk of accidents and maintain its business
continuity.

Climate Change

The Group recognises the importance of the identification and
mitigation of significant climate-related issues, therefore, the
Group is committed to managing the potential climate-related
risks which may impact the Group’s business activities. The
Board has identified and evaluated climate-related risks and to
formulate strategies to manage the identified risks.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

Climate Change (continued)

The increased frequency and severity of extreme weather such
as storms and heavy rains can disrupt the Group’s operations,
leading to reduced capacity and decreased in productivity, or
expose the Group to risks associated with non-performance
and delayed performance. To minimise the potential risks and
hazards, the Group has precautionary measures during bad
or extreme weather conditions. The Group also anticipates
that there will be more stringent climate legislations and
regulations to support the global vision of carbon neutrality.
From a listed company’s perspective, we acknowledge
the increasing requirements of climate-related information
disclosures. One example is the recent update of the Stock
Exchange’s ESG Guide in respect to significant climate-related
impact disclosures of an issuer. Stricter environmental laws and
regulations may expose enterprises to higher risks of claims and
lawsuits. Corporate reputation may also decline due to failure
to meet the compliance requirements for climate change. In
response to the policy and legal risks as well as the reputation
risks, the Group regularly monitors existing and emerging
trends, policies and regulations relevant to climate to avoid cost
increments, non-compliance fines and reputational risks.

SOCIAL

The Group regards people as its most important asset. Over
the years, the Group has put considerable effort to provide a
safe and healthy staff environment for its employees. The Group
offers a comprehensive and competitive package of benefits to
attract and retain talent.

Employment

The Group has adopted an “Employee Handbook” which
sets out the practices and policies of human resources. The
Employee Handbook is in compliance with the PRC Labour
law, PRC Labour Contract Law, the Hong Kong employment
laws and other relevant employment laws and regulations.
The Employee Handbook covers areas such as compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, diversity, and other policies for the benefit of the
employees of the Company.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

Employment (continued)

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does not
discriminate on the basis of personal characteristics. Regardless
of race, color, descent, ethnic background, ethnic origin,
gender, age, nationality, disability, veteran status, citizenship and
religion, all job applicants and current employees enjoy equal
opportunities and fair treatment. The Group values the input
and contributions made by employees of all backgrounds.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has
complied with all the relevant rules and regulations in relation
to employment.

Under the KPIs B1.1 to B1.2 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the
Company is required to disclose the total workforce by gender,
employment type, age group and geographical region and
employee turnover rate. Below are the details of the employment
data of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023:

Total Workforce:

Gender:
Male Female
83.0% 17.0%

(2022: 81.4%) (2022: 18.6%)

Employment Type:

Full-time Part-time
100% 0%
(2022: 100%) (2022: 0%)

Age Group:
21-30 years old 31-40 years old 41-50 years old
21-30%% 31-40%% 41-507%

13.8% (2022: 19.6%) 48.9% (2022: 45.4%) 25.6% (2022: 23.7%)

13.8% (ZF = ZF :10.6%) 48.9% (ZF = —F : 45.4%) 25.6% (ZF = =% :23.7%) 9.6% (ZT = —F :10.3%)

Geographical Region:
PRC

87.2%
(2022: 85.6%)

Hong Kong
12.8%
(2022: 14.4%)
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B. SOCIAL (continued) B. #H&#)
Employment (continued) EBREE)

Employee Turnover Rate: 1ES 7k H R -

Gender: MR -

Male Female Bt zit

6.0% 0% 6.0% 0%

(2022: 9.3%) (2022: 1%) (ZF=F:93% (ZF=ZF:1%)
Age Group: FERAEF -

21-30 years old 31-40 years old 41-50 years old 51-60 years old Over 60 years old
21-305% 31-407; M-507% 51-6055 6057 S L

13.3% (2022: 4.1%) 4.2% (2022: 3.1%) 4.0% (2022: 3.1%) 0% (2022: 0%) 0% (2022: 0%)
18.3% (ZTZZF:41%) 42% (ZTZZ5F:31%) 4.0% (ZTZZF:31%) 0% (ZTZ_F:0%) 0% (ZZZZ%:0%)

Geographical Region:
Hong Kong PRC

7.7% 4.7%
(2022: 14.3%) (2022: 12.0%)

Health and Safety

The Group is committed to providing a safe, effective and
congenial work environment. Adequate arrangements, training
and guidelines are implemented to ensure the working
environment is healthy and safe. Different safety-related
initiatives and measures have been rolled out in the Company’s
operations. Risk assessments are also conducted to identify
risks in special working environments, while detailed safety
instructions have been formulated and communicated to
workers, including both employees and contractors as part of
their safety training sessions and pre-work risk assessment.
Safety officers are appointed to coordinate and communicate
safety-related matters to all workers on site.

The Company offers its employees comprehensive health care
coverage and also provides medical insurance coverage.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has
complied with all the relevant rules and regulations in relation
to occupational health and safety.
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SOCIAL (continueaq)

Health and Safety (continued)

Under the KPIs B2.1 to B2.3 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the
Company is required to disclose the number and rate of work-
related fatalities occurred in the past three years, lost days
due to work injury and description of occupational health and
safety measures adopted. Below are the details of the health
and safety data of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2028:

HE2®)

BREHEZZ(E)

BIFRE e hkERMERESINER
FERIEIZB21EB2.3 ARBAFEEB
E=FHENRIEBEMBTHAS
FibE - ATEERTEASIEME
MWBEREEZ2RE A5EE
BT+ -A=+—HILFER
FEZE2EEFBOT:

2023 2022 2021

—E-=F —E-= —E-—F

Number of work-related fatalites B T{ERJEMILT- A A E 0 0 0
Number of work injury cases THERMEE 0 0 1
Lost days due to work injury ATIEERIEHE 0 days 0 days 180 days
(1PN (0PN 180K

Work injury rate (%) T5%E (%) 0 0 0.01%

Due to the characteristics and working environment of the
renewable energy industry, the Company mainly adopts the
following measures to avoid occupational hazards: to provide
necessary protection and communication tools for safety
and security personnel, to provide labour protection supplies
for maintenance personnel, and to formulate safe operating
procedures and provide safety trainings for employees. The
Company implements safety education and safety precautions
and monitored by the executive committee of the Company
during the monthly management meeting.
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Development and Training

The Group encourages employees to attend training and
development programs to strengthen their job skills, to enhance
their professionalism, to improve their operational efficiency and
productivity, and to develop their potential and other talents.
In addition, the Group encourages and assists employees
to further develop their technical or professional standards
knowledge by sponsoring them for professional membership.
All applications for membership fee and training course fee
reimbursement will be considered depending on their degree
of importance to the employee’s job and their relevance to
the operational requirements of the employee’s department.
Continuous professional development training for directors and
senior management are required and the Group encourages
them to attend training programs organized by various
professional bodies.

Under the KPIs B3.1 to B3.2 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the
Company is required to disclose the percentage of employees
trained and the average training hours completed. As the
Company strongly recommends all employees to receive
continuous professional development and training according
to their work scope and the relevant training courses can be
reimbursed by the Company, the Company viewed that the KPls
B3.1 to B3.2 of the ESG Reporting Guide are not material to
the principal activities of the Company and have not disclosed
in this report.

Labour Standards

The Group’s employment practices has strictly complied with
the Labor Contract law of PRC, the Hong Kong employment
laws and other relevant laws and regulations to avoid child
or forced labour and other potential irregularities. During
recruitment, all job applicants are required to complete a job
application form and declare that all personal data provided
(including age and personal particulars) are true and correct.
The Group undertakes a detailed job reference check, if
needed.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has
complied with all the relevant rules and regulations in relation
to labour standards.
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Labour Standards (continued)

Under the KPIs B4.1 to B4.2 of the ESG Reporting Guide,
the Company is required to disclose the measures to avoid
child and forced labour and the steps taken to eliminate such
practices. As the Company has formulated specific recruitment
and human resources policies that prohibit the use of child
labour and forced labour, the Company viewed that the KPIs
B4.1 to B4.2 of the ESG Reporting Guide are not material to
the principal activities of the Company and have not disclosed
in this report.

Supply Chain Management

The Group is committed to ensuring that its supply chain
management is socially responsible. The Group has adopted
procurement procedures and practices to identify eligible
bidders through a detailed assessment of prospective bidders.
Factors considered include company size, qualifications,
financial strength, previous track record and whether various
safety, environmental and quality related internal systems and
qualifications (e.g. I1ISO) are in place. Qualified parties are then
allowed to participate in the procurement process. Suppliers are
chosen based on the supplier’s ability to guarantee satisfactory
product quantity and quality, price and ability to deliver services
on time. The Group closely monitors supplier’'s performance
and provides feedback where necessary.

Under the KPIs B5.1 to B5.4 of the ESG Reporting Guide,
the Company is required to disclose the number of suppliers,
practices relating to engaging suppliers, environmental and
social risks along the supply chain and practices to promote
environmentally preferable products. As the Company is
principally engaged in renewable energy sector, the Company
viewed that the KPIs B5.1 to B5.4 of the ESG Reporting Guide
are not material to the principal activities of the Company and
have not disclosed in this report.
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Product Responsibility

Maintaining high quality and standards are crucial to the Group’s
sustainable development. Reliability, safety, and quality of our
energy generation are crucial to the Group’s success. Therefore,
maintaining high availability and operating our wind and solar
assets efficiently to maximize our energy generation are the
Group’s major priorities.

During the construction of wind and distributed solar project,
the main equipment procured such as wind turbines and solar
panels are required to have completed all necessary testing
and qualifications certification in accordance with national
standards. At the same time, the Group has undertaken
production control and quality assurance examination of the
procured equipment to make sure of its product quality so as
to protect the interests of shareholders and customers.

The Group puts considerable effort in dealing with the core
issues that make us competitive as a renewable energy
operator, including safety, health, environmental and quality
standards, and operation & maintenance capability. The Group
continuously reviews its construction to ensure it is consistent
with the original project design.

With regard to the quality of construction and health and safety
standards, the Group strictly adheres to national and local
standards and the respective codes for construction inspection
and acceptance.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has
complied with all the relevant rules and regulations in relation
to health and safety, advertising, labelling, intellectual property
rights and privacy matters.
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Product Responsibility (continued)

Under the KPIs B6.1 to B6.5 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the
Company is required to disclose percentage of total products
sold or shipped subject to recalls, complaints on products
and services, intellectual property rights protection, quality
assurance, consumer data protection and privacy policies. As
the Company is principally engaged in renewable energy sector,
the Company viewed that the KPIs B6.1 to B6.5 of the ESG
Reporting Guide are not material to the principal activities of
the Company and have not disclosed in this report.

Anti-Corruption

The Group issued the “Code of Conduct & Business Ethics”
(the “Code”) to all the directors and employees of the Group.
The Code sets out the principles to guide the directors
and employees of the Group to conduct business affairs in
accordance with the highest business ethical standards. The
Group strives to preserve honesty, fairness and impartiality. In
accordance with the “Whistle-blowing Guideline”, all employees
can report for investigation any suspected bribery, extortion,
fraudulent and money laundering cases. Once confirmed,
it will be reported to the police or other regulatory bodies
for prosecution. The Group has also issued a “Policy on
Advantages Handling” with regard to guidelines for soliciting,
accepting or offering advantages and gifts by the directors
and employees. The Policy also provides guidelines for the
avoidance of any potential conflicts of interest or breaches of
any local laws, rules or regulations.

The Group strictly complied with the aforesaid principle,
relevant laws, rules and regulations throughout the year ended
31 December 2023 in relation to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering.

Under the KPI B7.1 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the Company
did not report any legal cases regarding corruption practices
during the reporting year.
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Anti-Corruption (continued)

Under the KPI B7.2 of the ESG Reporting Guide, all employees
can report for investigation any suspected bribery, extortion,
fraudulent and money laundering cases on no name basis.
The Company will not retaliate and will not allow any of its
employees to retaliate against any other employee who has
reported any concern. No employee who, in good faith, reports
a concern shall be subject to retaliation or adverse employment
consequences. Any allegation of retaliation should be reported
immediately to the office of the designated executive, and the
Company will take swift response to it, including investigation
and, once confirmed, immediate disciplinary action against any
violators.

Under the KPI B7.3 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the Company
had issued and updated the “Whistle-blowing Guideline” to all
employees. The Group had provided the anti-corruption training,
guides and information.

Community Investment

The Group is committed to participating in the community
where we operate with an aim to improve the community’s
well-being. The corporate social responsibility forms part of the
corporate culture of the Group. Through the hiring of locals
using market compatible remuneration packages, the Group is
able to share its operational returns with the local community
and to contribute back to the society.

The Group will explore other means to contribute more to
the environment and society once the Group achieves higher
profitability. To create shared values with the community and
stakeholders, the Company will continue to consider ESG
factors in selecting future investment projects.

Under the KPIs B8.1 to B8.2 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the
Company is required to disclose the focus areas of contribution
and resources contributed. As the nature of the Company’s
renewable energy business is closely connected to the welfares
of the local community, the Company viewed that the KPIs
B8.1 to B8.2 of the ESG Reporting Guide are not material to
the principal activities of the Company and have not disclosed
in this report.
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EEEHRES

The directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) of China Renewable
Energy Investment Limited (the “Company”) have pleasure in
presenting to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) their
report together with the audited financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activity
of the Group is renewable energy business. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries and associated companies are set out in pages
176 to 178 of the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of
the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December 2023
by geographical and business segments is set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
pages 97 to 98.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HKO0.5 cents (2022: HKO0.5 cents) per ordinary share for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (the “2023 Final Dividend”) to
Shareholders. Subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the
forthcoming 2024 annual general meeting (the “2024 AGM”) and
subject to further announcement(s) in respect to the book closure
date, record date and payment date, the proposed 2023 Final
Dividend is expected to be distributed to Shareholders on or before
21 June 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business Risk

As a long term investor-operator in the renewable energy sector, the
Group is subject to Chinese government supportive policies, climate,
economy and other execution risks.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Foreign Exchange Risk

Most of the Group’s assets are denominated in Renminbi. The
Group conducts a majority of its business operations in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”). The major portion of revenue,
expenses and debts are denominated in Renminbi. Fluctuations in
the exchange rates of Renminbi would have limited impact on the
Group’s operations.

Compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
The Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations during
the year.

Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers

To retain the most productive and beneficial environment for
employees, the Group provides its staff with competitive remuneration
packages that are commensurate with individual responsibilities,
qualifications, experience and performance. The Group has a good
relationship with its customers which are the grid companies. Through
regular communication channels, the Group ensures the electricity
dispatched can be invoiced. For the suppliers, they are mainly the
maintenance providers, they provide services to our wind farms to
ensure the safety systems and the wind farms are operating reliably.

Please also refer to pages 10 to 12 for business review on the Group’s
operation and wind farms.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company (“Articles of Association”) and there is no
restriction against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in Note 22 and Note 30 respectively to
the consolidated financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2023,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands (as revised), amounted to HK$799.3 million (2022: HK$919.6
million).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on pages 179 to 180.

DONATIONS
During the year, the Group made no charitable and other donations
(2022: Nil).

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel (resigned on 15 November 2023)
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy

Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo

Mr. TIAN Yuchuan

Mr. ZHANG Songyi

At the 2024 AGM, Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy and Mr. CHENG
Yuk Wo will retire from office by rotation in accordance with Article 85
of the Articles of Association and being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 313 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) and the Company considers all of them to be
independent.

80 china Renewable Energy Investment Limited | Annual Report 2023

A it 2 K 1 48

&V% BHE(RalZ) B E - &
NN E-_=F+_A=+—HzA#
2k 8 5799,300,0008 L (ZE = —

919,600,000 Jt) °

EFHBEHRE
AEBBERAAVBRFEZEEUREER
BEHBEHNEI79E E FE1808H -

B
FR - AEBVEENEEREMBR(ZE
T E) o

=

FAREBEEARESET AR ZESO T

HITES

%m%iéfﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁ)
BRGEE(R-E-=F1—H+HHBE)

EEE%E

TEIG R E

BYKHTES
BE ML
HEII%E
REFITE

ROZE-_NFEFRFRAFREL SEREALE
RBHFMELEBRBAGSIZAAESSHZ

MEMBESE ERENFAER  LBEE
BB -

RARERESBIUERTESRET B
AERGHBRAT (B ES EmRA
((EMHRADEIBEHEBLEFHBL ZF
EHERE ARARATEBYIENTES
B EBI AL -



Report of the Directors
EEeREE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2024 AGM has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

At 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules adopted by the Company were as follows:

(i) Long positions in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company:
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Mr. OEl Kang, Eric Corporate 1,833,696,937" 73.168%
B k& NS
Joint 41,661,4392 1.662%
#*A
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy Joint 2,051,401° 0.082%
BEEREE #*A
Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel Personal 8,5504 0.001%
FERESE A

hEBLEEREARAT | —2-=say 81



Report of the Directors

ExeREE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continuea)
Long positions in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company: (continued)

(i)

Notes:

Since as at 31 December 2023, HKC (Holdings) Limited (“HKC”) was held
as to (i) approximately 67.829% by Claudio Holdings Limited (“Claudio”)
(via its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Creator Holdings Limited (“Creator”)
and Genesis Capital Group Limited (“Genesis”)), a company wholly-owned
by Mr. OEl Kang, Eric; and (i) approximately 32.171% by Great Nation
International Limited (“Great Nation”) (via its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Genesis Ventures Limited (“Genesis Ventures”)), a company owned as to
50% by Mr. OEl Kang, Eric and as to the remaining 50% by his wife, Mrs.
OEl Valonia Lau. As thus, Mr. OEl Kang, Eric is deemed to be interested
in the same parcel of shares of the Company (the “Shares”) in which
HKC is interested.

The corporate interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents (i) an interest
in 1,403,352,050 Shares held by HKGC; (i) an interest in 154,278,990
Shares held by Creator; and (i) an interest in 276,065,897 Shares held
by Genesis.

The joint interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest in

41,661,439 Shares jointly held with his wife, Mrs. OEI Valonia Lau.

The joint interest of Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy represents an interest
in 2,051,401 Shares jointly held with his wife, Mrs. WONG Hongmei Guo.

The personal interest of Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel represents an interest
in 8,550 Shares.
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Report of the Directors
EEeREE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued)
(ii) Long positions in the shares and underlying shares
of associated corporation of the Company:

Name of associated corporation Name of Director

Nature of interest

EENTBHFZ2ERH)
(i) MAAERDQTHEEEBE RO RERERG
A

Approximate
percentage of
existing issued
share capital of
the associated
corporation

Number of shares
and underlying
shares of the
associated
corporation

EHEBELEERE
HELIEROR BERTRAHLN
BB EERE EEnR BHEME HEROGEAE BOH
HKC (Holdings) Limited Mr. OEl Kang, Eric  Corporate 511,074,246' 100.000%
EERRER)ERAR FE & A& NS
Note: B 5 -
1. The corporate interest of Mr. OEI Kang, Eric represents (i) an interest in 1. EMEE 2 RAREEER)BEIEREZ

208,445,407 shares of HKC held by Creator; (i) an interest in 143,212,531
shares of HKC held by Genesis; and (jii) an interest in 164,416,308 shares
of HKC held by Genesis Ventures.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries, its parent company
or its other associated corporations a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors and chief executives of the Company (including
their spouse and children under 18 years of age) to hold any interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or its specified undertakings or other associated
corporation.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ Interests in
Securities” above, at no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that enabled
the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of
18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

None of the Directors or their respective associate(s) was interested in
any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group during the year.

203,445,407 IR BB EZE RO ()BE
Bl B 2143,212,53108 & /& = & I 1) #E
7+ R (iii) R 22 Al Bl 2 45 5 2. 164,416,308 %
BEEREBRDER -

B E X EES  RAFERETMER - &
REEMEAR  EHRAWEBAR - £
DA HEMAABAEB BRI L EM LT
FEARREZREIZTRAB(BRREZE
BRIBEA T ZFRZINARR « HigHARE
SHMBBEE 2B HERDIESFP
BEEERIRE -

EERERONBESFZER

REXEENEH2Em | —HWREEIN
RERNEMER - NAF K EEFKBRF
BMETVERNRHE BEEEFIRESTELZ
FBHIBERA T ZFRAIEBARNRF S
MEMEABRZ KD EFMES

EESEBRFRB2ER
FABBEFUARESAIBEALRENR

SENEFE RS EEBRRAEENEF
ZIEREBHRBES -
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ExeREE

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in Note 27 “Related party transactions” to the
consolidated financial statements, the transactions with HKC and
its subsidiaries and in which Mr. OEl Kang, Eric was interested,
no contract of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the following persons (other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in
the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares

EERERBRRRERGHZESR

BiR e B mRM 27 BT X5 | PRk &
EFO BEBEZRNEWB AR L&MW L
EREFHAEEDE RPN ARFIHEAE
MMEARB B LEMNESNERERER
MEEEEA R  MRNFEBRFINA
FERNEAREFENEREGD -

FERRRESFZ2ERS

R-ZE-=F+-"F=+—8 UTAL(E
FRARAEBITRABRIN RRHRAEE
P #EEEELRELFREEE55336
BREATEFEZECMZERI AR

REGOERAEBERG 2FR

Approximate
percentage of
the existing

Number of issued share
Shares and capital of the
Name Nature of interest underlying Shares Company
EXRARREE
BITRABN
BE BB ERME RO REERGEE Bk
Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau Family 1,833,696,937" 73.168%
2EZ 4+ K &
Joint 41,661,4392 1.662%
#*[AE
Claudio Holdings Limited Corporate 1,833,696,937° 73.168%
~A]
HKC (Holdings) Limited Beneficial owner 1,403,352,0504 56.000%
EAER(HER)BERAR EmEB A
Genesis Capital Group Limited Beneficial owner 276,065,897 11.016%
EEEEEGRAA BEmEREA
Creator Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 154,278,990° 6.156%

RlEEEBRAR
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EEeREE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES (continued)
Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares

(continued)
Notes:

1. Mrs. OEIl Valonia Lau is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of Shares
in which Mr. OEl Kang, Eric is taken to be interested (as detailed in “Directors’
Interests in Securities” section above).

2. The joint interest of Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau represents an interest in 41,661,439
Shares jointly held with Mr. OEI Kang, Eric.

3. Claudio is beneficially interested in approximately 67.829% of the issued share
capital of HKC (via its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Creator and Genesis) and
thus, is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of Shares in which HKC is
interested. In addition, as Creator and Genesis are wholly-owned subsidiaries
of Claudio, and thus, Claudio is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of
Shares in which Creator and Genesis are interested.

4. The beneficial interest of HKC represents an interest in 1,403,352,050 Shares.
5. The beneficial interest of Genesis represents an interest in 276,065,897 Shares.
6. The beneficial interest of Creator represents an interest in 154,278,990 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2023, the Company had
not been notified by any person, other than Directors and chief
executive of the Company, who had interests or short positions in
the Shares and underlying Shares which are required to record in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336
of Part XV of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

Apart from those disclosed under the heading “Related Party
Transactions” in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements,
no contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

FTERRAEBS Z2HER B
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B 3 :
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The percentages of the Group’s purchases and sales for the year
attributable to its major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases
The largest supplier 17%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate 46%

Sales

During the year, the Group had five customers only and the
percentages of the Group’s sales attributable to the major customers
are as follows:

44%
56%

The largest customer
The remaining customers

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or Shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s
customers and suppliers noted above.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 21 to 58.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Specified
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Group are also subject to compliance with
guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code. A Code
for Securities Dealings by Employees has also been adopted in this
regard.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
Information on the Group’s retirement benefits schemes is set out in
Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report,
there is sufficient public float of more than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director and other
officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/
she may incur or sustain in or about the execution of the duties
of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that the
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to any of said persons. The Company
has arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify the Group’s
Directors for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

REVIEW OF THE ANNUAL REPORT BY AUDIT
COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company currently comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors with written terms of reference
in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules, and reports
to the Board.

The audit committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”) had resigned as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 3 December 2021. On 3 December 2021,
the Board resolved, as recommended by the audit committee of
the Company, to propose the appointment of Moore Stephens CPA
Limited (now renamed as “Moore CPA Limited”) as the auditor of
the Company to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of
PwC and to hold office until the conclusion of the 2022 AGM. On 30
December 2021, the appointment of Moore Stephens CPA Limited
as the Company’s auditor was approved at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company. At the 2022 AGM on 2 June 2022, the
re-appointment of Moore Stephens CPA Limited as auditor of the
Company was approved by the shareholders of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been audited by Moore CPA Limited who retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Moore CPA Limited as auditor of the
Company is to be proposed at the 2024 AGM, subject to the approval
of the shareholders of the Company at the 2024 AGM.
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UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, change in the
information of the Director since the date of the 2023 Interim Report
is set out below:

Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel
(Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel has resigned as an executive director

of the Company with effect from 15 November 2023 and the chief
financial officer of the Company with effect from 31 December 2023.

On behalf of the Board
China Renewable Energy Investment Limited
OEl Kang, Eric

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B %A HRE

& MOORE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA RENEWABLE ENERGY
INVESTMENT LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Renewable Energy Investment Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
97 to 178, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as
a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters.

Moore CPA Limited

801-806 Silvercord, Tower 1,
30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

T +8522375 3180
F +852 2375 3828

www.moore.hk
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRESNEE

BREETEEHA

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMETERRNTEHBREESS IR

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use
assets related to power plants in the Mainland
China, which have impairment indicators
RAPBAEREREANEERETRR Z2YE - #EE
REHE BEREERCAREEETRENME

Refer to Note 2.7 and 4(a) to the consolidated financial
Statements

B2 E BB KN 22.7R4()

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s non-current assets
principally comprised property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and right-of-use assets related to power
plants in the Mainland China. Management considered
impairment indicators existed for certain power plants and
performed impairment assessments on these power plants
accordingly.

MRZZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H X EBEEENFRDEEE
EORFRTREAENESHREBOYE  BERZE  BF
BERMAEEE BEEERRGETEEHEREERE
PR WHZEFBRERET THEBNBERME -

Management assessed whether there was any impairment
of the carrying values of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and right-of-use assets by calculating
the recoverable amount under value in use method. The
impairment assessment requires management to exercise
significant management judgement and estimates, among
other things, estimating correspondingly future electricity
price, future sales volume and discount rate.
ERERBRAERAEBEAEFENLKREE  TED
¥ HMELRE BREEARGTAREENREER
BEEEMARBE REFGEEREREELERNE IR
ALt AP BEMFTHENRRENER - RKHE
EREEHEX-

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets and right-of-use assets related to relevant power
plants in the Mainland China included:
NEBEEBHPRARENZEMAEENYE  HERE
W BEEEAREREEEETREN G ZEBRF
B

° Understanding and evaluating the design and
implementation of the entity’s key controls on the
process of impairment assessment of the power
plants, which have impairment indicators;

. TR GBS ENF AR E TR EE R E
AR ERESRTRE

o Understanding the valuation basis, methodology
used and underlying assumptions applied to the
discounted cash flow models;

. THMBEReRTEANGEERESE FAAEARMN
RABBRR:
o Reviewing the valuation report from the

independent qualified valuer in determining the
discount rates applied;

. EHBUIAERMMEMZHERS - UETE K
P BB

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent qualified valuer;

s FIEBUAEBRMBEMZIER EARFEBIE:

° Evaluating the reasonableness of assumptions
underpinning the discounted cash flow models,
including management’s business plan, expectation
of market development, projection of volume of
electricity dispatched and average annual electricity
price;

e HEXHUHABReRRENBRZAENL 81
ERENEBE mBEREH  BEEME
NEHYEE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
HRETBE

BREETSEEHA

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMETERRNTEHBEREETEE

During the year ended 31 December 2023, impairment
losses of HK$19.8 million, HK$0.3 million and HK$0.5
million have been recognised against the carrying amounts
of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and
right-of-use assets based on the impairment assessment.
RBE_Z_=F+_A=+—-HILFE ERBRET
EetE BRELRE BREERAEEEZRE
1B 1 R R (B &5 #519,800,0007% 7T ~ 300,0007% 7T 52500,000
BT e

Valuation of interests in associates

RBERT 2 EEMGE

Refer to Note 2.7 and 4(c) to the consolidated financial
Statements

ELR AN E2.784(c)

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of interests
in associates amounted to HK$824.2 million, which
represented approximately 36.6% of the Group’s total
assets due to the significance of the Group’s interests
in associates in the context of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
RZTEZ=F+=ZA=+—8"
/824,200,000 7T - HHER EHE
HEY BEEERBLEARIERYE B5£EF
MEBEKX -

REtERA) 2w REE
SEMBEEEX36.6% T
BMBHE

° Involving our internal valuation experts to assess
the reasonableness of the discount rates applied in
determining the value in use of the power plants,
which have impairment indicators; and

s BHMOAHNGEEZERFILEEFERETRH
BEM o EREBEMANMBRENSEN R

° Reperforming the arithmetical accuracy of the
calculation of the discounted cash flow models.

o ENRERRRERENNGTEEEN LA ERE
’|":Lt o

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of interests in

associates included:

RRBERR cERHEZHBEREFBHE:

o Assessed the appropriateness of the
management’s accounting for interests in

associates;

J TEEEERRNBERARIIEEN ST RER
B

o Understood and evaluated the management’s

process for identifying the existence of impairment
indicators in respect of the interests in associates;

J THRERIHEREENNBE R I ERERF
EREDR 2B

o Assessed the impairment assessment methodology
used by the management to estimate value in use;

e HEREEMECREERKBORMENETE
EITR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
HRETEE

BREETEEHA

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEMETERRNAEHERETER

Interests in associates are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associates, less
impairment in the values of individual investments. As
such, the Group is required to assess at the end of each
reporting period whether there is any indication that the
carrying amount of interests in associates may be impaired.
For those associates in which such indication exists, the
Group assessed the carrying amounts for impairment.
REBERBIZERBEKARGEEMBRRKINE Kb
BETHEAER ESEREHENT 2 BE RAM
2EBA BEERKEEENRE Bt EBESEE
AR ERENREEFEEMNTREBETNEE AR2
ERBREE LR BE - st FESR BT R &S5
ERRME BESEEETHRENEREE-

Management assessed whether there was any impairment
of the carrying values of investments in associates
by calculating the recoverable amount under value
in use method. The impairment assessment requires
management to exercise significant management
judgement and estimates, among other things, estimating
correspondingly, future electricity price, future sales volume
and discount rate.
ERERBRBERBEREFENLEKERE  FHERN
BERNRZRENKREEES FAEMEMBE - REH
EREBEENERNERAE NG - HhBREMAE
JEHIRKRENER - RKHEBRPFHE X o

During the year ended 31 December 2023, impairment
losses of HK$10.0 million have been recognised against
the carrying amounts of investments in associates based
on the impairment assessment.
RBZE_Z_=F+_A=+—HILFE ERBRET
LB 2 A E 2% & 2 BRE (B #E 2R 8 &5 810,000,000
BT e

Where indicators of impairment have been
identified, assessed the reasonableness of
the recoverable amounts of that associate,
including the key inputs and assumptions used
in the associate’s discounted cash flows, which
the management used for their estimation of
recoverable amounts of the associate.

fit 2 5%k RIRLE BF &R - BIFF b 5% 5t & 2 5] 2 7] B
THEoAREN BEEEEMIHME QAR TR
CHEAZHEARUMBRERIRNEEZRHA
IR KRR -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R - E S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R - E S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R - E S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B R B AT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT

OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

Moore CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

Kong Shao Fung
Practicing Certificate Number: P07996

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

REETHEWARRE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_ T -_=F+-_A=1+—HLFE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 FEx FET
Revenue e 2 5 181,337 197,184
Cost of sales HEK R 7 (129,192) (132,519)
Gross profit EX 52,145 64,665
Other income Heab g A 5 6,012 6,558
Other losses HiEsE 6 (30,620) —
Administrative expenses THER 7 (37,405) (54,196)
Operating (loss)/profit ce(ER),RF (9,868) 17,027
Finance income FBWA 8 3,916 1,791
Finance costs B & AR 8 (28,081) (36,173)
Finance costs — net MEKAE - FH 8  (24165) (34382
Share of results of associates JE(REEE AR £ &R 18 57,100 54,497
Profit before income tax P 15 %t A & 7 23,067 37,142
Income tax expense FEHRZE 11 (4,277) (7,323)
Profit for the year r*&EERN 18790 20819
Other comprehensive loss Hth2HEER
ltems that will not be reclassified subsequently #% T & R E & B3
to profit or loss DEEERCIER
Currency translation differences of the ARAIREMBARZ
Company and its subsidiaries ERMEER (29,162) (75,732)
Currency translation differences of BENR ERBRE
associates =8 (17,858) (74,543)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net AFEHM2EES -
of tax it o e (150.275)
Total comprehensive loss for the year rEEXEEBREEE (28,230) (120,456)
Profit/(loss) attributable to: LT AR RER(F8)
Equity holders of the Company ARRIERFEA 23,281 31,111
Non-controlling interests FEiz e e (4,491) (1,292)
18,790 29,819
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
REREBARSE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+4+_A=+—HILLFE

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-=
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
P 5 TET FET
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: MU TEAE2EEE A
Equity holders of the Company KRREEREA (23,802) (119,214)
Non-controlling interests IR ES (4,428) (1,242)
(28,230) (120,456)
Earnings per share attributable to equity AFEXAEEZFEAE
holders of the Company for the year EBRABR
(expressed in HK cents per share) (BRIEWIITR)
Basic and diluted earnings per share EREARBERA 12 0.93 1.24
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEMBMRRE
As at 31 December 2023
RZEZ=F+=H=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= —F- -
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FAET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment N Y YN 14 873,421 1,009,094
Construction in progress EREIR 15 364 49
Right-of-use assets FRHEEE 16 13,451 10,768
Intangible assets BEAE 17 1,372 2,319
Prepayments and other receivables & < 5t & E th g U 3% 19 17,259 25,990
Interests in associates REERA 2= 18 824,173 854,442
Total non-current assets rhnEERE 00000000 1,730,040 1,902,662
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 11,541 10,357
Trade and other receivables & I BR 3k K E th B 5K 19 345,343 473,566
Cash and cash equivalents e RBEEEEYD 20 164,290 232,414
Total current assets reeE##®E 00 521,174 716,337
Total assets EEHARE 2,251,214 2,618,999
EQUITY E=
Capital and reserves attributable to AQATEZEFHEAEWL
equity holders of the Company EXR#E
Share capital LN 21 25,062 25,062
Reserves 1 22 1,857,064 1,893,397
Equity attributable to equity AT ERIEBEAEM
holders of the Company &&= 1,882,126 1,918,459
Non-controlling interests IE 2 iR R 2 (8,145) (3,717)
Total equity R 1,873,981 1,914,742
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
mEMBRRER

As at 31 December 2023
R-ZZE-_=%F+-A=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= —F- -
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 FERT FHET
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Bank borrowings RITHE X 23 244,461 296,257
Deferred income tax liabilities BRIEFSHAR 25 32,669 32,301
Total non-current liabilities ERBEBHEE 2717130 328,558
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables FE A~ BR 30 N E M FE S 3R 26 55,045 61,507
Current portion of bank borrowings R 17 f& s BN EAZB 7> 23 43,339 144,612
Amount due to a shareholder R — B R HIE 24 - 167,931
Current income tax liabilities BIHAFTIS R B & 1,719 1,649
Total current liabilities REBEERAE 1004003 375,699
Total liabilities &&= 377,233 7777777777777777777 704257
Total equity and liabilities ERRkABEASE 2,251,214 2,618,999
OEIl Kang, Eric WONG Jake Leong, Sammy
= [l EER
Director Director
EZE EZE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REERBEHR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_ T -_=F+-_A=1+—HLFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ENRREEEAEN
Non-
Share Share Exchange Statutory Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve  earnings Total interests equity
BE ROEE ER#E LERE HREERF B FERER RRAHE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HK$000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER TER TER TER TERr
(Note)
(H#t)
Balance at 1 January 2022 RoB--E-A-R2kH% 25062 925856 102208 20,612 976,466 2,050,204 (2.475) 2,047,729
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERFN /(BB - - - - 31,111 31,111 (1,292) 29,819
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: Hi2E(EE) /KA
Currency translation differences of the FRAREMBERRZ
Company and its subsidiaries ERAEER - - (75782 - - (75782 50 (75732
Currency translation differences of HENRCERREEE
associates - - (74,543) - - (74,543) - (74,543)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2E(ER)/ WALE - - (150,325) = 3111 (119,214) (1,242)  (120,456)
Transactions with owners BEBAETZRS
Transfer to statutory reserve EREETRE - - - 7,465 (7,465) - - -
Dividend paid BRRE - = = — (12531 (12,531) - (12531)
Balance at 31 December 2022 R-B--H+-A=+-B2&HB 25062 925856  (48117) 28077 987,581 1,918,459 @B717) 1,914,742
Balance at 1 January 2023 W-B-=F-B-R2&t 25062 925856  (48117) 28,077 987,581 1,918,459 3,717) 1,914,742
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERF/(BB) - - - - 23,281 23,281 (4,491) 18,790
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: Ht2E(FE)|WA:
Currency translation differences of the FRAREMBERRZ
Company and its subsidiaries ERREER - - (29,225) - - (29,225 63 (29,162
Currency translation differences of BERRICERAGER
associates - - (17,858) - - (17,858) - (17,858)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2E(FEE)/ WAEH - - (47,083) - 23,281  (23,802) (4,428)  (28,230)
Transactions with owners BEBAETZRS
Transfer to statutory reserve BRZEATHE - - - 4,002 (4,002) - - -
Dividend paid B S - - - - (12,531)  (12,531) - (12,531)
Balance at 31 December 2023 RIBZZFFZAZ+-BZER 25062 925856 (95,2000 32,079 994,329 1,882,126 (8,145) 1,873,981
Note: The Group’s subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) are  Afst: AEBEFEARIME(THEDOHBEARTA

required to allocate at least 10% of net profit according to their PRC audited

financial statements to a statutory reserve fund until the balance of such reserve

has reached 50% of the subsidiaries’ registered capital. Any further appropriation
is optional. The statutory reserve fund shall only be used for making up losses
or for capitalisation into share capital, provided that the remaining balance is not
less than 20% of the registered capital of the entity after such capitalisation.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_ T -_=F+-_A=1+—HLFE

2023 2022
—_E=-= —F-=
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5E FTHERT FAT
Cash flows from operating activities KE FEB2RERE
Cash generated from operations KREMSRE 28(a) 138,023 162,941
Mainland China taxation paid B A B K e B 1R (5,829) (7,500)
Net cash generated from operating LEEBMEBR S5
activities 132,194 155,441
Cash flows from investing activites REZFEH2HESHRE
Dividend received from associates U EE & QR B 169,274 60,480
Interest received 2 UF B 3,874 1,786
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWHE  HWERRE
plant and equipment Fr 5 IR 784 197
Purchase of property, plant and A - B REE
equipment (16,259) (8,240)
Purchase of construction in progress B AFEE T2 (320) =
Purchase of intangible assets BAEBFREAE (59) (31)
Net cash generated from investing KEFSFEHRESFHE
activities 157,294 54,192
Cash flows from financing activities BMEEFB2HRERE
Repayment of amount due to a EEREN—BRERIE
shareholder (165,000) -
Repayment of bank borrowings EEERITER (145,096) (142,651)
Interest paid for bank borrowings B RITERF A (19,877) (28,170)
Dividend paid B E (12,531) (12,531)
Interest paid for amount due to a BEM—BRERE
shareholder Z A B (10,990) (6,544)
Drawdown of bank borrowings RARITER — 25,000
Net cash used in financing activities BMERDAARS FE (353,494) (164,896)
Net increase in cash and cash ReRBE&EEYWEM
equivalents FHE (64,006) 44,737
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—HBZH & KRS
EEY 232,414 197,182
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [E & & 8 52 & (4,118) (9,505)
Cash and cash equivalents at R+t=ZA=+t—-8%2
31 December REeRREEEY 164,290 232,414
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GENERAL INFORMATION

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited (the “Company” or
“CRE”) is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability. The address of the registered
office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are
principally engaged in renewable energy business. The Group
has operations mainly in the PRC.

The shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The intermediate holding company is HKC (Holdings) Limited
(*HKC”), a company incorporated in Bermuda. The ultimate
holding company is Claudio Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The ultimate controlling
party is Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, who is also the chairman, chief
executive officer and executive director of the Company.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$ thousand or
HK$’000), unless otherwise stated. These consolidated financial
statements were approved for issue by the board of directors
of the Company (the “Board”) on 27 March 2024.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The summary of material accounting policy information applied
in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of CRE have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain material accounting
judgements. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

21

(a)

Amendments to standards adopted by the
Group

HKFRS 17
(including the October
2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting

Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12

International Tax Reform - Pillar
Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Policies
Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group's
financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

2

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2

INFORMATION (continued)
Basis of preparation (continued)

21

(@)

Amendments to standards adopted by the
Group (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for
the first time in the current year. HKAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements is amended
to replace all instances of the term "significant
accounting policies" with "material accounting
policy information”. Accounting policy information
is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of
the related transactions, other events or conditions,
even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not
all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself
material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the "Practice Statement") is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the
"four-step materiality process" to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about
an accounting policy is material to its financial
statements. Guidance and examples are added to
the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance.

EXSTHRENBE®)

21

mBEE(E)
(@ AKERMZEBET
(&)

EREE &G ERIE1TER
BB EBEEREHH
FE2RNEET [ BRI Z
REIZZE

AEEERANFEERER
ZEER - BB GTER
FIRIHBRERZ 2512
ERTATER G RERE#
BB EESTHE]F
R HEHBREMNE—
EER M B RERAED
Hib BRI —HEEE - AIA
BEMerE-—RARY
BHRREBEBEREZ
FMBHRAFELHIRE - A
EBREMREKN -

ZEER]INEIR » SRTER
ERARAERRS  HitE
HREANEEMBER -
BfE S BIETEX - R -
WIFABERBEARS « Hit
ENSABRABABENEF R
REMAGHBEK ° HE
BEERBEFERNGTH
REHR AZEFERTE
BEEAETHRER -

BEAVBREEMNEL R
EHR25R[1F B A H
(BHHEDHLERT - A
HAERMAEIOFEX
HERR Fr ) B R & AT BUR 3
B wHEEEEEERD
EMBHETHERERETA
BEAEE - EH®RETE
MALESI RBIF -

ERAZEFETHAKREDN
A %5 AR R R 3R 3 R B K

B 488
= °

hEBEEREARAT | —=-=#4% 105



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2
INFORMATION (continuea)

21
(b)

Basis of preparation (continued)

New standard and amendments to standards
have been issued but are not effective for the
financial year beginning on 1 January 2023 and
have not been early adopted

The following new standard and amendments to
standards have been published and are mandatory
for the accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023 or later periods, but the Group has

not early adopted them:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continuea)

21
(b)

Basis of preparation (continued)

New standard and amendments to standards
have been issued but are not effective for the
financial year beginning on 1 January 2023 and
have not been early adopted (continued)

The Group has not early adopted the new standard
and amendments to standards, which have been
issued but are not effective for the financial
year beginning on 1 January 2023. The Group
has already commenced an assessment on the
impact of these new standard and amendments
to standards, and expected that the adoption of
those new standard and amendments to standards
will not have any significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial information in the current or
future reporting periods.

2.2 Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries made
up to 31 December.

(@)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(@)

Subsidiaries (continued)

The Group uses the acquisition method of
accounting to account for business combinations.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred. |dentifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired
in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in the profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(@)

(b)

Subsidiaries (continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position (see
Note 30), investments in subsidiaries are accounted
for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. It is adjusted
to reflect changes in consideration arising from
contingent consideration amendments. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s
net assets including goodwill.

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates
are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying
amount is increased or decreased to recognise the
investor’'s share of the profit or loss of the investee
after the date of acquisition. The Group’s interests in
associates include goodwill identified on acquisition.
Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in an
associate, any difference between the cost of the
associate and the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(b)

Associates (continued)

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-
acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the
profit or loss, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is
recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount
of the investment. When the Group’s share of
losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest
in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that the
investment in the associate is impaired. If this
is the case, the Group calculates the amount
of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying
value and recognises the amount adjacent to “share
of results of associates” in the income statement.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continuea)

2.2

2.3

24

Consolidation (continued)

(b) Associates (continued)
Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in
associates are recognised in profit or loss.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within other income or other and
general expenses in profit or loss.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the Group’s
most senior executive management that makes strategic
decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(@) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (“the functional currency”).
The Company’s functional currency is Renminbi
and the Company’s presentation currency is Hong
Kong dollars to facilitate analysis of the financial
information of the Group, which is listed in Hong
Kong.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)
(c) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i)

(i)

(i)

assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the reporting date;

income and expenses for each statement
of comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate. Cumulative
exchange differences arising are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment, comprising leasehold
improvements, plant and machinery, motor vehicles and
furniture, fixtures and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment (continueqd)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method, to write off their
cost less the residual values over their estimated useful
lives or remaining useful lives for those second-hand
assets and the estimated useful lives are as follows:

Shorter of the remaining
operation period or 20 years

Electricity utility plants

Other plant and machinery 5 years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of the remaining lease

period or 5 years

Furniture, fixtures and 3-5 years
equipment
Motor vehicles 3-5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Subsequent costs are included in the carrying amount
of the asset or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other repairs and maintenance are charged in the profit or
loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
1o its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within other gains/losses, net in the profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continuea)

2.6

2.7

Intangible assets

(@) Concession right
Concession right acquired in a business
combination is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. The concession right has a finite
useful life and is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method over its
concession right period of shorter of the remaining
operation period or 20 years.

(b) Computer software

Computer software separately acquired is shown
at historical cost. Computer software acquired in
a business combination is recognised at fair value
at the acquisition date. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate the cost
of computer software over its estimated useful live
of 2-5 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units (“CGU”)). Assets other than goodwill that
suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of
the impairment at each reporting date.

114 china Renewable Energy Investment Limited | Annual Report 2023

2

EXSTHRRENBE®)

26 EFREE

2.7

(@

(b)

Rt

REBAHBRETESZE
AHRERWBE R 2 AT ERE
BB REZERTFHA
R IRECAMEIR R AT &
B P BR o B 5H 0 AT AT AR
MRS T EXER_—+F
(A EERE) LEARIER

= o
Ean

B
BB 2 BT IRE S
AR - REBE GBI
TESZERTTRKEES
BZ VAR - BRI
ZHEBEABEREDEEM
B2 A ZE A EAE A
FH_EZRFHE-

FETRMEEZRE
EAEHRBERAE BRI E
EWEEEREER - T
BEERERS BEREESD
Heple Bz ReER/RE
BE - T B eREEEZAT
B M ERAKE AEER (AR S
ERE) - RFERER  BER
AoRABNREREEBIREE
EBU(ReELBM)&RNE
METTOME - HEERINZEE
HIREE - AR ESERE A H®
A B R B Z AT BEE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
2.8 Investments and other financial assets

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets as financial
assets measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset.

The Group subsequently measures all financial
assets at amortised cost. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in profit or
loss as other income when the Group’s rights to
receive payments is established.

Impairment

The Group applies the simplified approach on
assessing the expected credit losses associated
with trade receivables as permitted by HKFRS
9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables,
see Note 19 for further details.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continuea)

2.9

2.10

Financial guarantee policy

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payments when due, in accordance with
the terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantees
are given to banks, financial institutions and other bodies
on behalf of subsidiaries or associates to secure loans,
overdrafts and other banking facilities.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial
statements at fair value on the date the guarantee was
given. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s
liabilities under such guarantees are measured at the
higher of the initial amount, less amortisation of fees
recognised, and the best estimate of the amount required
to settle the guarantee. These estimates are determined
based on experience of similar transactions and history of
past losses, supplemented by management’s judgement.
The fee income earned is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the life of the guarantee. Any increase in the
liability relating to guarantees is reported in the profit or
loss within other operating expenses. Please refer to Note
3.1(b) for impairment assessment of financial guarantee
contract.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
receivables with the objective to collect the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
See Note 19 for further information about the Group’s
accounting for trade receivables and Note 3.1 for a
description of the Group’s impairment policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continuea)

2.11

212

213

214

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case,
the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

2.14 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. However,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from
the initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax
is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit and at the time of
the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date
and are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except for deferred tax liability where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is
an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
2.15 Borrowings

2

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the profit or loss over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

2.16 Employee benefits

(@) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
2.16 Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

Defined contribution plans

The Group participates in a mandatory provident
fund scheme (“MPF”) and employee pension
schemes established by municipal government in
the PRC for the eligible employees in Hong Kong
and the PRC respectively.

The Group’s and the employees’ contributions to the
MPF comply with the related statutory requirements.
The Group has no further payment obligations once
the contributions have been paid. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF are expensed as incurred
and are not reduced by contributions forfeited by
those employees who leave MPF prior to vesting
fully in the contributions. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in the future payments is
available. The asset of MPF is held separately from
those of the Group in independently administered
funds.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the
employer MPF contributions expected to be offset
as a deemed employee contribution towards the
LSP obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it
is measure on a net basis. The estimated amount
of future benefit is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s MPF contributions
that have been vested with employees, which
are deemed to be contributions from the relevant
employees.

The Group’s contribution to the employee pension
schemes in the PRC is at a percentage in
compliance with the requirements of respective
municipal governments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
2.16 Employee benefits (continued)
() Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment
is terminated by the Group before the normal
retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts
voluntary redundancy in exchange for
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits
at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs
for a restructuring that is within the scope of HKAS
37 and involves the payment of termination benefits.
In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured
based on the number of employees expected to
accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period are

discounted to their present value.

2.17 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it
is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount
can be made. In respect of the potential obligations to
dismantle the wind farms at the end of their useful lives,
the Group would assess the obligations continuously
based on the latest changes in the laws and regulations
and make provision when the recognition criteria are met.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the

same class of obligations may be small.
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Notes to

the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continuea)

217

2.18

2.19

Provisions (continued)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the provision of services in
the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is
shown net of value-added tax within the Group and after
eliminating sales within the Group.

Revenue from sales of electricity is recognised at a
point of time when it is transferred to the customers,
generally when electricity is supplied to the provincial grid
companies.

Leases
The Group’s leases consist of land lease and rental of
office premises.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

At inception, the Group assesses whether a contract
contains a lease. This assessment involves the exercise
of judgement about whether it depends on a specified
asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
2.19 Leases (continued)

(@)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the
underlying assets is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted
for any re-measurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost

comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs; and

° restoration costs

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the group
is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life.

Short-term leases and lease of low-value assets
Payments associated with short-term leases of
office premises and all leases of low-value assets
are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. The
Group did not have any low-value assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
2.20 Contingent liabilities

2.21

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable that
outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements. When
a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that
the outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a
provision.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends
are approved.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s major financial instruments
include trade and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other payables, bank borrowings,
amount due to a shareholder and lease liabilities. Details
of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes.

It is the policy of the Group not to enter into derivative
transactions for speculative purposes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FREMBEBMERME
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

The Board focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance. The Board reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below:

(@) Market risk

()

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong
and Mainland China and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from future commercial
transactions and monetary assets and
liabilities that are denominated in a currency
that is not the Group’s functional currency.

The Group currently does not have any
foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management of the Group monitors the
foreign exchange exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2023, if US dollars
and Hong Kong dollars had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against Renminbi
respectively, with all other variables held
constant, the Group’s profit before tax
would have been HK$2.8 million higher/lower
respectively (2022 HK$13.4 million lower/
higher).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(@) Market risk (continued)

(i)
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Interest rate risk

The Group’s main interest rate risk arises
from bank borrowings and amount due to a
shareholder with variable rates, which expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The
Group’s results and operating cash flows are
dependent on changes in market interest
rates.

The Group does not use any derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk. However, management will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposures
should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2023, if interest rates
had been 100 (2022: 100) basis points
higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s profit before income tax
would have decreased/increased by HK$3.0
million (2022: decreased/increased by HK$6.1
million).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in its cash and

cash equivalents, prepayments, trade and other

receivables, and financial guarantee provided for

credit facilities granted to certain associates.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents,

prepayments, trade and other receivables represent

the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in

relation to its financial assets.

0 Risk management
To manage the credit risk associated with
cash and cash equivalents, most of the
deposits are placed with certain state-owned
banks in the PRC which are high-credit-quality
financial institutions and banks with high credit
ratings in Hong Kong.
To manage the credit risk associated with
trade and other receivables, the Group adopts
risk control measures to assess the credit
quality, to determine credit limits and approve
credit of customers, taking into account
their financial position and past experience.
The Group has been monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

()
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Risk management (continueq)

The Group is exposed to significant
concentration of credit risk in terms of
electricity sales as the Group’s sales of
electricity were made to state-owned grid
companies. The Group normally does not
require collateral from trade debtors. It
normally grants credit terms of 30 days
from invoice date to these state-owned
grid companies. However, tariff subsidy
receivables (included in trade receivables),
including those held through associates, are
due from the state-owned grid companies
relate to government subsidy which are
subject to the government allocation of the
national renewable energy fund, and normally
would issue invoice until the government
subsidy has been allocated to the state-
owned grid companies. Ageing analysis of
the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed
in Note 19. Management makes periodic
collective assessment as well as individual
assessment of the recoverability of trade and
other receivables based on historical payment
records, the length of the overdue period, the
financial strength of the debtors and whether
there are any disputes with the relevant
debtors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial asset

While cash and cash equivalents are also
subject to impairment requirements of
HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was
immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days
past due. The Group has therefore concluded
that the expected loss rates for trade
receivables are a reasonable approximation.

The expected loss rates are based on
the payment profiles of customers and
the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within this period. The historical
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information on the inflation
rate and the economic environment of the
PRC.
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REMBmRMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)
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Impairment of financial asset (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

Trade receivables (including tariff subsidy
receivables), arising from sales of electricity
were due from customers which are state-
owned grid companies. The financial resource
for the tariff subsidy receivables is the national
renewable energy fund that accumulated
through a special levy on the consumption
of electricity. Renewable energy projects
entitling tariff subsidies have to be approved
and included in the renewable energy subsidy
list (or formerly subsidy catalogue). The
application, approval and settlement of the
tariff subsidy are subject to certain procedures
by relevant government authorities.

As at 31 December 2023, all the Group’s wind
farms and solar project have been approved
and included in the renewable energy subsidy
list. The amount of tariff subsidy receivables
as at 31 December 2023 is HK$281.3 million
(2022: HK$284.8 million). The tariff subsidy
receivables will be settled upon the Ministry
of Finance (“MoF”)’s allocation of the national
renewable energy fund to the state-owned
grid companies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3 BXEEREKMEEE)
31 BIREBEEE)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial asset (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

After taking into account of the aforesaid
factors and the forward looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort,
and considering the Group’s customers
(i.e. state-owned grid companies) are well
supported by the prevailing government
policies, the directors are of the opinion that
the risk of default is not significant and does
not expect any material losses from non-
performance by these customers. Accordingly,
the directors consider there is no significant
increase in credit risk and no material loss
allowance of trade receivables (including the
tariff subsidy receivables) was recognised as
at 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Dividend receivables from associates
(included in other receivables)

Included in other receivables was dividend
receivables from associates of HK$36.6
million (2022: HK$148.0 million), which
the management performs impairment
assessment on the balances on a periodic
basis.
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REMBmRMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)
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Impairment of financial asset (continued)
Dividend receivables from associates
(included in other receivables) (continued)

In assessing the probability of defaults of
dividend receivables from associates, the
management has taken into account the
financial position of the counterparties,
the industries they operate, their latest
operating result where available as well as
forward looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. Since the
counterparties are all engaged in wind power
industry in which their major current assets
are tariff subsidy receivables of HK$135.2
million (attributable to the Group) (2022:
HK$111.6 million), the collection of which
is well supported by government policies;
accordingly, the management considered the
credit risk is limited.

For the purpose of impairment assessment
of dividend receivables from associates, the
loss allowance is measured at an amount
equals to 12m ECL. In determining the ECL
of dividend receivables from associates, after
taking into account of the aforesaid factors
and the forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort, and
considering the debtors operate in the wind
power industry which is well supported
by the prevailing government policies, the
management considered the ECL provision
for dividend receivables from associate is
insignificant.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial asset (continued)
Financial guarantee contract

For financial guarantee contracts, the
aggregate amount of outstanding financial
guarantees issued to a bank in respect of
bank facility granted to an associate that the
Group could be required to pay amounted
to HK$13.1 million as at 31 December 2023
(2022: HK$27.1 million). HK$13.1 million (2022:
HK$27.1 million) of the outstanding financial
guarantee has been utilised by the associate.
The fair value of this financial guarantee, as
at dates of initial recognition, was considered
insignificant after taking into account the
financial position of the associate, the industry
it operates, its operating result where available
as well as forward looking information. At the
end of the reporting period, the management
has performed impairment assessment,
and concluded that there has been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition of the financial guarantee contract.
Accordingly, the loss allowance for financial
guarantee contract issued by the Group is
measured at an amount equal to 12m ECL.
No loss allowance was recognised in the
profit or loss after taking into account the
financial position of the associate, the industry
it operates, its operating result where available
as well as forward looking information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRERME
3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HBEBREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 HBEBEEE)
() Liquidity risk c) RBELERK
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to nBESRRANERER
meet its current obligations when they fall due. The BERBEEBE AR ET
Group measures and monitors its liquidity through EEzRER - AEEEER
the maintenance of prudent ratios regarding the HRRDESEE(BEX
liquidity structure of the overall assets, liabilities, SENEREE A B
loans and commitments of the Group. The Group HRAEE)REBENL X
also maintains a conservative level of liquid FAERERERBERE
assets to ensure the availability of sufficient cash S REENMGRHREEE
flows to meet any unexpected and material cash REBRKFE - UEREER
requirements in the course of ordinary business. WHEERE  RAENEE
X5 B 2 R AR se T8 R
REANREHE -
During the vyear, the Group complied with all KEEA  AEBEEB
externally imposed loan covenant requirements to BRANEEEEGRMHEK -
which it is subject to.
The following table details the Group’s contractual TRFAFVAREER RSB H
maturity for its financial liabilities at the reporting TRBEIZENNEA - T
date. The table has been drawn up with reference KB2ESHARGE RUIAR
to the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities EREMAEEREBERH
based on the earliest date on which the Group is HEZFEHEmMER -
required to pay.
Between  Between
Less than 1 and 2 2and 5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total
—-Ex -—-ZE=F ZZRE HEHNLE #at
HK$'000  HK$000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TER T#r T TiEn T#r
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+ZA=1+-H
Bank borrowings RITER 56,093 53,308 121,795 108,003 339,199
Trade and other payables ERETREMEMNR 55,045 - - - 55,045
Financial guarantee PHRER 13,196 - - - 13,196
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZ&+ZA=+-H
Bank borrowings RIOER 165,404 61,120 148,021 158,989 533,534
Trade and other payables B o B % e B B 3K 61,507 = = = 61,507
Amount due to a shareholder ER—2RRHE 167,931 = = - 167,931
Financial guarantee FBER 27,072 = = = 27,072

134 china Renewable Energy Investment Limited | Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FREMBEBMERME
3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMBEBERE#E)
3.2 Capital risk management 3.2 EXEBER
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to AEEEREARAZ REARER
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going EEFBELCEEB 2N BK
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and BREREDR L AR R
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal HEFAABRAGE  WHEFRE
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. MEAREBREMBEESKA -
The Group monitors capital by reviewing the capital iﬁiéﬁzﬁfﬁgiﬁﬁi%ﬁ@ﬁ
i ; o P UNER B BT S AR R
structure. The capital structure of the Group consists N
f debt and itp ttributable t ity h Idpers of the ARE L ARREREABRA
of debt and equily & : utable o 99“ y ho NEERFEAEBLERZ - A&
Company, as shown in the consolidated statement of BeEEE4RARESHEER
financial position. The Group considers the cost and the %o B HAEENLERE K
risk associated with the capital. In order to maintain or SEFEFHBMREZMF 2RE
AN e AN VY S R 7aN
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the T8 BITHRHSCETRG B
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new g
shares or conduct shares buy-back.
The Group maintains its gearing ratio within the REBERBERE BAEEE
reasonable range according to the Group’s strategy. ARBELREFRGEEER -
The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 @i%i:zzzi:’é%j:fﬁ—'—:ﬂ
were as follows: - H R =T
2023 2022
—Eg=-= —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHER FAET
Current portion of bank borrowings 8 17 f& Z BN HA 8 5 43,339 144,612
Bank borrowings SRITIE R 244,461 296,257
Amount due to a shareholder JEH— & MR K8 - 167,931
Total borrowings CE S 287,800 608,800
Less: Bank deposits and cash B RITERERS (164,290) (232,414)
Net debt position B FEAM MR 123,510 376,386
Total equity R R 1,873,981 1,914,742
Gearing ratio BRAELLE 6.6% 19.7%
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AFEMEE

The Group has no assets and liabilities that are measured
at fair value at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

AR =FR_F-__F+=
A=t —R AEBEEEAT
EH B AERAR -
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REMBmRMEE

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

The carrying values of trade and other receivables, cash
and cash equivalents, trade and other payables, current
portion of bank borrowings, amount due to a shareholder
and lease liabilities approximate their fair values due to
their short maturities. The carrying values of variable rate
borrowings approximate their fair values as the impact of
discounting using the relevant rate is not significant.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use
assets related to power plants in the Mainland
China

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed by
management for impairment losses whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use of the plant and equipment. Management
makes judgements on whether such events or changes
in circumstances have occurred, and makes estimates
in determining the recoverable amount. In the situation
where the value in use of property, plant and equipment
cannot be assessed due to the uncertainties of the
operation model in the future, management has assessed
the respective recoverable amount solely based on the fair
value less costs to sell. Provision is made when events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amounts may not be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(a)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use
assets related to power plants in the Mainland
China (continued)

The Group tests whether property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, right-of-use assets related to power
plants in Mainland China have suffered any impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable in
accordance with the relevant accounting policies. The
Group reviews certain indicators of potential impairment
such as operating performance, actual electricity
dispatched, electricity price and other general market
conditions.

If an indication of impairment is identified, the need for
recognising an impairment loss is assessed by comparing
the carrying amount of the assets, to the higher of (i) the
fair value less cost to sell, and (i) the value in use of the
CGUs. The value in use of the CGUs represents estimated
future cash flows from the continuous use of the assets,
and requires complex assumptions and estimates such
as future electricity dispatched, future electricity price and
discount rates. The discount rates used to discount the
estimated future cash flows are based on the relevant
industry sector risk premium and the gearing ratio.

The management of the Group has assessed and
concluded that the Group has classified 4 CGUs for
impairment assessment purpose, which is based on the
geographical location of the wind farms or solar projects,
namely (i) Mudanjiang and Muling wind farms, (i) Siziwang
Qi Phase | and Il wind farms, (i) Songxian wind farm and
(iv) Nanxun distributed solar project.
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REMBmRMEE

4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(a)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use
assets related to power plants in the Mainland
China (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
has performed impairment assessment on the CGU in
Mudanjiang and Muling wind farms and Songxian wind
farm (2022: Mudanjiang and Muling wind farms only)
with impairment indicator as these wind farms’ financial
performance for the current year are worse than the
management’s expected. Property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets allocated to
the respective CGU in Mudanjiang and Muling wind
farms had carrying amounts of HK$82.4 million (2022:
HK$133.7 million), HK$2.2 million (2022: HK$3.3 million)
and HK$1.1 million (2022: HK$1.8 million) respectively
as at 31 December 2023; while property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, construction in progress
and intangible assets allocated to the respective CGU in
Songxian wind farm had carrying amounts of HK$454.0
million, HK$9.3 million, HK$0.3 million and HK$0.2 million
respectively as at 31 December 2023.

As it is difficult to precisely estimate fair value less costs
of disposal because quoted market prices for the Group’s
assets are not readily available, accordingly the value in
use calculation has been used which was based on the
key assumptions, including (i) average annual electricity
price increment at approximately zero growth based on
management’s expectation on market development and
(i) projection of volume of electricity dispatched based
on the historical performances. The pre-tax discount rate
applied to the cash flow projection CGU in Mudanjiang
and Muling wind farms and Songxian wind farm is 11.62%
per annum (2022: 12.38%) and 12.47% respectively.
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REMBmRMEE

4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(a)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use
assets related to power plants in the Mainland
China (continued)

Based on the impairment assessment and the value in use
calculation, impairment losses of HK$19.8 million, HK$0.5
million and HK$0.3 million have been recognised against
the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets respectively,
which are located in Mudanjiang and Muling wind farms
and are within the relevant function to which these assets
relate. The impairment losses have been allocated to
each category of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets, such that the carrying
amount of each category of these assets is not reduced
below the highest of its respective value in use or zero.

As at 31 December 2023, based on the impairment
assessment and the value in use calculation, the
recoverable amounts on Songxian wind farm (2022:
Mudanijiang and Muling wind farms) have been higher than
the carrying amount and no impairment losses have been
recognised against the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use
assets, which are located in Songxian wind farm (2022:
Mudanjiang and Muling wind farms) and are within the
relevant function to which these assets relate.

Judgement is required in the area of impairment. If there
is a significant adverse change in the key assumptions, it
may be necessary to have an impairment charge to the
income statement.
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REMBmRMEE

4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
and inputs used are disclosed in the tables in Note 3.

Estimated impairment of associates

As at 31 December 2023, in view of one of the
associates, CECIC HKE Wind Power Company Limited,
which owns the wind power project in Lunaobao
(“Lunacbao wind farm”) with its financial performance
for the current year is worse than the previous years,
the Group performed impairment assessment on this
associate. Determining whether impairment loss should
be recognised requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount of the relevant associate which is the higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal.

The value in use calculation requires the management of
the Group to estimate its share of the present value of
the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated
by the associate, including the cash flows from the
operations of the associate and the proceeds from the
ultimate disposal of the investment. In cases where the
actual cash flows are less or more than expected, or
change in facts and circumstances which result in revision
of future cash flows estimation or discount rate, a material
reversal or further recognition of impairment may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period
in which such a reversal or further recognition takes
place.

Based on the impairment assessment, impairment losses
of HK$10.0 million have been recognised against the
carrying amount of investment in associate on Lunaobao
wind farm.
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REMBmRMEE

5

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
The amount of each significant category of revenue and other
income recognised during the year is as follows:

W 2 K E b i A
AR 2 & E B U R E A A
BRI SBMT

2023 2022
—Eg=-= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Revenue W =
Sales of electricity BHHEE 181,337 197,184
Other income Hibg A
Value-added tax refund HEBER 5,999 6,123
Gain on disposal of property, plant and MEWHE - HaERR
equipment, net e FRE - 103
Others Hh 13 332
6,012 6,558
Sales of electricity were all generated by the wind power plants & j] HEWRAAREEB 2R NEE

and a distributed solar project of the Group. The Group has a
single reportable segment which is renewable energy segment.
As the Group does not have significant material operations
outside the PRC, no geographic segment information is
presented.

Included in sales of electricity of HK$91.6 million (2022: HK$95.1
million) represents tariff subsidies owed by the state-owned grid
companies which are financed by national renewable energy
fund to renewable energy projects in the PRC. Tariff subsidy is
recognised as sales of electricity and receivables from state-
owned grid companies in accordance with the relevant power
purchase agreements.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s revenue
for reportable segment from external customers of HK$181.3
million (2022: HK$197.2 million) is only attributable to the China
market.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has three
customers with revenue exceeding 10% of the Group’s total
revenue (2022: three customers). Revenues from the customers
amounted to HK$79.1 million, HK$72.1 million and HK$25.2
million (2022: HK$81.2 million, HK$80.9 million and HK$29.8
million) respectively.

TEBLR

DA KGEEIER - AEEES —E

E2FHE - AT BERRDE - AR
’EIEEPIiRﬁI\IﬁEk“ - B
A2 IE S EBER -

BNHERSEHBAERMRARERZE
£ 48 8591,600,0005% 7T (= 2 - =
95,100,000/ 7T) * ABEIR AT BAERLRE
/i\ﬁﬁtﬂlz—lﬁi%fﬁlﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁé%ﬁ °
BEEMMIZRBRIABE N EE R ERER
ENHERBREESHEA 71;14515!%« o

HE—_ZT-_=F+=-A=+—HItF
B AEEREBINABEZAZHRDH
I %5 5181,300,0008 o (T = — 4 :
197,200,000 7T) R AR E M5 o

HE_Z-=F+-_A=+—HIFE -
REBBE=-HFP(ZE_F :=8%
P BTiE e iR A & B B U a5 2 10% ©

REZERFEZ2W a2 R A79,100,000
7 T~ 72,100,000/ 7T 25,200,000
B L (ZF = = & : 81,200,000 7T »
80,900,000 Jt £29,800,0007% JT) °
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6 OTHER LOSSES 6 HfEiE
The amount of each significant category of other losses KENBRZETEHMEBEER 2
recognised during the year is as follows: TEMAT:
2023 2022
—E-= =
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Impairment loss on property, plant and ) % : %%%&Eﬁﬁ Z
equipment BB 18 (19,793) -
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets ERAEEE 2 RERE (519) =
Impairment loss on intangible assets BIEEZRERE (255) -
Impairment loss on interest in an associate R B & AR 2 2 BE
18 (10,053) =
(30,620) -
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has HEZZ="F+-_A=T—HIFE -
performed impairment assessments on the CGU in Mudanjiang AEEBEHRNHNIRBERNESE
and Muling wind farms and Songxian wind farm (2022: BUREBRRNEEL (T
Mudanjiang and Muling wind farms) with impairment indicators HTEBER HESS) BB RED
as described in Note 4(a). SHIREEEBMETHES G Gl
R I 5E4()) °
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has HE-Z-_=F+-A=1T—HILFE
performed impairment assessment on investment in an REEE Y HERRE TR E QA
associate on Lunaobao wind farm with impairment indicators REKBRNESIS 2IREEITRE
as described in Note 4(c). w1l (FF 4t 72 Bt 7E4(0)) ©
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TEBE

mEMBHRERME
7 EXPENSES BY NATURE 7 RBRHEEISZHEX
2023 2022
—E-=F —E -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH T
Auditor’s remuneration 1% EAD B &
— Audit services - BRI (670) (680)
- Non-audit services - IEEZRE (120) (120)
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 17) # 2 & & # 85 (M 5£17) (685) (1,033)
Depreciation of property, plant and M WEREEBITE
equipment (Note 14) (FF5E14) (101,174) (104,000)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16) 1 F 4 & & ¥ & (M 5£16) (1,398) (1,398)
Net exchange loss i BB F R (5,011) (24,759)
Employee benefit expenses (including EERMAZ(BEE
directors’ emoluments) (Note 10) EEW <) (FFE10) (27,871) (26,867)
Rental expenses relating to short-term BB EREN
leases He® A (1,957) (1,743)
Repair and maintenance expenses HIERRERX (5,964) (4,471)
Corporate expenses PEME (807) (831)
Legal and professional fees EEREEER (2,676) (446)
Management service fee BEERBE (2,483) (2,955)
Other expenses H b (15,781) (17,412)
Total cost of sales and administrative HENARNRITEHE A
expenses k) (166,597) (186,715)
8 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 8 HMBEWRARRBEHKR
2023 2022
—EgE=-= —=E -
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER F#& T
Finance costs: Bl & A
- interest expenses on bank borrowings - IRITERF B (20,022) (28,194)
- interest expenses on amount due to a - BN —ZRERIEBE 2
shareholder (Note 27) B F = (M #E27) (8,059) (7,979)
(28,081) (36,173)
Finance income: BRI A
— interest income on bank deposits - RITFRFBWA 3,916 1,791
Finance costs — net BERKAN - FHE (24,165) (34,382)
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REMBmRMEE

9 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 9
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year include four directors (2022: four) whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in Note
31. The emoluments payable to the remaining one (2022: one)
individual during the year are as follows:

EEREME AL
AEE AEBLERSHFALEEN
Z(CEZ—F HREF REZH
FERMESIZINZ AP RBR « AF
EARMNBT—R(ZFE__F:—%)
ERALTZBMET:

2023 2022
—E-=HF T =
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHER FAT
Basic salaries, housing allowances, other ~ EA#F & - (£ =28k -

allowances and benefits in kind Efh 2B R BN = (1,005) (986)
Bonuses 14T (84) (82)
Retirement scheme contributions R AR ET S 5k (18) (18)
(1,107) (1,086)

The emoluments fell within the following band: MeZERDHTOT :

Number of individuals

A
2023 2022
—EBCZ=F —F-—
Emoluments band (in HK dollar) B4 & B (& 7T)
HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,0017% 7t £2,000,000/%8 7T 1 1
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10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

10 BERAMAX

2023 2022
—sE=-= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Wages, salaries and other benefits TE HFakHEMER (25,157) (24,053)
Reversal of unused annual leave FEAFBRZELD 58 28
Pension costs — defined contribution plan BK& K A - TR
(Note a) &I (K ata) (2,772) (2,842)
(27,871) (26,867)
Notes: K& -
(@) The Group’s contribution to the employee pension scheme in the PRC (@) AEERHTEESRARSHEEL ZHK

11

is at a percentage in compliance with the requirements of respective
municipal governments. The Group also participates in the MPF scheme
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the scheme at 5% of the employee’s relevant income, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the scheme
vest immediately.

Contributions totaling HK$18,000 (2022: HK$33,000) were payable under
the MPF scheme at 31 December 2023.

DEBRARTBRRARE ZEDREL o &
SETRRE B RS M QTR S8 &
REXBEBREGIIEH ZERREHRE
REtE - RREHERRBLETAETE
2 ERBEFORANGTE - RIFBESE
BEREBEHARREBBBEKAZ5%
AT EIE AR R A 2B KRA LR
%30,000/8 7T A&t &I R Z fEFR AN B 83
B -

(b) R-B-_=F+-_A=+—80 BEXRHE
SETEIA TN 25 E 18,000 T (=
T~ — 4 :33,000/% L) °

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11 FABHXH
2023 2022
—EC-=F T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FAET
Current income tax BN ERFT 15 Bt (5,843) (6,944)
Withholding tax on dividends RS 2B (5,036) (7,276)
Deferred income tax (expense)/credit, BIEFTSH (), Bk
net (Note 25) 75 78 (P 75 25) (1,303) 1,616
Refund of withholding tax on dividends BAEFELNRE ZTEMN
paid in prior years BiRE 7,905 5,281
Income tax expense 88 2 i (4,277) (7,323)
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REMBmRMEE

11

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Note:

The share of income tax expense of associates of HK$15.4 million (2022: HK$16.4
million) is included in the Group’s share of results of associates.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Group has no assessable profit for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022. Mainland China income tax includes
corporate income tax which has been provided on the estimated
assessable profits of subsidiaries operating in the Mainland
China at a rate of 25% (2022: 25%), except below:

- Two subsidiaries of the Group, under the Enterprise
Income Tax Law and its relevant regulations, are entitled
to tax concessions of 3-year full exemption followed by
3-year 50% exemption commencing from the respective
years in which their first operating incomes were derived;
and

- Subsidiaries of the Group established in Inner
Mongolia were applicable to the enterprise income tax
concession of the Western Development in PRC and
entitled to preferential tax rate of 15% in 2023 (2022:
15%). According to the announcement on continuation
of enterprise income tax concession in the Western
Development published by the MoF, the State Taxation
Administration and the National Development and Reform
Commission on 23 April 2020, the aforementioned
subsidiaries were authorised to be taxed at preferential
tax rate of 15% till 31 December 2030.

Pursuant to EIT Law of PRC and the Detailed Implementation
Rules, distribution of the profits earned by the subsidiaries and
associates in the PRC is subject to the PRC withholding tax at
the applicable tax rates of 10%, accordingly withholding tax was
provided for dividends and undistributed profits of associates
and certain subsidiaries in the PRC at a rate of 10% up to 31
December 2023 (2022: 10%).
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REMBmRMEE

11

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Pursuant to a double tax arrangement between the PRC and
Hong Kong, Hong Kong tax resident companies could enjoy
a lower withholding tax rate of 5%. During the year ended 31
December 2023, certain of the Group’s investment holding
subsidiaries in Hong Kong, which holds associates and
subsidiaries in the PRC has successfully obtained Hong Kong
tax resident companies. Accordingly, a refund of withholding
tax on dividends in prior years of HK$7,905,000 (2022:
HK$5,281,000) has been obtained from the PRC Tax Authroity
and 5% of wihtholding tax on dividends has therefore been
applied for these PRC subsidiaries/associates during the year
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average
tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as
follows:

11

REHRIH@E
BEPEEEEZMNESRELHE
EREBBERAR I ZAERIEMNS%TE
MM - HE_T-_=F+_A=+
—BLEFE AEEETEEENE
BB AT (RPN AR E R
AIRMBARNEXRNBREEEREE
RAREGM - Bt - REBEZZS-_=F
B+ -_A=+—BIFE "
BRI BKERESBTET
7,905,000/ 70 (=& = — 4 : 5,281,000
BILMREENRER  kxEH
M AR BN R E A% AR BT
MBI E -

AEBEMEHAREMN2HIE - BER
B Gt FOE N E B 2 I T R A
BeEmBAZEZELOT:

2023 2022
—g=-= T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THT FAT
Profit before income tax Ffr 45 %1 A1 i ) 23,067 37,142
Less: Share of results of associates Ve /NI ¥ (57,100) (54,497)
(34,033) (17,355)
Tax calculated at the tax rate, 25% 1B25% (ZF = —F : 25%) 2
(2022: 25%) HEFEZRIA 8,508 4,339
Effect of different tax rates TRAMERz w8 (763) 5,142
Expenses not deductible for taxation LIEi -3
purpose (12,886) (14,732)
Income not subject to tax A R 2 WA 2,299 275
Tax losses not recognised RERZBIBEEBRE (3,001) (2,247)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax ) AT RFER 2T E 18
losses - 273
Withholding tax on dividends and B NRl RMB AR 2B Bk
undistributed profits of associates and B 7 %k & Fl 2 FBH T
subsidiaries (6,339) (5,660)
Refund of withholding tax on dividends Et& A& KB G 25
and undistributed profits of associates BB K 25 K& F 2 FE
and subsidiaries TR E 7,905 5,281
Income tax expense P58 = (4,277) (7,323)
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12

13

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

12

BERER

BRANDRBEARAED B AR
m MR IAFE R BT EBR 2 &

FIWEH -

2023 2022
—Eg=-= —E -
Profit attributable to equity holders of RAREREBAEG R
the Company (HK$ thousand) (F#&L) 23,281 31,111
Weighted average number of ordinary B 2173 A% 2 INE 1 £
shares in issue (thousand) (F 1) 2,506,157 2,506,157
Earnings per share (HK cents per share) &M% 2% (F%B1L) 0.93 1.24

Basic and fully diluted earnings per share are the same as
the Company did not have any dilutive equity instruments
throughout the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

REBEZZT-_=FRk-_F-__F+=H4
=+—HLEFE AREWEFMES
MHER TR HSREXAEE2ES
SEAFSEMRR -

DIVIDENDS 13 BRE
2023 2022
—_=E-= —=E=-
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHT FAT
2023 final dividend proposed, of BME-_ZT-Z=FKRHAKE -
HKO0.5 cents (2022: HKO0.5 cents) FRERARRSEL
per ordinary share (ZZE=Z—F:05%F1L) 12,531 12,531

On 27 March 2024, the Board has resolved to declare a final
dividend of HK$0.5 cents per ordinary share payable in cash
for the year ended 31 December 2023. As the proposed final
dividend is declared after the reporting date, such dividend is
not recognised as liability as at 31 December 2023.

On 30 August 2023, the Board has resolved not to declare any
interim dividend for the six months ended 30 June 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has resolved
to declare a final dividend of HKO.5 cents per ordinary share
payable in cash, total of HK$12.5 million was paid in July 2023.
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mEMBHRERME
13 DIVIDENDS (continued) 13 BE(#)
On 26 August 2022, the Board has resolved not to declare any RZZEZZFNAZ+ B EEE#H
interim dividend for the six months ended 30 June 2022. RTBERBEE_ZE-__F~A=1+HI
NMERZERAFHRE o
14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y% - WEERRE
Electricity Furniture,
utility plant  fixtures and Motor
and others equipment vehicles Total
ERR B -HER
Hit BB "E et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FEx FEx FEx
At 1 January 2022 R=E=-=%f—-A—H
Cost B AR 2,051,633 2,380 1,322 2,055,335
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 27 & KR & (852,980) (1,836) (957)  (855,773)
Net book amount REFME 1,198,653 544 365 1,199,562
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE-Z-—
+t-A=+-HBLEE
Opening net book amount FHE®FE 1,198,653 544 365 1,199,562
Currency translation differences EHBREER (89,628) (30) 22) (89,680)
Additions NE 3,262 44 - 3,306
Disposal HE (28) - (66) (94)
Depreciation E (103,609) (278) (113)  (104,000)
Closing net book amount FREE@MFE 1,008,650 280 164 1,009,094
At 31 December 2022 R-B-Zf+=-HA=+-8H
Cost B A 1,895,492 2,241 901 1,898,634
Accumulated depreciation REtiE (873,766) (1,961) (737)  (876,464)
Accumulated impairment 2R E (13,076) = = (13,076)
Net book amount RMEFE 1,008,650 280 164 1,009,094
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-%-=
TZA=t+—-RLEE
Opening net book amount FHER@EFE 1,008,650 280 164 1,009,094
Currency translation differences fEHBREER (27,899) %) (5) (27,911)
Additions WE 13,899 50 99 14,048
Disposal HE (843) - - (843)
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss 718 25 A #E 2 6 R (E /&5 1B (19,793) - - (19,793)
Depreciation wE (100,969) (115) (90)  (101,174)
Closing net book amount FRE@mEFE 873,045 208 168 873,421
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=f+=A=t+—H
Cost B A 1,853,698 2,193 849 1,856,740
Accumulated depreciation 2EHE (947,784) (1,985) (681)  (950,450)
Accumulated impairment REiRE (32,869) - - (32,869)
Net book amount BEEEE 873,045 208 168 873,421
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 14 W% BRERREE)

Certain bank borrowings are secured by certain of the Group’s ETROEBRDDBEAEEER®T TE
property, plant and equipment with carrying values of HK$630.8 630,800,000/ t(= & = =
million (2022: HK$685.0 million) (Note 23). 685,000,000 70) 2 & T¥% - # "&

& e F AR (M 5E23) -

15 CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 15 EEIRE

Total
st
HK$’000
FET
At 1 January 2022 RZZE__F—H—H =
Currency translation differences EHMmE (1)
Additions NE 50
At 31 December 2022 WZZE-_—_F+-_HA=+—H 49
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-=%—A—H 49
Currency translation differences fEHMmE = (5)
Additions NE 320
At 31 December 2023 R-ZEB-=%+=-HA=+—H 364

16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16 FRHEEE
Total
st
HK$’000
FET
At 1 January 2022 RZEZ=_F—H—H 13,169
Currency translation differences EHMmE =R (1,003)
Depreciation e (1,398)
At 31 December 2022 RZZE-_—_F+-A=+—H 10,768
At 1 January 2023 R-—E-_=%—-—H—H 10,768
Currency translation differences EHMmE =R (351)
Additions NE 4,951
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss REBZEANERNREEE (519)
Depreciation e (1,398)
At 31 December 2023 R=-ZB-_=F+=-A=+-—H 13,451
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REMBmRMEE

16

17

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

At at 31 December 2023, the net book amount of the Group’s
right-of-use assets consist of rentals of lands of HK$13.2 million
(2022: HK$10.8 million) with lease term of 50 years.

The total cash outflow of lease is amounted to HK$2.0 million
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$1.7

million).

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16 ERAREE®
RIE-=F+-A=+—0 4&H
ZEREEERELHEE  HKRE

{8 413,200,000 7T (=

= —

10,800,0007% 7T) K 18 A /3504F °

REBEE-_ZTE-_=F+_A=+—HLF
- HERSR DA% 520000005
Jo(ZF = —4 : 1,700,000 7T) °

17 BREEE

Computer Concession
software right Total
EX S SRR et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FET FET
At 1 January 2022 R=-ZZB-_-_%—F—H
Cost B AR 3,742 200,855 204,597
Accumulated amortisation and ZET S RORE
impairment (2,296) (198,720) (201,016)
Net book amount BRMEFE 1,446 2,135 3,581
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT_-_—#
TZA=+—-HLEEE
Opening net book amount FYE@EE 1,446 2,135 3,581
Currency translation differences & 3 & = 48 (94) (166) (260)
Additions NE 31 = 31
Amortisation A (660) (373) (1,033)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 723 1,596 2,319
At 31 December 2022 R-ZB-ZZF+=ZHA=+—H
Cost B A 3,510 185,238 188,748
Accumulated amortisation and 25t EHERRE
impairment (2,787) (183,642) (186,429)
Net book amount BRMEFE 723 1,596 2,319
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mEMBHRERME
17 INTANGIBLE ASSETSS (continued) 17 BREEE)
Computer Concession
software right Total
BB B st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TET FHET
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-T=-=4%
+=ZA=t+—-HBLEE
Opening net book amount FYRAEFE 723 1,596 2,319
Currency translation differences & 3 # & = 48 (20) (46) (66)
Additions NE 59 - 59
Impairment loss recognised in RIB AR R E R 18
profit or loss (24) (231) (255)
Amortisation 5N (331) (354) (685)
Closing net book amount FREEMEFE 407 965 1,372
At 31 December 2023 R-ZFBZ-=5+=ZH=+—H
Cost BN 3,478 179,950 183,428
Accumulated amortisation and ZET S RORE
impairment (3,071) (178,985) (182,056)
Net book amount BREFME 407 965 1,372
N =
18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18 REEARZER
2023 2022
—E-= —E=-=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TET FHT
Group’s share of net assets AEBEELMEEFE 834,226 854,442
Less: impairment loss recognised in R EBEERERNRE
profit or loss & 18 (10,053) -
824,173 854,442
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REMBmRMEE

18

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continuea)

The following financial information, after making adjustments to
conform with the Group’s material accounting policy information,
represents the Group’s aggregate share of assets, liabilities,
revenue and results of associates, all of which are unlisted, and
is summarised as below:

18 RBERT2EHE @)
THHBER (RHABRARAEEE KR
BHBREM —BONAEEE KBS
L RR(EMHR/FLHRANZE
E-RE WakxzE BHdmT:

2023 2022

—E_-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FAETT
Assets BE 962,290 1,145,044
Liabilities =X (128,063) (290,602)
Net assets BEFE 834,227 854,442
Revenue Wz 189,713 190,714
Profit for the year REE i@ 57,100 54,497

Particulars of the associates are set out on Note 33.

BERNBZFIEH N RESS o
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mEMBHRERME
18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18 REE AR ZER(E)
Set out below are the summarised financial information for the THHEAEEBKLERR ZHKEER
associates of the Group. 1At
Summarised income statement for the year ended 31 BE+t-BA=+—HLEEZEH®
December B R
CECIC HKC Wind Power CECIC HKE Wind Power CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind
Company Limited Company Limited Power Company Limited Total
RERBERNRE REHRBRERNIRE TEHEBEHR)
(RE)ERAH (Ri)BRAF BEHREERAT @
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=f ZT--f ZB-=Hf —ZT--F ZB-=H —E--F —B-=E —TE--fF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR FHL THT F#T THR FHT TR FHL
Revenue Uz 193,038 189,480 67,864 88,612 230,346 220,845 491,248 498,937
Other expense 2B X (43,121) (48,762) (51,686) (21,523) (31,876) (42,316)  (126,683)  (112,601)
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH (77,054) (78,789) (45,337) (47,563) (76,808) (79,598)  (199,199)  (205,950)
Finance costs — net BEKA - FH8 (1,211) (4,858) (2,740) (5,371) 886 (1,201) (3,065) (11,430)
Current income tax expense BHAER I (23,340) (20,605) (1,408) (3,449) (21,253) (17,689) (46,001) (41,743)
Deferred income tax credit EEMEHRESR 6,309 6,658 9,372 = 4,784 5,048 20,465 11,706
Profit/(loss) for the year AEEEH/(FR) 54,621 43,124 (23,935) 10,706 106,079 85,089 136,765 138,919
Other comprehensive loss Hit2EER (18,117) (75,983) (9,212) (33,764) (19,621) (85,051) (46,950)  (194,798)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2 E YA/ (E1R)AE 36,504 (32,859) (33,147 (23,058) 86,458 38 89,815 (55,879)
Dividends declared by associates B4 AR A A EE
to the Group BRZBKE (21,695) (25,187) (2,915) (4,561) (34,849) (37,792) (59,459) (67,540)
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mEMBHRERME
18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18 REE AR ZER(E)
Summarised statement of financial position as at 31 R+ZA=1+—H 2B &AM R REL M
December
CECIC HKC Wind Power CECIC HKE Wind Power CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind
Company Limited Company Limited Power Company Limited Total
FHEEERNRE  hHREBEENRE EREBR(HR)
(RE)ERAH (Rt)ERAF BAREERAF @5t
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=f —T--_% Z®EZ-= —E--fF ZEBZ-= —E--Ff ZEB-zZf —E--F
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TERT FTET TERT TET TERT FTET TERT FTAET
Non-current assets FRBEE 744,051 851154 362,448 443173 786,977 898954 1,893,476 2,193,281
Current assets MEEE 224,639 264,197 64,280 89,420 330,008 448,860 618,927 802,477
Total assets BERSE 968,690 1,115,351 426,728 532,593 1,116,985 1,347,814 2,512,403 2,995,758
Non-current liabilities FRBER 69,779 23,245 938 891 29,697 35,448 100,414 59,584
Current liabilities mEBE 34,934 210,397 73,253 136,301 130,104 354520 238,291 701,218
Total liabilities aEgRE 104,713 233,642 74,191 137,192 159,801 389,968 338,705 760,802
Net assets EEFE 863,977 881,709 352,537 395,401 957,184 957,846 2,173,698 2,234,956
The information above reflects the amounts presented in the Ll ERRBEE AT R EERRZ
financial statements of the associates adjusted for any fair value 278 REEERELZEMAFE
adjustments made at the time of acquisition. ERBMmMAE -
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FREMBEBMERME
18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18 MEE QT ZHE=RE)
Summarised statement of financial position as at 31 R+ZA=1+—H 2B &R R REL M
December (continued) (&
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented AEBREBESAEZEREZY
to the carrying amount of the Group’s interests in its associates: 2 5758 R AR
CECIC HKC Wind Power  CECIC HKE Wind Power  CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind
Company Limited Company Limited Power Company Limited Total
HERERRNRE THEERENRE hERER(ER)
(RE)BRAR (RE)BERAT BAREERAT o
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
“®-Z§ -T--F =Bz -FT--F ZB-=§f C-B--f CZB-ZfF C—T--F
HK$'000  HK$O00  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
T#L  TER  TRR TR TER TR TR THR
At 1 January R—A—-H
Opening net assets FNEERE 881,709 977,535 395,401 433,662 957,846 1,052,280 2,234,956 2,463,486
Profit/{loss) for the year REEER/ (H8) 54,621 43,124 (23,935) 10,706 106,079 85,089 136,765 138,919
Other comprehensive loss Eth2EFR (18,117) (75,983) (9,212) (33,764) (19,621) 85,051) (46,950)  (194,798)
Dividends ke (54,236) (62,967) (9,717) (15,203) (87,120) Q4481  (151,073)  (172651)
At 31 December ®+=ZA=+-8
Closing net assets EREEFE 863,977 881,709 352,537 395,401 957,184 957846 2,173,698 2,234,956
Reporting entities’ share in% HEEEAGZEAL 40% 40% 30% 30% 40% 40% NATER NATER
Group's interests in associates REBNBEATZES 345,591 352,684 105,761 118,620 382,874 383138 834,226 854,442

156 china Renewable Energy Investment Limited | Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FREMBEBMERME
19 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 19 AR BRERKHEAER
RECEIVABLES A
2023 2022
—EC-=F —=E -
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
ks FTER FAT
Non-current FE T &
Other receivables H & UK ® 17259 25,990
Current &
Trade receivables JE W BR 3R (@) 289,572 300,590
Prepayments and other receivables ¥& 1~ 7k K& H b fE U7X (b) 55,771 172,976
385,348 473,566
362,602 499,556
Notes: Htat -
@ The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on the Group’s revenue @ Eéi}f CRAREW SRR RS2
recognition policy at year end was as follows: Wi AR 30 i e 04T 20
2023 2022
—EZ=F -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET F& T
Less than 30 days 308 28,830 34,703
More than 30 days and within 60 days HA30H B KR60E N 7,778 8,181
More than 60 days and within 90 days HBB60RE KR90R A 5,366 5,476
More than 90 days HiB90H 247,598 252,230
289,572 300,590
The ageing analysis of trade receivables by invoice date at year end was REXR - RBEZEBHE S 2 ERERERR
as follows: AT
2023 2022
—EB-=HF T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Less than 30 days 308 279,740 287,331
More than 30 days and within 60 days H#A30H B R60B N - =
More than 60 days and within 90 days HHiEB60R1E M90R K - -
More than 90 days HiB90H 9,832 13,259
289,572 300,590
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REMBmRMEE

19 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(©

(@

The Group allows a credit period of 30 days to its trade customers from
invoice date. The Group does not hold any collateral in relation to these
receivables. Receivables (other than the tariff subsidy receivables) from
sales of electricity are usually settled on a monthly basis by the state-
owned grid companies.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables were tariff subsidy receivables
of HK$281.3 million (2022: HK$284.8 million) which represented the
government subsidies on renewable energy projects to be received from
the stated-owned grid companies. The tariff subsidy receivables will
be settled upon the MoF’s allocation of the national renewable energy
fund to the state-owned grid companies. The MoF does not set out
a rigid timetable for the settlement of tariff subsidy receivables. In the
opinion of the directors, given the collection of tariff subsidy receivables
is well supported by the government policy, all tariff subsidy receivables
were expected to be fully recoverable. As the collection of tariff subsidy
receivables is expected in the normal operating cycle, they are classified
as current assets.

Tariff subsidy receivables of HK$271.5 million (2022: HK$271.5 million)
was unbilled and has been classified under ‘less than 30 days’ in the
above ageing analysis, while the remaining of HK$9.8 million (2022:
HK$13.3 million) has issued invoices.

19 FEMA -
(&)

P WK Bl 0 B LAt R WK

Wiz (&)

AEEREEZEFRUBERAHNES
HB0RZEEY - AKBEITEFFEZSE
WERER 2 ERERR ENHEZ
EWERR(BRERMMBINAETHEE
BEERAIRAESE -

AEEREKERPEERKEEW
8£281,300,000/ (= T = = F:
284,800,000/ 7T) * It Jh A B A &4 A A
YW A BAERREERMFME - BKE
BB S B (BB mEl A B4
ARIEIRERTBERRESRES - U
BB oK Bt 45 75 FE UK T B 46 A ) E R ) O B
ME-EERA EREREERHIEE
BREBRROANZE  MEERKEEREL
TEETAI 2R E - BREREE AL TE
EEREEARRKE  ABESEA
MENVEEE ©

ELrBE®RIMP BEREER
8£271,500,000% TT(= & = = #:
271,500,000 ) KFEAHE - W HEA
[LHA30R ]+ M H £¢:9,800,000/8 L (=&
— =% :13,300,0008 L) E AR E -

i

Included in current and non-current other receivables were input value- ) FFARE RIETE E b EU R AT
added taxation recoverable of HK$28.3 million (2022: HK$37.2 million) 3 15 18 {5 £728,300,000/8 0 (=& = —4F :
arising from purchase of property, plant and equipment, and dividend 37,200,000/ 7T) * WIREBEE W - # a8
receivables from associates of HK$36.6 million (2022: HK$148.0 million). K&t R FE W & X R AR £.36,600,000
770 (ZF = —4F : 148,000,000/ 7T ) °
The carrying amount of the Group’s prepayments, trade and other (© AEFBEMK  BRERREthEKRZ
receivables is denominated in the following currencies: BREENTIE®E:
2023 2022
—E-=HF —EF=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHIT
Hong Kong dollars I 604 304
Renminbi AR 361,909 499,165
Singapore dollars ¥ ansg o 89 87
362,602 499,556
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying (@) RFEAHEERBRZESEA LMZE

value of each class of receivables mentioned above.

Bank borrowings are secured by certain of the Group’s trade receivables
with carrying values of HK$158.3 million (2022: HK$160.1 million) (Note 23).
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REMBmRMEE

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20 BEeRBEEEEY
2023 2022
—E=-= —E=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT FET
Cash at bank and in hand RITEFBERS 164,290 196,344
Bank deposits with original maturities of REIHHE DR =18 A&
less than three months |ITER - 36,070
164,290 232,414
2023 2022
—E=-= —E=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT FET
Cash and cash equivalents RehBEEEYD
(@) Placed in banks in the PRC: @ TFHRRPEERRT:
- denominated in Renminbi -UARKGTE 104,878 141,880
- denominated in Hong Kong dollars - OB ITRHE 29,454 31,041
- denominated in US dollars - AETFE 30 30
(b) Placed in banks in Hong Kong: ) BFHREBSRIT:
- denominated in Hong Kong dollars - WA TEE 12,518 23,385
— denominated in Renminbi -UARKGTE 235 19,364
- denominated in US dollars - LAETTEE 17,135 16,642
(c) Cash in hand () FHERL 40 72
164,290 232,414
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REMBmRMEE

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)
The effective interest rates at the reporting date were as follows:

20 ReRBELEEYWE)
RBERH Y BERAIEMT

2023 2022
T =S
HK$ RMB usb HK$ RMB usD
BT ARE e BT ARE ETT
Bank deposits with original R Z|#iH
maturities of less than R=EAH N/A N/A

three months RITHER 0.3%-4.3%

TEA  0.5%-4.3%

0.3%-4.3% NER 05%-4.3%

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is
the carrying value of the cash and bank balance stated above.

Significant restrictions

Cash and cash equivalents of HK$134.4 million (2022: HK$173.0
million) are held in the Mainland China and are subject to
local exchange control regulations, under which the balances
could not be exported freely out of the Mainland China. The
repatriation of fund out from the Mainland China is possibly
conducted by way of dividends or other means as complied to
the regulations.

21 SHARE CAPITAL

RBERH RRZEERBRALX
PRt e RIRITHABRZIREE -

B KR
EAEPIﬁBH—#EE’JIE%&iE@% B
#1134,400,000% T(= T = —
173,000,000/ 7T) 7B & 18 & th JNE E %IJ

ME - Bt ZFEH T SERELRT
B -E2A B BREREMEST
HE 77 2 S B R B KR -

21 |RAE

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

BREEIBIZEBER
Number of
shares HK$’000
K EE FER
Issued and fully paid: BETRHRE:
At 1 January 2022, RZEBE-_—_F—H—H -
31 December 2022, - _F+=-A=+—H"
1 January 2023 and —E=F—HA—HBK
31 December 2023 —E-=F+-A=+—H 2,506,157,464 25,062
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REMBmRMEE

22 RESERVES 22 f#1E
Share  Exchange Statutory Retained
premium reserve Reserve earnings Total
IR 17 5 B EXREE EERE REEF gt
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
THER TR TR THER TR
Balance at 1 January 2022 RZTEZZE—-R—Bz&# 925,856 102,208 20,612 976,466 2,025,142
Currency translation differences [ 1 2 & = 5
- subsidiaries - MERA = (75,782) = = (75,782)
- associates - g AR = (74,543) = - (74,543)
Dividend paid ERRE = - - (12,531) (12,531)
Transfer to statutory reserve BRELTRE = = 7,465 (7,465) -
Profit for the year REF A = = = 31,111 31,111
Balance at 31 December 2022 R-ZE-—F+-A=+—Hz# 925,856 (48,117) 28,077 987,581 1,893,397
Balance at 1 January 2023 RZZEZ=F—A—Az#& 925,856 (48,117) 28,077 987,581 1,893,397
Currency translation differences [E ¥ a8 =5
- subsidiaries - BT - (29,225) - - (29,225)
- associates - BE QA - (17,858) - - (17,858)
Dividend paid BERRE - - - (12,531) (12,531)
Transfer to statutory reserve ERELTRE - - 4,002 (4,002) -
Profit for the year AFE 5 A - - - 23,281 23,281
Balance at 31 December 2023 —=F+-A=+—-RZ#&H 925856 (95,200) 32,079 994,329 1,857,064
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REMBmRMEE

23 BANK BORROWINGS 23 RITER
2023 2022
—TEBCZ=F —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FAET
Non-current FEME 244,461 296,257
Current &b 43,339 144,612
287,800 440,869
Notes: Bt it -
(a) The maturity of bank borrowings at the reporting date is as follows: (a) RIEBHRITERZIEHBENT
2023 2022
—E-=F -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F& T
Within one year —FR 43,339 144,613
In the second year EF 42,834 44,612
In the third to fifth year S-EZEAF 100,672 113,179
After the fifth year hF1% 100,955 138,465
287,800 440,869
b) The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the following ) ERZEEER T EEE:
currencies:
2023 2022
—E-=fF T fF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHExT F&T
Hong Kong dollars &I - 100,000
Renminbi AR 287,800 340,869
287,800 440,869

(c) The effective interest rate for variable rate bank borrowings at the
reporting date was 4.45% at 5 years loan prime rate plus 0.25% (2022:
4.93% at 5 years loan prime rate plus 0.25% and HIBOR plus 2.5%). The
effective interest rate for fixed rate bank borrowings at the reporting date
was 6.30% (2022: 6.30%).
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REMBmRMEE

23

24

BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(@) Bank borrowings are secured by certain property, plant and equipment
and trade receivables of the Group (Notes 14 and 19).

(e) The Group had drawn all bank borrowing facility as at 31 December 2023
and 2022.

(f) The carrying amount of the fixed rate bank borrowings as at 31
December 2023 is HK$28.2 million (2022: HK$48.3 million). The carrying
amount of the remaining bank borrowings issued at variable rates of
HK$259.6 million (2022: HK$392.5 million) are approximate to their fair
values.

AMOUNT DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER

The Company entered into a loan facility agreement with Creator
Holdings Limited (a company indirectly wholly-owned by Mr.
OEl Kang, Eric), under which the Company might borrow up
to HK$300.0 million until 31 December 2023. Such loan facility
agreement had been renewed on 1 November 2022 and the
availability period had been extended until 31 July 2025. The
loan was unsecured, interest bearing at 3.5% per annum over
one-month HIBOR on outstanding principal amount and was
repayable on demand. The balance is denominated in Hong
Kong dollars. During the year 2023, the Group repaid the
outstanding loan balance amounting HK$165.0 million. As at 31
December 2023, the Company had no outstanding loan and
interest expense payable (2022: HK$165.0 million and HK$2.9
million respectively).

On 1 August 2022, the Company entered into a loan facility
agreement with Genesis Ventures Limited (@ company indirectly
wholly-owned by Mr. OEl Kang, Eric), under which the Company
might borrow up to HK$300.0 million until 31 July 2025. As at
31 December 2023 and 2022, the loan facility had not been
drawn by the Company.

23

24

|ITERE)

HiaE: ()

(@) BITERIUNAEBRETYE - BBER
18 B JE W AR SRR 4R 98 (BT 714 %19) ©

(e) R =FR T _F+ZA=+—
B ALECRA2PRTERBE -

() RZZEZ=F+=-A=+—A8  BEF=X
SRITHE R 2 BREIE 528,200,000/ 7T (=&
— T4 : 48,300,000/ 7T) © 82T 3% A] & F
R 2% W K 4R 17 18 51259,600,0008 T (=
— =4 : 392,500,000/ JT) Z BREE fH H
AFEHEE -

R —ERRRE
RAREHAEEB AR AR (RAFTHEE
ML ERMBER2ERB) T LERRME D
EoBMN O BE-_ET-_=F+-A=+
—H - N2 F A& A 5 %300,000,000
BIL - ZEFBEBZEN T
F+—F—HBEERRZRYPEBEEZR
TETRELA=+-—H- - WERAE
B A— @A B ERITEEREF
EISSEFHERFE(RAREEARASE
) WAREREE SENET
B -RZE-=FEF AEEEERE
B E 45 £4165,000,00058 7T - R F
=+ A=1+—8 ARQFALEXK
BEERREMHERZ(ZZE=ZF:
2 Bl £165,000,0005% 7T 122,900,000
JL) °

R-E-—FNA—B AAaEEL
BIEREERAR (BRI EEMESLE
BERNRRD R EREE B - Bt
ARRIAIE_E-_RAFt+tA=1+—HFA]
f& A £ %300,000,000/ 7T - R—ZT =
—FRZFZZF+ZA=F+—H &K
DEIHARDERBE -
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REMBmRMEE

25 DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES 25 EEFMEHAR
The movements in deferred income tax liabilities during the year REEAN BEAMSHAE2EFHN
are as follows: ™

Fair value
adjustment arising

from business

combinations Withholding tax Total
REEBE G
ZAFEAE EH® et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THERT THET FTHER
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—#—A—H 320 (37,217) (36,897)
Currency translation differences [& X1 & = 5 (136) 3116 2,980
Credited to the profit or loss ~ HEEHERFA
(Note 11) (BF3E11) 310 1,306 1,616
At 31 December 2022 R-—ZE-—F+-A=+—8 494 (32,795) (32,301)
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-=F—f—H 494 (32,795) (32,301)
Currency translation differences [& X1 & = 5 44 891 935
Credited/(charged) to the profit FEEIREKAA /(X #)
or loss (Note 11) (BT 3E11) 294 (1,597) (1,303)
At 31 December 2023 RZZE-=F+=-A=+—H 832 (33,501) (32,669)

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of
HK$11.2 million (2022: HK$10.8 million) in respect of losses
amounting to HK$45.7 million (2022: HK$40.4 million) that can
be carried forward against future taxable income. These tax
losses have no expiry dates except tax losses of HK$42.9 million
(2022: HK$37.6 million) which will expire at various dates up to
2028 (2022: 2027).

As at 31 December 2023, deferred tax liabilities of HK$5.3
million (2022: HK$6.6 million) have not been recognised for
the withholding tax at a rate of 5% (2022: 5%) that would be
payable on the undistributed retained earnings of subsidiaries
of the Group, as the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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mEMBHRERME
26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26 EfNERRHEMEMNK
2023 2022
—EgE=-= —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Trade payables J& - BR K 506 463
Payables for acquisition and construction of EHBE R ERWE -
property, plant and equipment 188 N SR 2 BT R 46,733 52,940
Other payables and accruals EMEMNR R ESTE S 7,806 8,104
55,045 61,507

The ageing analysis of trade payables by invoice date at year

RER - HEZAHEI D2 BHERRE

end was as follows: ROMTT :

2023 2022
—E=-= —F- -

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Less than 12 months LR121E A 493 450
12 months and more 1218 A R £ 13 13
506 463

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other payables
are denominated in the following currencies:

AEEZ EMARREEAMENR 2R

EERATESSIE:

2023 2022

—E-=F —=EF=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAET
Hong Kong dollars BT 2,143 2,113
Renminbi AR 52,856 59,345
Singapore dollars g oo 46 49
55,045 61,507
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REMBmRMEE

27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Group entered into transactions with the following related
parties for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
in addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements.

(@

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
entered into an office sharing agreement with HKC, under
which HKC agreed to lease out certain area of the office
space during the period from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2023 in consideration of HK$1.4 million (2022:
HK$1.4 million). The fee was charged based on the terms
mutually agreed. Besides, rooftop rental of HK$0.4 million
(2022: HK$0.2 million) was paid to the Huzhou Nanxun
International Building Market Center Company Limited,
which is a subsidiary under HKC. The fee was charged
based on the terms mutually agreed.

Administrative services fee, which includes the office
overhead, and reimbursement of cost of internal audit,
legal, human resources, administrative and information
technology department of HK$2.5 million (2022: HK$3.0
million) was paid to HKC. The fee was charged based on
the terms mutually agreed.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, interest
expenses on amount due to a shareholder amounted to
HK$8.0 million (2022: HK$8.0 million).

The above related party transactions are continuing connected

transactions exempt from the
announcement and

review,
approval

reporting, annual
independent shareholders’

requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.33 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock
Exchange.

166 china Renewable Energy Investment Limited | Annual Report 2023

27

B AR5
HEZS-_-FR-F--_F+-A=
+T—ALFE BREAUBHRREMKH
FEATEEN  ANEEYET @ ST
JWTRSG °

@ #H=E—ZE-_=F+-A=+—HL
FE ARRHEBERL—
DWAEEZRE B &5
EXREEEETHAEEHEE
o BRBA-ZE-_=F—A—H%
—E-=F+-A=+—HIit' R
/451,400,000 0 (=& ==
1,400,000 L) - £ & A 2R &
& H[E T AR FK M UCER - 1t
AN - RS R E T B AR
MESEBEEMBER AR N
EJEHE ©£400,0008 L (ZE ==
F:200,0008 L) EBERHZR
B R T 2 R TR .

b) REBRLINTEHREER -
BEBAEEERY  UWREN
NHEFT - EZB-ANEBER - 17
B & B F LR EBPI AKX 252,500,000
T (Z & = — 4 : 3,000,000
) HEARBREBEE A ERZET
6 ST W ER o

 #HzEz-—E-—_=F+=-HA=+—8
IEFE pEM—ZREREZ
A B 59 5% A8,000,000/8 T (— =
— — 4 :8,000,000/ 7T) °

PR AR IBREBRIMES LT
B[ LR B ]) 5514A.33 15 & 7] & #4
RBTHEBRRR  FEEZ - 2HRE
TREMERTEZIFEBERS o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRERME
27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 27 BEERZ(E)
(d) Key management compensation d FEEEABZHRMH
Key management solely represents directors of the EERBABEERARAIES -
Company. The compensation paid or payable to key ENSENEEEREAB 2R
management is shown as below: HINWT
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Directors’ fees EEME 831 840
Salaries and other benefits FeRkEAMETR 7,349 6,232
Pension cost — defined contribution — 3R{R & AR — F 58 M
scheme £ 72 72
8,252 7144
(e) As at 31 December 2023, the Group provided guarantee e) HR=ZE—_=F+-A=+—H 'K
in respect of a bank borrowing to an associate with an SE—FHEEQRER ZRT
outstanding amount of HK$13.2 million (2022: HK$27.1 BRIEHEER  HBAREESSE
million). 7$13,200,000& T (ZE = =
27,100,0007% 7T) °
The above transactions did not constitute connected P ZGUTERB I EmRAE
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on YAEFMMAEZHBERS °

the Stock Exchange.
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mEMBHRERME
28 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 28 HmEBRERERMT
CASH FLOWS
(@) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to (@ FIBHAIGRANEKLEMSESR
cash generated from operations &2 H R
2023 2022
—E-=F —F-=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHT FE T
Profit before income tax FfT 15 15 B & A 23,067 37,142
Finance costs A& KA 28,081 36,173
Finance income B 7 A (3,916) (1,791)
Depreciation and amortisation Ir & & 5 103,257 106,431
Impairment loss of property, plant  #1 3% « #22 & R R EE 18
and equipment 19,793 -
Impairment loss of right-of-use FREEEREBEHBE
assets 519 -
Impairment loss of intangible assets % 2 & & & B & 18 255 -
Impairment loss of interest in an  REF&E QR 2R 2 RER
associate B 10,053 -
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HE&E¥%¥ 2N REZE
plant and equipment, net B () FE 59 (103)
Share of results of associates EIEEE & RRIEE (57,100) (54,497)
Operating profit before working EEESEBHRICEE RN
capital changes 124,068 123,355
Increase in inventories FEEm (1,480) (465)
Decrease in trade and other JE LT BR SR R E R R RORL A
receivables 14,015 32,288
Increase in trade and other payables [& 15 BR 7 & E 4t J& < 338 A0 1,420 7,763
Cash generated from operations BREMBRSE 138,023 162,941
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FREMBEBMERME
28 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 28 MEREREBRMEH)
CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing b) REITBDELENEEYHKR
activities
Liabilities from financing activities
METBREERE
Interest
payable
(included Amount
Bank in other due to a
borrowings  payables) shareholder Total
AR
(FFAHfE ENH-—%F
BITER EA%) RRRE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
THERT TERL THET THERT
At 1 January 2023 W-Z-=%#-A-H (440,869) (420)  (167,931)  (609,220)
Cash outflows - principal, net Bemd - 4A% 58 145,096 - 165,000 310,096
Cash outflows - interest payment Bemd - MERR - 19,877 10,834 30,711
Capitalisation and amortisation of upfront fee $%77 {5 & % F 3l 3% & /) & AL Al
for bank facility fee, net B 58 (2,117) - - (2,117)
Foreign exchange adjustments SNERE 10,090 509 - 10,599
Accrued interest expenses FB X HEHR - (20,022) (7,903) (27,925)
At 31 December 2023 W-Z-=#+-A=+-AH (287,800) (56) - (287,856)
At 1 January 2022 W-B--%—-A—-R (587,980) @71)  (166,496)  (754,747)
Cash outflows - principal, net BeRmit - K% FE 117,651 = = 117,651
Cash outflows - interest payment BeRh - FIENK - 28,170 6,544 34,714
Capitalisation and amortisation of upfront fee $£77 12 ﬁ}ﬁﬂﬁﬁjﬁmﬁgmﬁ$ﬂiﬂ
for bank facility fee, net B 5 2,179) = - 2,179)
Foreign exchange adjustments SMNEFE 31,639 (125) = 31,514
Accrued interest expenses FBRZ R - (28,194) (7,979) (36,173)
At 31 December 2022 R-B--—#+-B=+-A (440,869) (420)  (167.931)  (609,220)
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REMBmRMEE

29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 29 REHESszEe@MIT A

Financial assets
at amortised cost

REBHERATTE
ZEMEE
HK$°000
FTERT
Assets as per consolidated statement of RGEWBERRRIAITEE
financial position
31 December 2022 —E-_F#+=-H=+—H
Trade and other receivables JE L BR SR R E A B U R 493,488
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) Be kBE2EEY (M :20) 232,414
Total At 725,902
31 December 2023 T =f+=ZRA=+—H
Trade and other receivables JE U BR 3R Ko E th 8 IR 357,506
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) Re RRSEEYFFE20) 164,290
Total HBEt 521,796
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
REBERATTE
ZeBmEE
HK$°000
FHET
Liabilities as per consolidated statement of G ABEMRREFREE
financial position
31 December 2022 —E=-——#+—-A=+—H
Bank borrowings (Note 23) $R 17 {8 2k (W 3£23) 440,869
Trade and other payables (Note 26) & 1<% BR K B L Ath & A<F 5K (B 5 26) 61,507
Amount due to a shareholder (Note 24) FE < — 42 B& 3R 3k 18 (Fff 5324) 167,931
Total st 670,307
31 December 2023 —E-=F+—-AF=+—H
Bank borrowings (Note 23) R 17 18 5K (P 5£23) 287,800
Trade and other payables (Note 26) J& 1<% B K B L Ath & A<t 5K (B 51 26) 55,046
Total mEt 342,846
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REMBmRMEE

30 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 30 AASHERIEBEERS
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company NN ) O
2023 2022
—_=E-= —=E=- =
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5T FET FAETT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RHB AR Z R e 449090909
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H th JiE U 3R 147 182
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U BT BB A B 3R B 1,057,686 1,438,722
Cash and cash equivalents BERBEEEYD 28,823 39,286
Total current assets nBEE®R®E 0 1,086,656 1,478,190
Total assets EEHAR 1,086,656 1,478,190
EQUITY X
Capital and reserves attributable ZAAFEFEZFEA
to equity holders of the Company FE{LHE AR
Share capital & 2 25,062 25,062
Reserves = a 799,277 919,628
Total equity DA 824,339 944,690
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEN B AR B 261,247 264,523
Amount due to a shareholder N — R R R FIE - 167,931
Other payables E A FE A 3R 1,070 1,046
Current portion of bank borrowings 8 17 f& 7k BN HA &8 - 100,000
Total current liabilities nEBeEEE 262,317 533,500
Total liabilities BEME 262,317 533,500
Total equity and liabilities EERkREEHEE 1,086,656 1,478,190

OEIl Kang, Eric
= [
Director

EF

WONG Jake Leong, Sammy

BEER

Director

EF
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MEMBRRME
30 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 30 ARAUMBMRARRFERES D
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (&)
(Continued)
Note (a) Reserves movement of the Company MeF@AQaFESS
Other
Share Exchange reserve  Accumulated
premium reserve (Note) loss Total
Hitfi e
B3 E BN (H) 2itER gt
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TERT TET TERT TERT
Balance at 1 January 2022 RZZZZF-A-Bz&# 925,856 58,087 98,709 (77,616) 1,004,986
Currency translation differences ERAEES = (80,566) = - (80,566)
Dividend paid ERRE - - - (12531) (12,531)
Profit for the year REERF = = = 7739 7739
Balance at 31 December 2022 R-B--E+-A=+-BA2&H% 925,856 (22,529) 98,709 (82408) 919,628
Balance at 1 January 2023 R-B-=%-f-H &4 925,856 (22,529) 98,709 (82,408) 919,628
Currency translation differences ERAEES - (27,187) - - (27,187)
Dividend paid ERRE - - - (12,531) (12,531)
Loss for the year rEEER - - - (80,633) (80,633)
Balance at 31 December 2023 RZZE-_=F+-_RA=+—-Hz&# 925,856 (49,716) 98,709 (175,572) 799,277
Note: The other reserve of the Company related to an acquisition prior to 1 Wit AARZEMEHERE_TT—F—[—H
January 2001 and continues to be held in reserves. Alz—IEKRBEEEEM  WEBEBRER

e -
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REMBmRMEE

31

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND 31
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive
officer is set out below:

EERTHRARCENRER

EESRITHARNFHOT

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BHE-ZT-_=F+=-A=+—HLEFE

Employer’s

contribution to

Discretionary a retirement
Fees Salaries* bonuses* benefit scheme? Total

BhestdElz
Name of Director EEHE wne e B ETEAL & =4t e
HK$’00 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FExT FExT FET FET
OEl Kang, Eric* =l 75 2,368 198 18 2,659
LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel® 2% 7Re 66 1,090 104 16 1,276
WONG Jake Leong, Sammy HEiER 75 1,371 114 18 1,578
Lee Shiu Yee, Daniel =2 75 1,371 114 18 1,578
Cheng Yuk WoA B &GhAn" 180 - - - 180
TIAN Yuchuan HE Il 180 - - - 180
ZHANG Songyi R ER 180 - - - 180
831 6,200 530 70 7,631

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BEZE-_—_F+-_A=1+—HILEFE

Employer’s

contribution to

Discretionary a retirement
Fees Salaries* bonuses* benefit scheme* Total

RIKSEE 2
Name of Director EEHE e et BB IEAL e T BEt
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FAT FETT FETT FHET FHET
OEl Kang, Eric* = Wl 75 2,322 194 18 2,609
LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel R %% 75 1,222 102 18 1,417
WONG Jake Leong, Sammy =IER 75 1,344 112 18 1,549
Lee Shiu Yee, Daniel FER 75 1,344 112 18 1,549
Cheng Yuk WoA 0 & £ 180 = = = 180
TIAN Yuchuan HE)I 180 — - — 180
ZHANG Songyi ok ME & 180 - - - 180
840 6,232 520 72 7,664

Mr. OEIl Kang, Eric is the chief executive officer of the Group

" Mr. Yu Hon To, David has resigned as independent non-executive director
of the Group on 1 January 2022. Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo has been appointed
as independent non-executive director of the Group on 1 January 2022.

@ Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel has resigned as executive director in
15 November 2023 and kept chief financial officer position until 31
December 2023.

# The amounts represented emoluments in respect of services provided
in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or its

subsidiaries undertaking.

HEMEERRNEBZ2ITHRMAE -

AEEAEER=-T=__F—A—HET
REEBUIHTES - BHEMEEER
T A BEZTAAEEBN
EHITES -

RYBREENR_TE_=F+—A+HAH
ERTESVEBEETERVBERLE
—E-=F+=ZRA=+—H-

HEBERAREEREEARAKENRBEAT
MEBEREBRTIRUREOFEH
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REMBmRMEE

31
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BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (Continued)

During the year, no housing allowance, other benefits and
remunerations in respect of accepting office as director were
paid to or receivable by the directors in respect of their services
as directors (2022: same). During the year, no emoluments were
paid to or receivable by the directors in respect of director’s
other services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking (2022: same).

(A) Directors’ retirement benefits
During the year, no retirement benefits were paid to or
receivable by the directors in respect of their services as
directors of the Company and its subsidiaries or other
services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking (2022:
same).

(B) Directors’ termination benefits
During the year, no payments or benefits in respect of
termination of directors’ services were paid or made,
directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor are any payable
(2022: Nil).

(C) Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services
During the year, no consideration was provided to or
receivable by third parties for making available directors’
services (2022: Nil).

(D) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors
During the year, there are no loans, quasi-loans or other
dealings in favour of the directors, their controlled bodies
corporate and connected entities (2022: Nil).

31
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REMBmRMEE

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (Continued)

(E) Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts
Save as disclosed in Note 27 “Related party transactions”
to the consolidated financial statements, the transactions
with HKC and its subsidiaries and in which Mr. OEIl
Kang, Eric was interested, no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company was a party and in which
a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.

32 DISPUTE WITH A CONSTRUCTOR

On 26 July 2021, the Group received a notice from China
International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission
(“CIETAC”) in respect of a dispute over the final construction
payments made in 2019 with a constructor of Songxian wind
farm (the “Constructor”). The Constructor is claiming the
Group for RMB27.9 million (equivalent to HK$34.1 million)
final construction payments, while the Group is claiming the
Constructor for RMB48.2 million (equivalent to HK$59.0 million)
additional costs incurred for the completion of the remaining
construction works and the losses resulted from delay in
commercial operation.

On 10 June 2023, the Group received the final results from
CIETAC for the above case. The Group has settled amounting
RMB12.9 million (equivalent to HK$14.6 million) for the final
construction payments. The Group also paid the arbitration
fee amounting RMB719,000 (equivalent to HK$814,000) and
legal fee amounting RMB200,000 (equivalent to HK$227,000).
The final construction payments was considered as addition
to the property, plant and equipment during the year ended
31 December 2023. Based on legal advice, the management
considered this dispute is final and conclusive; and no further
losses or claims will be incurred further. Accordingly, no further
provision has been made.

31

32

EERTHRARCENRER

(%)

(E) EEBERXS  REHEHNFZ
EXER
Biara MR E27 By
RPIMPEEIN  BEERR
HEB AR R E@EEREF
BERRZRXHIN  AATLE
AARBEBITLARBESRN
HAEZRSMEHREENER
MRAFEEREIRNAFER
THREFENERARS  ZH
R&EH -

H-—FREBZER
NZTB-_—F+A-+8 NEBEE
EHrEBEBREEZESHREZE S (H
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A(EEEDINTREIRRZFE
EFERRBRBEIERAAEBRE A
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REMBmRMEE

33

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

Listed below are the subsidiaries and associates which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affect the result and/or net

assets of the Group.

Place of incorporation/

33

Issued share

FTEMBLAARBERT
TRENEZRREAEEXER
SEEFEBRIZERE

KB & QT e

Z W B E

Percentage of equity/

operation and kind of capital/Paid up Paid up registered
Name legal entity Principal activities registered capital capital held
AL/ EEHH BRATRE/ iE-2: 3-8

8 kieERER TEEH BAEMEX EQEmELEI L

2023 2022
—E-= —Z=-z

Subsidiaries

b 1 2 &)

China Renewable Energy (Nanxun) Limited+ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%

FEBERR(FERBERAA EE/HE REER 1B

China Renewable Energy (Services) Limited Hong Kong Human resources HK$1 100% 100%

management

TEEERERER)BRAR EE ANERER 1B

China Renewable Energy (Songxian) Limited+ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%

TEBERRER)ERAA+ R/ HE REER 1B

HKE (Da He) Holdings Limited+ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%

BEFERON)ERERAE+ BB/ A REZR 1B

HKE (Danjinghe) Wind Power Limited+ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HKS$4 100% 100%

BEEHER(ERNREFERAF+ BB/ HE REER 4B

HKE (Gansu) Wind Power Limited+ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%

EEMERHEBREERAA+ EE/HE REER 18T

Hong Kong New Energy (Si Zi Wang Qi) Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$2 100% 100%

Wind Power Limited+
AR (NFIHE) BEFRDA BE/HE REZK 2%
Hong Kong New Energy (Si Zi Wang Qi Il) Wind ~ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1,000 100% 100%
Power Limited+

EENERMEFEIE_BREERLA+ &%/ HE REER 1,000/ 7T

Sinoriver International (Wind Power) Limited+ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$20 100% 100%

PIIEER (RE)ERAF+ &%/ HE REZK 207 7T

HKE (BVI) Limited+ British Virgin Islands Investment holding US$1 100% 100%

BERMERBV)ERAF+ EERA#HE REER 1ETT
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REMBmRMEE

33

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES 33

TENBLAARBE QT (#)

(Continued)
Place of incorporation/ Issued share Percentage of equity/
operation and kind of capital/Paid up Paid up registered
Name legal entity Principal activities registered capital capital held
HMRYL e BRITRE/ ¥ 94
% hrGaEBER TEXH BAEMES BEAEMELEI
2023 2022
—EZ=F —F-Z
Subsidiaries (Continued)
K 1 2 A (&)
HKE (Wind Power) Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding US$1 100% 100%
FENEREE)ERERAR EBRAES REER e
HKE Danjinghe (BVI) Wind Power Limited+ British Virgin Islands Investment holding US$1,000 100% 100%
BEMERERTBV)REERAA+ EBRAEE REER 1,000% 7T
Sinoriver International Limited+ British Virgin Islands/ Investment holding US$1 100% 100%
PRC
FINEBRER R+ RERLHE /HE REER 1ETT
APC Wind Power Pte Limited+ Singapore Investment holding SGD10 100% 100%
03 REER 10%7 M3 7T
Asia Wind Power (Mudanjiang) Company Ltd.+ PRC/Sino-foreign equity ~ Wind power project in HK$100,000,000 86% 86%
joint venture Heilongjiang, the PRC
SNENBEEHAT)ERAF+ HE/RINEELE RABRBEIZEANE 100,000,000/ 7T
BIHE
Hong Kong Wind Power (Muling) Co. Ltd.+ PRC/Sino-foreign equity ~ Wind power project in HK$150,100,000 86.68% 86.68%
joint venture Heilongjiang, the PRC
EERNEE(BR)ERAA+ mE/RNAERE REBEEETZENE 150,100,000 7T
BIHE
BEFERNTIEREGRAA+ PRC wholly foreign- Wind power project in RMB166,480,000 100% 100%
owned enterprise Siziwang Qi, Inner
Mongolia, the PRC
RENEBE REBEREENFEE  AK¥166,480,0007T
ZEANEEIER
BREAARTN FEERAEARAR+ PRC wholly foreign- Wind power project in RMB172,526,500 100% 100%
owned enterprise Siziwang Qi, Inner
Mongolia, the PRC
RENEBE R FE REBEREANFER  AR¥72526,5007T
ZENEEER
Songxian HKE Wind Power Limited+ PRC wholly foreign- Wind power project in RMB210,000,000 100% 100%
owned enterprise Songxian, Henan, the
PRC
BEBRREARAF+ RESNEBE X ReEAEEE RSN ARK210,000,0007T
BEIHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMEE

33

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES 33

TENBLAARBE QT (#)

(Continued)
Place of incorporation/ Issued share Percentage of equity/
operation and kind of capital/Paid up Paid up registered
Name legal entity Principal activities registered capital capital held
MR BRITRE/ sy £
8 RERERER TEEH BEREMER EREMELRS
2023 2022
—EBC-=HE —E-F
Subsidiaries (Continued)
b 1 2 A ()
Huzhou HKE Energy Limited+ PRC wholly foreign- Distributed solar project RMB15,000,000 100% 100%
owned enterprise in Nanxun, Zhejiang,
the PRC
MNBREHEERER DA+ FREIEBE X RAEMNIREZ D% A R #15,000,0007C
AKGHEIAR
Associates
BERT
CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind Power Company PRC/Sino-foreign equity ~ Wind power project in RMB589,620,000 40% 40%
Limited+# joint venture Changma, Gansu, the
PRC
FEEEE(HBBANEEERAA HE RN EE R E RABEHBESZAN  AR589,620,0007T
HEIHE
CECIC HKC Wind Power Company Limited+# PRC/Sino-foreign equity ~ Wind power project in RMB545,640,000 40% 40%
joint venture Danjinghe, Hebei, the
PRC
FERERRNEE(RIE)ERAA+ RERNAERE RAETIER T E  AR545,640,0007T
HhEEHEE
CECIC HKE Wind Power Company Limited+# PRC/Sino-foreign equity ~ Wind power project in RMB323,260,000 30% 30%
joint venture Lunaobao, Hebei, the
PRC
FER B RRNEE(RIL)BERAA+ RE/RINEERE R B b 4 B B 2 & A R #323,260,0007T
HEEER
Remarks: e
B Interest held by subsidiaries + EanHMEARFA
# Unofficial English transliterations or translations for identification purpose # FEAREXFRABE  EHHET
only
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Five-year Financial Summary

FFEMBHRE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E=-= —E-— —ET-—F —T-FTFE —T-HEF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAER FAERT FAET FAT FHET
Consolidated statement of H&Z2ZHEW AR
comprehensive income
Revenue Wz 181,337 197,184 250,255 206,122 181,223
Profit before income tax F 15 %t Al 4 A 23,067 37,142 125,624 96,327 65,994
Income tax expense FT{3 B H (4,277) (7,323) (13,823) (10,261) (8,145)
Profit for the year REZHEF 18,790 29,819 111,801 86,066 57,849
Profit/(loss) attributable to: /G & F /(KB 1#EB) :
Equity holders of the CompanyZR A Bl 15 H A 23,281 31,111 113,354 86,152 57,376
Non-controlling interests FE1E P = (4,491) (1,292) (1,553) (86) 473
18,790 29,819 111,801 86,066 57,849
Consolidated statement of &M BRI K
financial position
Net current assets TmBEESFE 421,071 340,638 305,883 234,665 119,489
Non-current assets FERBEE 1,730,040 1,902,662 2,198,350 2,265,559 2,162,796
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (277,130) (328,558) (456,504) (586,825) (552,723)
Net assets including non- BEEFE
controlling interests (PR IEIE R R) 1,873,981 1,914,742 2,047,729 1,913,399 1,729,562

hEBEEEREAERAT | - =aa5 179



Five-year Financial Summary

TFHBEHME
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E=-= —E-— —ET-—F —T-FTFE —T-HEF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAER FAET FAET FAT FET
Share capital % 25,062 25,062 25,062 25,062 25,062
Reserves it 1,857,064 1,893,397 2,025,142 1,889,257 1,705,305
Non-controlling interests FE1E R o (8,145) (3,717) (2,475) (920) (805)
Total equity EmER 1,873,981 1,914,742 2,047,729 1,913,399 1,729,562
Earnings per share BRER
- basic (HK cents) - EARCEW) 0.93 1.24 452 3.44 2.29
Dividend per share BhixE
- attributable to the year - RNEFEAE B
(HK cents) 0.5 0.5 1.0 0.8 0.8
Return on total equity (Note) #E z 42 %8 [0 R = (Hf %) 1.00% 1.56% 5.46% 4.50% 3.34%
Note: B 5E -

BELNRERAAFE RN FEEHAEFEZF
the closing total equity for the year concerned. KEZBEZADL -

Return on total equity represents profit/loss for the year expressed as a percentage of &=
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China Renewable Energy Investment Limited
HEBLRRREGRAR

9/F., Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong

BB NERDERE M IET55R R F /0171942

www.cre987.com
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@ This annual report is printed on environmentally friendly paper
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